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PART I

Forward-Looking Statements
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference into it contain certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor

provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "Reform Act"). Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,”
“estimates,” “may,” “will,” “continue,” “project,” “forecast,” and similar expressions, as well as statements in the future tense, identify forward-looking statements. Statements
addressing events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future, including statements relating to our future operating performance, any of our businesses’
future financial and operational growth or technical and product expansions, the result and timing of the strategic review process for our businesses, the potential acquisition of
the 40% minority interest in Arcadia Products, LLC ("Arcadia Products"), expected benefits from enhancements to our systems and applications, our backlog and anticipated
future sales and market share, as well as statements expressing optimism or pessimism about future operating results, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Reform Act.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of our future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include those relating to:

• Changes in global economic conditions;

• The ability to obtain new contracts at attractive prices;

• The size and timing of customer orders and shipments;

• Product pricing and margins;

• Our ability to realize sales from our backlog and our ability to adjust our manufacturing and supply chain;

• Fluctuations in customer demand;

• Our ability to manage periods of growth and contraction effectively;

• General economic conditions, both domestic and foreign, impacting our business and the business of the end-market users we serve;

• Competitive factors;

• The timely completion of contracts;

• The timing and size of expenditures;

• The timely receipt of government approvals and permits;

• The price and availability of metal and other raw materials;

• The adequacy of local labor supplies at our facilities;

• Current or future limits on manufacturing capacity at our various operations;

• The impact of catastrophic weather events on our business and that of our customers;

• Our ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses;

• The ability to complete a sale, a merger or other business combination of a portion of DMC’s business-unit assets, and/or a strategic investment;

• The ability to remain an innovative leader in our fields of business;

• The costs and impacts of pending or future litigation or regulatory matters;

• Changes to legislation, regulation or public sentiment related to our business and the industries in which our customers operate;
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• The impacts of trade and economic sanctions or other restrictions imposed by the European Union, the United States or other countries;

• Costs and risks associated with compliance with laws and regulations, including the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and similar
legislation;

• The availability and cost of funds; and

• Fluctuations in foreign currencies.

The effects of these factors are difficult to predict. New factors emerge from time to time, and we cannot assess the potential impact of any such factor on our business or
the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. All forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this annual report, and we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances
after the date of such statement or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. In addition, readers of this Annual Report on Form 10-K should refer to Part I, Item 1A —
Risk Factors for a discussion of these and other factors that could materially affect our results of operations and financial condition.

ITEM 1.                                                 Business
 

References made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “we”, “our”, “us”, “DMC”, "DMC Global" and the “Company” refer to DMC Global Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. Unless stated otherwise, all dollar figures in this report are presented in thousands (000s).

Overview
 

DMC Global Inc. (“DMC”, "we", "us", "our", or the "Company") owns and operates Arcadia Products, DynaEnergetics and NobelClad, three innovative, asset-light
manufacturing businesses that provide differentiated products and engineered solutions to segments of the construction, energy, industrial processing and transportation
markets. Arcadia Products supplies architectural building products, including exterior and interior framing systems, windows, curtain walls, storefronts, doors, and interior
partitions to the commercial construction market; it also supplies customized windows and doors to the ultra-high-end residential construction market. DynaEnergetics designs,
manufactures and sells highly engineered products utilized by the global oil and gas industry principally for the perforation of oil and gas wells. NobelClad is a leader in the
production of explosion-welded clad metal plates for use in the construction of corrosion resistant industrial processing equipment, as well as specialized transition joints for use
in construction of commuter rail cars, ships, and liquified natural gas (LNG) processing equipment.

Arcadia Products uses a network of service centers and distributors throughout the United States to sell its products, while DynaEnergetics and NobelClad operate
globally through an international network of manufacturing, distribution and sales facilities. Refer to Note 10 within Part II, Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data for net sales, operating income, and total assets for each of our segments.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to maximize the value of our company by capitalizing on the unique strengths of each of our three businesses. Arcadia Products, which has established a
differentiated business model within the commercial and residential building products industry, serves a large addressable market and is seeking to grow its position in its
targeted U.S. markets. DynaEnergetics and NobelClad each have established leadership positions in their segments of the energy and industrial equipment industries, and both
have opportunities for additional growth while maintaining high rates of cash flow conversion.

In January 2023, we announced management changes resulting in the appointment of Michael Kuta and David Aldous as interim co-President and Chief Executive
Officers. On August 4, 2023, our board of directors (the "Board") appointed Michael Kuta as President and Chief Executive Officer and a director. David Aldous remains a
member of the Board and was re-appointed as Chairman effective August 4, 2023. Eric Walter was appointed as our new Chief Financial Officer in February 2023, and Arcadia
Products named James Chilcoff as its new President in January 2023. We also appointed two new independent directors to the Board in 2023, with Ouma Sananikone appointed
in August and James O'Leary appointed in November.
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Near-term priorities for the new leadership team include positioning Arcadia for growth, strengthening the profitability of DynaEnergetics, achieving commercial success
with new products introduced by NobelClad, and improving our overall cash flow through more effective working capital management and targeted cost reductions. We expect
Arcadia Products to be the primary driver of DMC’s future financial and operational growth, reflecting its large addressable market and differentiated business model. Arcadia
Products is investing in new digital technologies and manufacturing capacity to facilitate its expansion. Additional aluminum painting capacity was added in the second half of
2023, and the business expects further expansions in painting and anodizing capacity in 2024. We recently amended our credit facility, which increases our borrowing capacity
and is intended to provide the financial flexibility to purchase the remaining 40% of Arcadia.

On January 29, 2024, we announced that the Board of Directors initiated a review of strategic alternatives for our DynaEnergetics and NobelClad businesses to
maximize value for shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board is overseeing the assessment process, including options for a sale, a merger or other business combination
involving one or both businesses. The Board has not set a timetable to complete the strategic review process, and there can be no assurance that the review process will result in
any transactions. The process of exploring strategic alternatives will involve the dedication of significant resources and the incurrence of significant costs and expenses.

Business Segments

Arcadia Products

Arcadia Products provides architectural building products to the U.S. construction industry through three divisions: Arcadia, which serves the commercial exteriors
market; Wilson Partitions, which serves the commercial interiors market; and Arcadia Custom, which serves the high-end residential market.

Arcadia

Arcadia designs, engineers, fabricates and finishes aluminum framing systems, windows, curtain walls, storefronts and entrance systems for the commercial exteriors
market. It operates an integrated “hub and satellite” model in which light manufacturing, anodizing and painting of aluminum components are performed in Vernon, California,
and the resulting products are shipped to a network of service centers located in growing markets throughout the western and southwestern United States. Products are designed
to address regional needs and preferences, and each satellite seeks to offer superior product availability, short lead times, product customization, and design and engineering
support. Arcadia serves a loyal customer base consisting primarily of local and regional glazing contractors, subcontractors, commercial architects and designers. In 2023,
Arcadia accounted for approximately 69% of the net sales of Arcadia Products.

Wilson Partitions

Wilson Partitions serves the commercial interior framing and partitions markets across the U.S., providing framing systems, aluminum doors, sliding systems and
glazing systems. Wilson Partitions is supported by centralized manufacturing facilities in California, as well as support facilities in Connecticut and Texas. Its products address
both new construction and repairs and remodels; and product capabilities include noise control, fire rating, built-to-order custom finishes, and other functional and aesthetic
features. In 2023, Wilson Partitions accounted for approximately 10% of the net sales of Arcadia Products.

Arcadia Custom

Arcadia Custom serves the ultra-high-end residential real estate market throughout the United States, and is supported by manufacturing facilities in California, Arizona
and Connecticut. It provides a broad offering of custom, fully fabricated aluminum, steel and wood windows and doors to luxury homes and mixed-use markets. Arcadia
Custom works closely with architects, owners, contractors and installers to provide support throughout the planning, design and installation phases of a residential construction
process. In 2023, Arcadia Custom accounted for approximately 21% of the net sales of Arcadia Products.

Environmental Sustainability

Arcadia Products’ operations have an ongoing focus on environmental sustainability, including hazardous waste recycling and initiatives aimed at reducing waste. All of
Arcadia’s commercial building products and many of our residential product offerings are made from aluminum, including recycled aluminum content. A significant portion of
Arcadia Custom’s
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residential projects use stainless steel (the most recycled building material in the world), and most of its steel products are recyclable.

Many of our architectural products help architects, developers, and building owners achieve their energy-efficiency and sustainability goals by improving energy
performance, thereby reducing greenhouse gas emissions, providing daylight and natural ventilation, and increasing comfort and safety for occupants. Arcadia Products offers
high-performance products that comply with the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) Green Building Rating System. In addition, we offer renovation
solutions to help modernize aging buildings, providing significantly improved energy performance. Arcadia Products is committed to continuing to improve the energy
efficiency of products for our customers.

Operations

Arcadia Products is headquartered in Vernon, California, and operates four manufacturing facilities and 11 fabrication and distribution facilities. Anodized and painted
aluminum components for all Arcadia Products divisions are manufactured in Vernon, with additional painting and manufacturing capacity in its Tucson, Arizona, and
Connecticut facilities. 
    

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Arcadia Products represented approximately 42% and 46% of our consolidated net sales, respectively.

Products

The Arcadia division manufactures, assembles and sells aluminum window and door systems, as well as architectural components. These include architectural framing
systems, windows, curtain walls, entrance systems and sun control products. Our product offerings allow architects to create distinctive looks for buildings such as office towers,
airports, hotels, education and athletic facilities, health care locations, government buildings, retail centers, mixed use and multi-family residential buildings, while also meeting
functional requirements such as energy efficiency, hurricane, blast and other impact resistance and/or sound control.

Wilson Partitions manufactures and sells door framing systems, aluminum doors, sliding systems and glazing systems.

Arcadia Custom designs and manufactures thermally broken steel and aluminum windows and doors and custom wood doors and windows.

We offer product warranties that we believe are competitive for the markets in which our products are sold. The nature and extent of these warranties depend upon the
product, the market and, in some cases, the customer being served.

Suppliers and Raw Materials

Materials used in Arcadia and Wilson Partition's commercial products include aluminum extrusions, both finished and unfinished, paint and hardware. Materials used in
Arcadia Custom's residential products include aluminum, steel, wood, paint, fabricated glass and hardware. The availability, quality, and costs of many of these commodities
have fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate, over time and are primarily sourced in North America. Generally, we have been able to address raw material price increases in
our product pricing to customers. The results of our operations can be impacted by a delay between the time of a raw material cost increase and our price capture.

Aluminum is our most important raw material, and we currently have the ability to source from several major suppliers. Our other raw materials are readily available
from a variety of domestic sources. We generally have good relationships with our suppliers and strive to proactively manage raw material availability and pricing.

Competition

Arcadia and Wilson Partitions

The North American exterior and interior commercial construction markets are highly fragmented. Competitive factors include price, product quality, product attributes
and performance, reliable service, regional satellites, local availability, lead-time, on-time delivery, project management, technical engineering and design services. To protect
and enhance our competitive position, we maintain strong relationships with our customers and strive to provide value to all persons in the value chain. There is a great deal of
competition in the North American commercial window, storefront and partition manufacturing industry, and
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the Arcadia and Wilson Partition divisions compete against several national, regional and local manufacturers, as well as regional paint and anodizing finishing companies.

We believe Arcadia’s and Wilson Partitions’ low-cost manufacturing platform, supply chain management, broad product offering, product quality and availability, short
lead times and highly diversified and long-tenured customer base, create significant competitive advantages relative to many other exterior and interior building products
manufacturers.

Arcadia Custom

Arcadia Custom faces competition nationally from several large, well-known competitors and from many smaller, regional competitors. Competitive factors include
product quality and design, aesthetics, dealer relationships and relationships with architects and luxury home builders.

Marketing, Sales, Distribution

The Arcadia division relies on a reputation for strong customer service, quality products and competitive lead times to maintain and attract customers. It has strong
relationships with local glaziers, installers and subcontractors.

Wilson Partitions sells through a national in-house sales force and external sales representatives.

Arcadia Custom’s sales strategy focuses on direct selling through a national internal sales team and select dealer network that market our products to architects and
luxury home builders. The sales network focuses on attracting and retaining dealers by striving to consistently provide exceptional customer service, leading product designs and
quality, technical expertise and competitive pricing.

Ownership and Management

Following the closing of the Arcadia Products acquisition in December 2021, DMC (through its direct ownership and indirect ownership through our subsidiary DMC
Korea) owns 60% of Arcadia Products and the remaining 40% is owned by New Arcadia Holdings, Inc., which is wholly-owned by Synergex Group LLC, Trustee of the
Munera Family ESBT, and previously the majority owner of Arcadia, Inc. (“Munera”). Arcadia Products is governed by an Operating Agreement among the Company, Arcadia
Products and Munera (the “Operating Agreement”). Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, the Company has the right to appoint four directors to Arcadia Products’ board of
directors (the “Arcadia Board”), one of whom will serve as Chairman of the Arcadia Board, and Munera has the right to appoint three directors. If Munera’s ownership in
Arcadia Products declines, the number of directors it has the right to appoint will be reduced in the manner set forth in the Operating Agreement. The Arcadia Board generally
acts by majority vote of the directors, but certain matters specified in the Operating Agreement require the affirmative vote of 80% of the directors.

At any time at or after the third anniversary of the effective date of the Operating Agreement, Munera shall have the right (but not the obligation) to require the Company
to purchase (the “Put Option”) its interests in Arcadia Products for a price based on the higher of (a) a value based on the Acquisition purchase price and (b) a multiple of
Arcadia Products’ average EBITDA for the preceding two fiscal years and its projected EBITDA for the then-current fiscal year (the “Option Purchase Price”), and the
Company shall have the right (but not the obligation) to purchase all of Munera’s interests for the same price (the “Call Option”). If the Put Option is exercised, the Option
Purchase Price will be paid, at DMC’s option, (i) in cash or (ii) 20% in cash and 80% in shares of preferred stock of the Company. If the Company exercises the Call Option,
the Option Purchase Price will be paid in cash. The Operating Agreement also provides for rights of first refusal and “drag-along” rights pursuant to which we could, in certain
circumstances, acquire Munera’s interests prior to the third anniversary of the effective date of the Operating Agreement.

DynaEnergetics

DynaEnergetics designs, manufactures, markets and sells perforating systems and associated hardware for the global oil and gas industry. During the well drilling
process, steel casing is inserted into the well and cemented in place to isolate and support the integrity of the wellbore. A perforating system, which contains a series of
specialized explosive shaped charges, is used to punch holes through the casing and cement liner of the well and into the geologic formation surrounding the well bore. The
channels created by the shaped charges allow hydrocarbons to flow back into the wellbore. When hydraulic fracturing is employed, the perforations and channels also provide a
path for the fracturing fluid to enter and return from the formation.
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In unconventional wells, multiple perforating systems, which generally range from seven inches to three feet in length, are connected end-to-end into a perforating
“string.” The string is lowered into the well and then pumped by fluid across the horizontal lateral to the target location within the shale formation. When the perforating system
is initiated via an electronic or digital signal from the surface, the shaped charges detonate. DynaEnergetics designs, manufactures and sells all five primary components of a
perforating system: the initiation system, shaped charges, detonating cord, gun hardware, and a control panel.

In North America’s well-completion industry, perforating components traditionally have been assembled by highly trained personnel at the well site or nearby assembly
facility. In 2015, DynaEnergetics began assembling its perforating systems in a controlled environment at its manufacturing facilities. The systems, marketed as DynaStage®
(DS) Factory-Assembled, Performance-Assured™ perforating systems, are shipped directly to the customers’ remote shop or well site. Since 2015, DynaEnergetics has added
several new DS products to accommodate evolving industry conditions and needs.

Operations

The DynaEnergetics segment seeks to build on its products and technologies, as well as its sales, supply chain and distribution network. During the three years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the DynaEnergetics segment represented approximately 44%, 40% and 67% of our consolidated net sales, respectively.

DynaEnergetics’ operates manufacturing facilities in Germany and the United States. In Troisdorf, Germany, DynaEnergetics has six integrated detonator manufacturing
lines, two shaped charge lines and a detonating cord manufacturing line. In Liebenscheid, Germany, DynaEnergetics operates a manufacturing facility for perforating guns and
associated hardware. In the United States, DynaEnergetics has three shaped charge manufacturing lines in Blum, Texas where product assembly and metal fabricating also
occur. We have a second metal fabricating facility in Whitney, Texas. These locations provide us with global capacity for shaped charge and perforating gun production and
enhance our delivery and customer service capabilities in our key markets.

Products

IS2: DynaEnergetics has focused on the advancement of safe and selective perforating products for use in North America’s shale, or onshore, unconventional, oil and gas
industry. Among these products are the IS2™ Intrinsically Safe Initiating Systems, which include the IS2  Customer Assembled (CA) detonator and the wire-free, plug-in, IS2
Top Fire (TF) detonator. The IS2 TF detonator is the key enabling technology in DynaEnergetics’ family of DS Factory-Assembled, Performance-Assured perforating systems.
The IS2 detonators require a specific digital code for firing and are immune from induced currents and voltages, static electricity and high-frequency irradiation. These safety
features substantially reduce the risk of unintentional detonation and enable concurrent perforating and hydraulic fracturing operations at well sites with multiple wellbores,
improving operating efficiencies for customers. In response to the exacting needs of our customers, we expanded and enhanced the IS2 product line, including adding an IS2 MS
igniter specifically designed for our DS MicroSet™ as well as an upgrade of all IS2 detonators to the more proficient IS2 Express which provides improved performance
through a more intuitive automated firing panel process. In 2023, we introduced a new and improved generation of our intrinsically safe detonator, the IS3. This more
technically advanced and compact detonator was developed internally to provide the platform for the next generation of DS systems.

DS Systems: Our DS Infinity  Factory-Assembled, Performance-Assured perforating systems combine all of our advanced technologies into a preassembled perforating
gun that is armed at the well site with our Plug-and-Go™ IS2 TF detonator. The IS2 TF detonator is wire-free and eliminates the customary process of wiring the detonator into
the perforating system at the well site. All DS systems are operated using our in-house designed and manufactured Infinity  Control Panel. The Infinity Panel is highly
intuitive and allows the gun string to be safely tested and monitored throughout the pump-down operation. The system also incorporates a shot detection function resulting in
significant time and cost savings. Recent design advancements to the IS2 line of initiation products enable customers to safely and reliably fire up to 100 systems and set a plug
in a single run. All DS systems can be tested before going down hole using our Infinity Surface Tester, reducing the risk of lost time, mishaps, misruns and misfires due to a
system fault.

DynaEnergetics has successfully expanded the family of DS perforating systems with various models: DS Echo™, for re-frac applications; DS LoneStar™, a single-shot
system that delivers large, ultra-consistent entry holes, and DS NLine™, an oriented systems that features several shaped charges on a lateral plane. During 2022,
DynaEnergetics continued to refine its systems to further improve reliability and worked to expand our product offerings. In 2023, we launched DS Gravity 2.0™, a next
generation self orientating system for oriented perforating and DS NLine 2.0, which includes an improved alignment system for oriented perforating. Both systems utilize the
latest generation IS3 detonator.

TM

TM

TM
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Shaped Charges: DynaEnergetics develops and sells a wide range of shaped charges for use in its perforating systems, including the LoneStar and EchoFrac™ charges
specifically designed for sale in their respective systems. DynaEnergetics also sells HaloFrac™ charges, which incorporate advancements in liner materials and shaped charge
geometry to improve hydraulic fracturing performance, the FracTune™ family of shaped charges, which delivers uniform hole diameter in the well casing independent of shot
phasing and gun positioning within the well bore, and the DPEX™ family of charges, which feature energetic liners. All three charge lines can be used with the DS perforating
system as well as conventional perforating gun systems across a range of gun diameters. In 2023, DynaEnergetics expanded on its portfolio of equal-entry hole shaped charges
through the introduction of Oriented FracTune™, an improved oriented equal entry hole product designed to address the precise requirements of oriented perforating
applications in the plug and perforating market. These charges enable exploration and production companies and their wireline service providers to choose from a variety of
specifically designed shaped charges to match well completion design requirements.

TCP Systems: DynaEnergetics Tubing Conveyed Perforating ("TCP") systems are customized for individual customer needs and well applications. TCP enables
perforating of conventional vertical wells, as well as highly deviated and horizontal wells. These types of wells are increasingly being drilled by the off-shore industry and in
applications outside the U.S. TCP tools also perforate long intervals in a single trip, which significantly improves rig efficiency. Our TCP tool range includes mechanical and
hydraulic firing systems, gun releases, redundant firing heads, under-balancing devices and auxiliary components. Our tools are designed to withstand down-hole temperatures
of up to 260 degrees Celsius (500 degrees Fahrenheit) for safe and quick assembly at the well site and to allow unrestricted total system length.

Setting and Ballistic Release Tools: DynaEnergetics also sells products that perform critical down-hole functions associated with the perforating process. DS MicroSet™
is a compact, disposable setting tool used to install the fracking plugs that isolate stages in a multi-stage, unconventional oil or gas well. In 2023, we launched DS Liberator™
2.0, which is a newly designed ballistic release tool which enables wireline service companies to disengage from a perforating string that has become stuck in the well bore.

Plug and Abandonment: Our DynaSlot  perforating system is designed for plug and abandonment (P&A) operations. During well abandonment, the wellbore is encased
and permanently sealed so that layers of sedimentary rock, and in particular freshwater aquifers, are pressure isolated from each other and the wellbore. The DynaSlot
perforating system facilitates this process by creating access to a full 360-degree area between the rock formations and the tubing and/or casing. Customers use the unique
helical perforation pattern created by DynaSlot to perform cement squeeze operations that seal off the wellbore. DynaEnergetics maintains its DPU and XPU shaped charge
lines, which are designed for P&A and well remediation applications and enable perforating through two or more layers of casing and into the formation. DynaEnergetics also
has successfully developed an encapsulated DynaSlot charge specifically designed for cutting down hole control lines. Most recently, DynaEnergetics developed its next
generation DynaSlot shaped charges, designed specifically for severing and cutting flat-pack control lines, which are mounted vertically behind the wellbore tubulars. Cutting
control-lines without damaging the well's integrity is a critical step in the process of permanently decommissioning offshore wells.

Suppliers and Raw Materials

DynaEnergetics' product offering consists of complex components that require numerous high-end inputs. DynaEnergetics utilizes a variety of raw materials for the
production of oilfield perforating products, including high-quality steel tubes, steel and copper, explosives, granulates, plastics and ancillary plastic product components.
DynaEnergetics obtains its raw materials from a number of different producers in Germany, other European countries, and the U.S., but also purchases materials from other
international suppliers.

Competition

DynaEnergetics faces competition from independent manufacturers of perforating products and from the industry's three largest oil and gas service companies, which
produce perforating systems for their own use and also buy systems and other perforating components and specialty products from independent suppliers such as
DynaEnergetics. We compete for sales primarily on customer service, product quality, reliability, safety, performance, and price.

Customer Profile

DynaEnergetics' perforating and seismic products are purchased by international and U.S. oilfield service companies of all sizes working in both onshore and offshore oil
and gas fields. Our customers select perforating products based on their leading performance, system compatibility, product pricing, and ability to address a broad spectrum of
factors, including pressures and temperatures in the wellbore and geological characteristics of the targeted formation.

TM
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The customers for our energy products can be divided into four broad categories: purchasing centers of large service companies, international service companies,
independent international and North America-based service companies (often referred to as “wireline” companies), and local resellers.

Marketing, Sales, Distribution

DynaEnergetics’ worldwide marketing and sales efforts for its oilfield products are managed from Troisdorf, Germany and Houston, Texas. DynaEnergetics’ sales
strategy focuses on direct selling, distribution through licensed distributors and independent sales representatives, education of current and prospective service-company
customers about our products and technologies, and education of E&P companies about the benefits of our products and technologies in an effort to generate pull-through
demand. Currently, DynaEnergetics sells its oilfield and seismic products through wholly owned affiliates in Germany, the U.S., and Canada, and through independent sales
agents in other parts of the world. DynaEnergetics serves the Americas region through its network of sales and distribution centers in the United States and Canada. In 2023,
DynaEnergetics continued to upgrade its website and mobile applications for an improved customer experience. Additional enhancements are expected in future periods.

DynaEnergetics also designs and manufactures customized perforating products for third-party customers according to their designs and requirements.
Research and Development

DynaEnergetics devotes substantial resources to its research and development (R&D) programs. Based predominantly in Troisdorf, Germany, the R&D team works
closely with sales, product management, and operations management teams to establish priorities and effectively manage individual projects. Through its ongoing involvement
in oil and gas industry trade shows and conferences, DynaEnergetics maintains a strong profile in the oil and gas industry. In addition to its existing shaped charge test facility,
which can simulate down-hole, wellbore, and reservoir pressure conditions to develop and test high performance perforating charges for both oil companies and service
providers, the R&D group has a purpose-built pressure vessel which can reach 30,000 psi test pressures and be heated to up to 200 degrees Celsius (392 degrees F). This enables
the R&D group to support the oil and gas industry with test methods for new products that realistically simulate potentially difficult down-hole conditions. In 2023, we
continued construction of our horizontal test loop at our Blum, Texas facility. Upon completion in 2024, this significant investment will allow the testing of our perforating
systems in an environment mimicking down-hole flow conditions, which should enhance our development and testing programs. An R&D plan, which focuses on new
technology, products, process support and contracted projects, is prepared and reviewed at least quarterly. R&D costs were $5,610, $5,712, and $6,378 for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

NobelClad

Explosion-welded cladding technology is a method for welding metals that cannot be joined using conventional welding processes, such as titanium-steel, aluminum-
steel, and aluminum-copper. Explosion welding also can be used to weld compatible metals, such as stainless steels and nickel alloys to steel. The cladding metals are typically
titanium, stainless steel, aluminum, copper alloys, nickel alloys, tantalum, and zirconium. The base metals are typically carbon steel, alloy steel, stainless steel and aluminum.

Explosion-welded clad metal is produced as flat plates or concentric cylinders, which can be further formed and fabricated into a broad range of industrial processing
equipment or specialized transition joints. Created using a robust cold-welding technology, explosion-welded clad products exhibit high bond strength, which is generally
stronger than the parent metals. The dimensional capabilities of the process are broad: cladding metal layers can range from a few thousandths of an inch to several inches in
thickness and base metal thickness and lateral dimensions are primarily limited by the capabilities of the world’s metal production mills.

Clad metal plates are used in the construction of heavy, corrosion resistant pressure vessels and heat exchangers. Clad metal plates consist of a thin layer of an expensive,
corrosion-resistant clad metal, such as titanium or nickel alloy, which is metallurgically welded to a less expensive structural backing metal, such as carbon steel. For heavy
equipment, clad plates generally provide an economical alternative to building the equipment solely out of a corrosion-resistant alloy. While a significant portion of the demand
for our clad metal products is driven by maintenance and retrofit projects at existing chemical processing, petrochemical processing, oil refining, and aluminum smelting
facilities, new plant construction and large plant expansion projects also account for a significant portion of total demand. These industries tend to be cyclical in nature, and the
timing of new order inflow remains difficult to predict.
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Clad Metal End-Use Markets
 

The eight broad industrial sectors discussed below comprise the bulk of demand for NobelClad’s products, with oil and gas and chemical and petrochemical constituting
approximately 70% of NobelClad sales in 2023. This demand is driven by the underlying need for both new equipment and facility maintenance in these primary market sectors.

Oil and Gas: Oil and gas end use markets include both oil and gas production and petroleum refining. Oil and gas production covers a broad scope of operations related
to recovering oil and/or gas for subsequent processing in refineries. Clad metal is used in separators, glycol contractors, pipelines, heat exchangers and other related equipment.
Clad equipment is also advantageous for oil and gas production from deep, hot, and more corrosive fields. The primary clad metals for the oil and gas production market are
stainless steel and nickel alloys clad to steel, with some use of reactive metals such as titanium.

Petroleum refining processes frequently are corrosive and operate at high temperatures and pressures. Clad metal is extensively used in a broad range of equipment
including desulfurization hydrotreaters, coke drums, distillation columns, separators and heat exchangers. Reliance upon low-quality, high-sulfur crude drives demand for new
corrosion resistant equipment. Regulatory controls of sulfur emissions in gas, diesel and jet fuel also impact the need for clad equipment. Like the upstream oil and gas sector,
the clad metals are primarily stainless steel and nickel alloys.

Chemical and Petrochemical: Many common products, ranging from plastics to prescription drugs to electronic materials, are produced by chemical processes. Because
the production of these items often involves corrosive agents and is conducted under high pressures or temperatures, corrosion resistant equipment is needed. One of the larger
applications for clad equipment is in the manufacture of purified terephthalic acid (PTA), a precursor product for polyester, which is used in products as diverse as carpets and
plastic bottles. The chemical market requires extensive use of stainless steel and nickel alloys, but also uses titanium, zirconium and tantalum.

Alternative Energy: Some alternative energy technologies involve conditions that necessitate clad metals. Solar panels predominantly incorporate high purity polysilicon.
Processes for manufacturing high purity silicon utilize a broad range of highly corrosion-resistant clad alloys. Many geothermal fields are corrosive, requiring high alloy clad
separators to handle the hot steam. In addition, some ethanol technologies and concentrating solar power technologies may require corrosion resistant metals at thicknesses
where clad is an attractive alternative.

Hydrometallurgy: The processes for production of nickel, gold, and copper involve acids, high pressures, and high temperatures, and titanium-clad plates are used
extensively for construction of associated leaching and peripheral equipment such as autoclaves.

Aluminum Production: Primary aluminum is reduced from its oxide in large electric smelters called potlines. The electric current is carried via aluminum conductors. The
electricity must be transmitted into steel components for the high temperature smelting operations. Aluminum cannot be welded to steel conventionally. Explosion-welded
aluminum-steel transition joints provide an energy efficient and highly durable solution for making these connections. Modern potlines use a large number of transition joints,
which are typically replaced after approximately five years in service. Although primary aluminum production is the major electrochemical application for NobelClad products,
there are a number of other electrochemical applications including production of zinc, magnesium, chlorine and chlorate. We are seeing an increase for equipment related to
processing biomass feedstocks and biofuel end products, mostly stainless and nickel alloy clad.

Shipbuilding: The combined problems of corrosion and top-side weight drive demand for our aluminum-steel transition joints, which serve as the juncture between a
ship's upper and lower structures. Top-side weight is often a significant problem with tall ships, including cruise ships, naval vessels, ferries and yachts. Use of aluminum in the
upper structure and steel in the lower structure provides stability. Since aluminum cannot be welded directly to steel using conventional welding processes, and since bolted
joints between aluminum and steel corrode quickly in seawater, explosion-welded transition joints are a common solution.

Power Generation: Fossil fuel and nuclear power generation plants require extensive use of heat exchangers, many of which require corrosion resistant alloys to handle
low quality cooling water. Our clad plates are used for heat exchanger tube sheets, and the largest clad tube sheets are used in the final low-pressure condensers. For most
coastal and brackish water-cooled plants, titanium is the metal of choice, and titanium-clad tube sheets are the low-cost solution for power plant condensers.
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Industrial Refrigeration: Heat exchangers are a core component of refrigeration systems. When the cooling fluid is seawater, brackish, or even slightly polluted,
corrosion-resistant metals are necessary. Metal selection can range from stainless steel to copper alloy to titanium. Explosion-welded clad metal is often the low-cost solution for
making the tube sheets. Applications range from refrigeration chillers on fishing boats to massive air conditioning units for skyscrapers, airports, and deep underground mines.

New Applications/Industry Development

NobelClad continues its efforts in applications and materials innovations, with the goal of expanding NobelClad’s end-use markets and customer base. Examples of these
efforts include the development of a new application of clad in the production of engineered wood, development of improved electrical transition joints for smelting
applications, high-pressure refractory metals chemical processing pipe systems and cryogenic joints to LNG and air separation units. NobelClad is also engaged in research
efforts related to using clad products in concentrating solar power production facilities.

Operations

During the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the NobelClad segment represented approximately 15%, 14% and 33% of our consolidated net sales,
respectively. Our manufacturing facilities and their respective shooting sites in Pennsylvania and Germany provide the production capacity to address projects for NobelClad’s
global customer base.

NobelClad uses proprietary processes and technology to produce high quality clad metal products and limit re-work costs. The entire explosion-welding process involves
significant precision in all stages, and any errors can be extremely costly as they often result in the discarding of the expensive raw material metals. NobelClad’s technological
expertise helps ensure precision, minimize errors, and prevent costly waste.

NobelClad’s metal products are primarily produced for custom projects and conform to requirements set forth in customers’ purchase orders. Upon receipt of an order,
NobelClad obtains the component materials from a variety of sources based on quality, availability and cost, and then produces the order in one of its manufacturing
facilities. Final products are processed to meet contract specific requirements for product configuration and quality/inspection level.

 
Products

NobelClad manufacturing technology is used in a variety of product applications.

DetaClad™: Our explosion clad plates and cylinders, available in 260 compatible and non-compatible metal combinations, are the basis of the world’s pressure vessels,
towers and crystallizers used in many industries.

Tube Sheets: Our clad tube sheets are made from corrosion-resistant alloys, making them ideal for applications ranging from refrigeration chillers on fishing boats to air
conditioners for use in food and pharmaceutical manufacturing.

Vessel Heads & Cylinders: NobelClad delivers high-quality clad heads of all sizes for reactors, heat exchangers and process vessels. We adapt our head forming process
to specific clad metal combinations.

Structural Transition Joints: NobelClad’s structural transition joints permanently join metals without mechanical fasteners. Shipbuilders turn to us to connect
superstructures and bulkheads to steel hulls, framing and deck components.

Electrical Transition Joints: NobelClad’s electrical transition joints offer strong, low electrical resistance solutions for aluminum and zinc smelting, when anode clad and
cathode applications must operate at elevated temperatures.

Cylindra™ Cryogenic Transition Joints: Compared with bolted connection systems, Cylindra™ offers an easier, more reliable way to connect stainless steel to
aluminum pipes for producing LNG and industrial gases in Air Separation Units (ASU).

DetaPipe™ Spools, Elbows and Branches: NobelClad develops reactive metal pipe spools and elbows for piping systems in demanding high-pressure and high-
temperature processes. This new technology allows for end users to benefit from the corrosion resistance performance and process safety that metals like zirconium, titanium
and tantalum provide.
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Suppliers and Raw Materials

NobelClad's operations involve a range of alloys, steels and other materials, such as stainless steel, copper alloys, nickel alloys, titanium, zirconium, tantalum, aluminum
and other metals. NobelClad sources its raw materials from a number of different producers and suppliers. It holds a limited metal inventory and purchases its raw materials
based on contract specifications. Under most contracts, any raw material price increases are passed on to NobelClad’s customers. NobelClad closely monitors the quality of its
supplies and inspects the type, dimensions, markings, and certification of all incoming metals to ensure that the materials will satisfy applicable construction codes. NobelClad
also manufactures a majority of its own explosives from standard raw materials, and we believe that this allows us to achieve higher quality and lower cost.

 
Competition
 
Hot Roll Bonding and Weld Overlay.  NobelClad faces competition from two primary alternative cladding technologies: hot roll bonding and weld overlay. The

technologies do not always compete directly, as each has applications that are better suited, relating to metal used and thicknesses required. However, specific project
considerations such as technical specifications, price and delivery time allow these technologies to compete directly with explosion-welding. In the roll bond process, the clad
metal and base metal are bonded during the hot rolling operation in which the metal slab is converted to plate. The weld overlay process is used by the many vessel fabricators
that are often also NobelClad customers. In weld overlay cladding, the clad metal layer is deposited on the base metal using arc-welding type processes.

Explosion-Welded Metal Cladding. Worldwide competition in the explosion-welded clad metal business is fragmented, and we believe that NobelClad holds a strong
market position in the industry. Within North America, NobelClad is one of the largest producers of explosion-welded clad products. In Europe, its manufacturing capacity
gives NobelClad a strong position against competitors. In Asia, NobelClad has mixed competition ranging from competitors with strong brand names and competitive
technology to other producers that are technically limited and offer minimal exports outside of their domestic markets. To remain competitive, NobelClad intends to continue
developing and providing technologically advanced manufacturing services, maintaining quality levels, offering flexible delivery schedules, delivering finished products on a
reliable basis and competing favorably on the basis of price.

 
Customer Profile
 
NobelClad’s customers can be divided into three tiers: the product end users (e.g., operators of chemical processing plants, and aluminum smelting plants), the

engineering contractors that design and construct plants for end users, and the metal fabricators that manufacture the products or equipment that utilize NobelClad’s metal
products. It is typically the fabricator that places the purchase order with NobelClad and pays the corresponding invoice. NobelClad has developed strong relationships over the
years with the engineering contractors, process licensors, and equipment operating companies that frequently act as buying agents for fabricators.

 
Marketing, Sales, Distribution
 
NobelClad conducts its selling efforts by marketing its services to potential customers' senior management, direct sales personnel, program managers, and independent

sales representatives. Prospective customers in specific industries are identified through networking in the industry, cooperative relationships with suppliers, public relations,
customer references, inquiries from technical articles and seminars, website inquiries, webinars, and trade shows. NobelClad’s sales office in the United States covers both
North and South America. Its sales offices in Europe cover the full European continent, Africa, the Middle East, and India. NobelClad also has a sales office in South Korea and
China to address the Asian markets and uses contract agents to cover various other countries. Contract agents typically work under multi-year agreements which are subject to
sales performance targets as well as compliance with NobelClad quality, customer service and compliance expectations. By maintaining relationships with its existing
customers, developing new relationships with prospective customers, and educating all its customers as to the technical benefits of NobelClad’s products, NobelClad endeavors
to assist in setting standard specifications, both by our customers and the American Society of Mechanical Engineers and ASTM International, to ensure that the highest quality
and reliability are achieved.

 
NobelClad’s products are generally shipped from its manufacturing locations in the United States and Germany. Any shipping costs or duties for which NobelClad is

responsible typically will be included in the price paid by the customer. Regardless of where the sale is booked, NobelClad will produce it, capacity permitting, at the location
closest to the delivery place. In the event that there is a capacity issue at one facility, NobelClad can produce the order at its other production site, prioritizing timing. The two
production sites allow NobelClad to meet customer production needs in a timely manner.
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Research and Development
 
We prepare a formal research and development plan annually. It is implemented at our cladding sites and is supervised by a technical committee that reviews progress

quarterly and meets once a year to establish the plan for the following twelve months. The research and development projects concern process support, new products, new
applications, and special customer-paid projects.

Corporate History and Recent Developments
 

The Company originated as an unincorporated business called “Explosive Fabricators,” which was formed in Colorado in 1965. The business was incorporated in
Colorado in 1971 under the name “E. F. Industries, Inc.,” which was later changed to “Explosive Fabricators, Inc.” The Company became publicly traded in 1976. In 1994, the
Company changed its name to “Dynamic Materials Corporation.” The Company reincorporated in Delaware in 1997.

 
In 2001, the Company acquired substantially all of the stock of NobelClad Europe SA, a French company (“NobelClad Europe”), which expanded the Company’s

explosive metalworking operations to Europe.
 
In 2007, the Company acquired the German company DynaEnergetics GmbH and Co. KG (“DynaEnergetics”) and certain affiliates, which expanded the Company’s

explosive metalworking operations in Europe and added a complementary energy products business.

In 2013, the Company branded its explosive metalworking operations under the single name NobelClad, and in 2014, the Company re-branded the energy products
segment as DynaEnergetics.

In 2016, the Company changed its name to DMC Global Inc.

In 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of 60% of the membership interests in Arcadia Products. This acquisition diversified the markets and industries in which
we operate and dramatically expanded our addressable markets.

On January 29, 2024, the Company announced that the Board initiated a review of strategic alternatives for the DynaEnergetics and NobelClad businesses to maximize
value for shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board is overseeing the assessment process, including options for a sale, a merger or other business combination involving
one or both businesses. The Board has not set a timetable to complete the strategic review process, and there can be no assurance that the review process will result in any
transactions.

Human Capital
 

DMC empowers its people and organizations by institutionalizing entrepreneurship and celebrating ingenuity. We stand behind our businesses in ways that truly add
value. Our culture is based on four core values: Integrity, Courage, Teamwork, and Humility.

These values represent and establish the foundation of how we conduct our business. By embedding our core values into our operating strategies, we ensure that our
company culture also drives our Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") sustainability efforts.

DMC seeks to provide all employees with a supportive work environment and the opportunity to improve their skills and advance their careers. We believe every
employee deserves an environment in which they are treated with dignity and respect, and their voices are heard. We support diversity within our workforce, and respect and
embrace the different backgrounds, experiences, cultures and perspectives our employees bring to DMC.

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately 1,800 permanent and part-time employees, of which approximately 1,500 employees are located inside the U.S., the
majority of whom are engaged in manufacturing operations, with the
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remainder primarily in sales, marketing and administrative functions. None of our manufacturing employees are unionized. In addition, we use a number of temporary workers
at any given time, depending on workload at our businesses.

Compensation and Benefits. Our compensation and benefits teams strive to develop and implement policies and programs that are fair to employees, support our business
goals, maintain competitiveness, and promote shared fiscal responsibility among the Company and our employees. We offer employees benefits that vary by country and are
designed to meet or exceed the requirements of local laws and to be competitive in the marketplace. Examples of benefits offered in the U.S. include traditional and Roth 401(k)
plans with matching employer contributions; health benefits; life and disability insurance; additional voluntary insurance; paid counseling assistance; paid time off and parental
leave; and a tuition reimbursement program. We have integrated these U.S. benefits programs for DMC and Arcadia. We also sponsor an employee stock purchase plan to
encourage employees to acquire an ownership stake in DMC.

Health and Safety. The health and safety of our employees is fundamental to our success. The Board and management teams actively focus on the health and safety of our
employees and engage various processes and programs to identify and manage risks through recognition, evaluation, and education. We empower our employees by fostering a
sense of responsibility for managing their own work environment through open communication and training. Our occupational health and safety ("OH&S") management system
is designed to foster a robust safety culture, stringent risk management and effective leadership.

Diversity and Inclusion. We believe that we will be most successful with a diverse employee population and encourage hiring and promotion practices that focus on the
best talent and the most effective performers. Because we operate a global business across multiple business segments, products and service areas, we believe it is especially
important that we attract employees with diverse backgrounds and the capability to address customer needs across the numerous cultures in the countries in which we operate.
Our commitment to diversity and inclusion starts at the top with a highly skilled and diverse Board of Directors. We adopted a formal diversity and inclusion policy in May
2021.

Employee Development. DMC strives to identify top talent within the Company, and to provide opportunities for employees to progress to higher levels within the
organization. We seek to maximize each employee’s developmental potential through a combination of training and experience.

Ethics. Our directors and all employees, including senior management, are required to conduct themselves in accordance with the highest professional and ethical
standards, informed by a robust Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (the “Code”). We are committed to ensuring a fair and inclusive work environment in which employees
are treated with dignity and respect. We have strict policies to protect against unlawful discrimination and harassment, and a Compliance Hotline that provides an alternative
and anonymous method of reporting suspected violations of the Code, DMC’s corporate policies or applicable laws.

 
Government Regulations
 

DMC is subject to numerous environmental, legal and other governmental and regulatory requirements related to its operations worldwide. For additional details, see
“Item 1(a). Risk Factors—Legal and Regulatory Risks”, which is incorporated by reference in this Item 1.

Insurance
 

Our operations expose us to potential liabilities for property damage and personal injury or death as a result of the failure of a component that has been designed,
manufactured, serviced, processed, or distributed by us. We maintain liability insurance that we believe adequately protects us from potential product losses and liability claims.

Intellectual Property
 

We hold a variety of intellectual property through our businesses including but not limited to patents, patent applications, registered and unregistered trademarks, trade
secrets, proprietary information and know-how. We have followed a policy of seeking patent and trademark protection in countries and regions throughout the world for
products and methods that appear to have commercial significance.

No single patent or trademark is considered to be critical to any of Arcadia Products', DynaEnergetics', or NobelClad's operations.
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We are careful in protecting our proprietary know-how and manufacturing expertise in Arcadia Products, DynaEnergetics, and NobelClad, and each business unit has
implemented measures and procedures designed to ensure that the information remains confidential.

Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales
 

All sales are shipped from our manufacturing facilities and distribution centers located in the United States, Germany, and Canada. The following table presents our net
sales based on the geographic location to where we shipped the product, regardless of the country of the actual end user.

Given the purchase of Arcadia Products in late 2021, it is only included in the table for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
(Dollars in Thousands)

For the years ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

United States $ 597,324 $ 549,370 $ 173,336 
Canada 30,992 26,766 16,929 
United Arab Emirates 9,227 5,107 3,843 
Oman 7,949 3,188 3,115 
China 6,438 3,902 10,365 
Iraq 6,034 3,574 72 
Germany 5,713 5,151 3,270 
Kuwait 4,980 1,801 1,559 
South Korea 4,562 3,242 2,144 
Saudi Arabia 4,252 2,416 553 
France 3,035 2,101 2,522 
Indonesia 2,622 2,085 1,131 
India 2,486 8,249 3,062 
Egypt 2,340 5,780 3,519 
Ukraine 2,332 — 3,742 
Netherlands 2,146 3,041 2,200 
Italy 2,110 1,816 1,467 
Sweden 2,014 3,746 1,208 
Belgium 2,009 603 2,547 
Australia 1,866 1,816 1,567 
Norway 1,292 1,854 2,211 
Turkey 1,258 4,602 3,153 
South Africa 1,154 1,970 886 
Russia* — 183 4,057 
Rest of the world 15,053 11,723 11,657 
Net sales $ 719,188 $ 654,086 $ 260,115 

Sales to Russia have been suspended indefinitely due to the ongoing conflict in Ukraine.

Company Information
 

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). We therefore file periodic reports, proxy
statements and other information with the Securities Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The SEC maintains an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

 

*
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Our Internet address is www.dmcglobal.com. Information contained on our website does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act are available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. We also
regularly post information about our Company on our website under the "Investors" tab.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Please carefully consider the following discussion of material factors, events, and uncertainties that make our business and an investment in our securities subject to risk.
The events and consequences discussed in these risk factors could, in circumstances we may or may not be able to accurately predict, recognize, or control, have a material
adverse effect on our business, growth, reputation, prospects, financial condition, operating results (including components of our financial results), cash flows, liquidity, and
stock price. These risk factors do not identify all risks that we face; our operations could also be affected by factors, events, or uncertainties that are not presently known to us or
that we currently do not consider to present significant risks to our operations.

Summary of Material Risk Factors

The following is a summary of the material risk factors that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. This summary should be
read together with the more detailed descriptions of risks relating to our Company below.

Risk Factors Related to Arcadia Products

• North American and global economic and industry-related business conditions materially affect our sales and results of operations.
• We may not be able to continue to compete successfully against other companies in our industry.
• If we are unable to manage our supply chain effectively, including availability and price of materials used in our products, our results of operations will be negatively

affected.
• An inability to successfully develop new products or improve existing products could negatively impact our ability to attract new customers and/or retain existing

customers.
• Product quality issues and product liability claims could adversely affect our operating results.
• We recently implemented a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system, and challenges with the implementation of the system may adversely impact our business

and operations.

Risk Factors Related to DynaEnergetics

• Demand for DynaEnergetics’ products is substantially dependent on the levels of capital expenditures by the oil and gas industry. Decreases or expected decreases in oil
and gas prices and reduced expenditures in the oil and gas industry could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

• Failure to adjust our manufacturing and supply chain to accurately meet customer demands could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
• Failure to manage periods of growth or contraction may seriously harm our business.
• We may not be able to continue to compete successfully against other companies in our industry.
• Recent conflict in the Middle East may adversely affect our business and results of operations.
• If we are not able to design, develop, and produce commercially competitive products in a timely manner in response to changes in the market, customer requirements,

competitive pressures, and technology trends, our business and consolidated results of operations and the value of our intellectual property could be materially and
adversely affected.

• We may be unable to successfully execute and realize the expected financial benefits from strategic initiatives.
• Demand for DynaEnergetics products could be reduced by existing and future legislation, regulations and public sentiment.
• Consolidation of our customers and competitors may impact our results of operations.

Risk Factors Related to NobelClad

• NobelClad’s business is dependent on sales to a limited number of customers in cyclical markets and our results are affected by the price of metals.
• We are dependent on a relatively small number of large projects and customers for a significant portion of our net sales.

15



Table of Contents

• Our backlog figures may not accurately predict future sales.
• There is a limited availability of sites suitable for cladding operations.
• There is no assurance that we will continue to compete successfully against other manufacturers of competitive products.
• Customers have the right to change orders until products are completed.
• Our costs could substantially increase if we experience a large claim or a significant number of warranty claims.

Risk Factors Related to our Businesses Generally

• Our efforts to grow and transform our businesses may require significant investments; if our strategies are unsuccessful, our business, results of operations and/or
financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

• Our review of potential strategic alternatives may not result in executed or consummated transactions or other strategic alternatives, and the process of reviewing
strategic alternatives or its conclusion could adversely affect our business and our stockholders.

• Our operations are subject to political and economic instability and risk of government actions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated
results of operations, and consolidated financial condition.

• Inflation and higher interest rates have, and may continue to, adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.
• Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by disruptions in the global and European economies caused by the ongoing

military action between Russia and Ukraine.
• Our operating results fluctuate from quarter to quarter.
• We are exposed to potentially volatile fluctuations of the U.S. dollar (our reporting currency) against the currencies of many of our operating subsidiaries.
• Disruptions or delays involving our suppliers or increases in prices for the components, raw materials and parts that we obtain from our suppliers could have a material

adverse effect on our business and consolidated results of operations.
• The terms of our indebtedness contain a number of restrictive covenants, the breach of any of which could result in acceleration of payment of our credit facilities.
• If our customers delay paying or fail to pay a significant amount of our outstanding receivables, it could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, consolidated

results of operations, and consolidated financial condition.
• New or existing tariffs and other trade measures could adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
• Failure to attract and retain key personnel and source sufficient labor could adversely affect our current operating results.
• A failure in our information technology systems or those of third parties, including those caused by security breaches, cyber-attacks or data protection failures, could

disrupt our business, result in significant legal costs and other losses and damage our reputation.
• Failure to establish and maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting could result in the inability to report our financial results in a timely and reliable

manner, which could harm our business and impact the value of our securities.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

• Our operations require us to comply with numerous laws and regulations, violations of which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of
operations, financial condition or cash flows.

• The use of explosives in our DynaEnergetics and NobelClad manufacturing processes and products subject us to additional environmental, health and safety laws and
any accidents or injuries could subject us to significant liabilities.

• Demand for our products could be reduced by existing and future legislation, regulations and public sentiment.
• We are subject to extensive environmental, health and safety laws and failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in restrictions or prohibitions on our

facilities, substantial civil or criminal liabilities and could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated results of operations, and consolidated financial
condition.

• Failure to comply with applicable federal, state and local employment and labor laws and regulations could have a material, adverse impact on our business.
• The regulatory environment governing information, data security and privacy is increasingly demanding and evolving and a data security breach could result in

litigation, enforcement actions and related penalties and fines.
• Legal, regulatory or market measures to address climate change, including proposals to restrict emissions of GHGs and other sustainability initiatives, could have an

adverse impact on the Company’s business and results of operations.
• Changes in or interpretation of tax law could impact the determination of our income tax liabilities for a tax year.
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Intellectual Property Risks

• Our failure to protect our proprietary information and any successful intellectual property challenges against us could materially and adversely affect our competitive
position.

• We may incur substantial costs defending against third parties alleging that we infringe their proprietary rights.

Risks Related to Acquisitions

• We have incurred debt to finance the acquisition of 60% of Arcadia Products and may incur additional substantial financial obligations in connection with the acquisition
of the remaining 40% of Arcadia Products.

• DMC is the majority shareholder of Arcadia Products, and our interest in Arcadia Products is subject to the risks normally associated with the conduct of businesses with
a minority shareholder.

• To the extent that we seek to further expand our business through acquisitions, we may experience issues in executing acquisitions or integrating acquired operations.

Risk Factors Related to Our Common Stock

• The price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile, which may make it difficult for you to resell the common stock when you want or at prices you find
attractive.

Risk Factors Related to Arcadia Products

North American and global economic and industry-related business conditions materially affect our sales and results of operations.

Our Arcadia Products business is significantly influenced by North American economic conditions and the cyclical nature of the North American commercial and
residential construction industry. The construction industry is impacted by macroeconomic trends, such as availability of credit, employment levels, consumer confidence,
interest rates and commodity prices. Recent rising inflation, interest rates, and construction costs have reduced, and could continue to reduce, the demand for our products and
impact our profitability. Higher interest rates make it more expensive to finance construction projects, and as a result, may reduce the demand for our products. In addition,
changes in architectural design trends, demographic trends, and/or remote work trends could negatively impact demand for our products. To the extent changes in these factors
negatively impact the overall commercial construction industry, our revenue and profits could be significantly reduced.

We may not be able to continue to compete successfully against other companies in our industry.

The markets in which Arcadia Products operates are highly competitive and many of our competitors are larger and better capitalized than we are. These competitors
may be better able to withstand changes in conditions within the industries and markets in which we operate and may have significantly greater operating and financial
flexibility than we have. Moreover, barriers to entry are low in certain product lines and new competitors may enter our industry, whether within the U.S. or internationally. An
increase in competition, including in the form of aggressive pricing by new market entrants or offerings of alternative building materials, could cause us to lose customers and
lead to decreases in net sales and profitability if we are not able to respond adequately to such challenges. The actions of our existing competitors or new competitors could
result in loss of customers and/or market share. Changes in our competitors' products, prices or services could negatively impact our market share, net sales and/or margins.

If we are unable to manage our supply chain effectively, including availability and price of materials used in our products, our results of operations will be negatively
affected.

We obtain a significant portion of our key raw materials, such as aluminum extrusions, from a few key suppliers. While we structure many of our supply arrangements to
moderate the effects of fluctuations in the market for raw aluminum and we endeavor to adjust our customer pricing to offset potential impacts, operating results could be
negatively impacted by price movements in the market for raw aluminum. In recent years, we have seen increased volatility in the price of aluminum that we purchase from our
key suppliers.
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Our suppliers are subject to fluctuations in general economic cycles. Global economic conditions and political and economic instability may impact their ability to
operate their businesses, including the ongoing military action between Russia and Ukraine and related government actions. Some of our suppliers have been and may continue
to be negatively impacted by the costs or availability of raw materials, labor and transportation, and they may not be able to handle commodity cost volatility or changing
volumes while still performing up to our specifications. These factors may cause suppliers to be unable to meet their commitments or to negatively change the terms of supply
arrangements.

The loss of, or substantial decrease in the availability of, products from our suppliers, or the loss of a key supplier, could adversely impact our financial condition and
results of operations. If any of our key suppliers are unable to meet their commitments, or if those supply arrangements are terminated, we may not be able to obtain certain raw
materials on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and may suffer a significant interruption in our ability to manufacture our products, including because it may be difficult to
find substitute or alternate suppliers as the aluminum extrusions we use are customized.

We could also be required to maintain higher inventory levels as we address supply uncertainties. Such developments would result in higher costs and potentially a
decrease in our revenues and profitability. If our supply of raw materials is disrupted or our delivery times are extended, our results of operations and financial condition could
be materially adversely affected.

An inability to successfully develop new products or improve existing products could negatively impact our ability to attract new customers and/or retain existing
customers.

Our success depends on meeting consumer needs and anticipating changes in consumer preferences with successful new products and product improvements. We aim to
introduce products and new product designs proactively to offset obsolescence and decreases in sales of existing products. While we devote significant focus to the development
of new products, we may not be successful in product development and our new products may not be commercially successful. In addition, it is possible that competitors may
improve their products more rapidly or effectively, which could adversely affect our sales. Furthermore, market demand may decline as a result of consumer preferences
trending away from our categories or trending down within our brands or product categories, which could adversely impact our results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition.

Product quality issues and product liability claims could adversely affect our operating results.

We believe that future orders of our products will depend on our ability to maintain the performance, reliability, quality and timely delivery standards required by our
customers. We have in the past been and currently are subject to product liability and warranty claims. If our products have performance, reliability or quality problems, or
products are installed improperly, we may experience additional warranty expense; reduced or canceled orders; or delays in the collection of accounts receivable. Additionally,
product liability and warranty claims could result in costly and time-consuming litigation that could require significant time and attention of management and involve significant
monetary damages that could negatively impact our operating results. There is no assurance that the number and value of product liability and warranty claims will not increase
as compared to historical claim rates, or that our warranty reserve at any particular time will be sufficient. No assurance can be given that coverage under insurance policies, if
applicable, will be adequate to cover future product liability claims against us. If we are unable to recover on insurance claims, in whole or in part, or if we exhaust our available
insurance coverage at some point in the future, then we might be forced to expend legal fees and settlement or judgment costs relating to product liability and warranty claims,
which could negatively impact our profitability, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We recently implemented a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system, and challenges with the implementation of the system may adversely impact our
business and operations.

Phase one of a new ERP system went live in July 2023. While the ERP changeover led to a brief operational slowdown early in the third quarter, the system is expected
to enhance operating efficiencies and the internal control environment throughout Arcadia by streamlining data sources, simplifying complex processes, and reducing manual
processes. Any disruptions, deficiencies, or other problems associated with the implementation of our ERP system, such as quality issues, programming errors, or inconsistent
employee adoption could adversely affect our ability to operate our business, produce timely and accurate financial statements, or comply with applicable regulations. This
could result in negative impacts on our business and operations. Additionally, the implementation involves greater utilization of third-party cloud computing services in
connection with our Arcadia operations. Problems faced by us or our third-party providers relating to this implementation, including technological or business-related
disruptions and cybersecurity threats, could adversely impact our business, results of operations, and financial condition for future periods. Any failures identified within our
internal controls as a result of this
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implementation, even if quickly remediated, or difficulties encountered during implementation, may adversely impact our operating results or hinder our ability to report our
financial results in a timely and accurate basis.

Risk Factors Related to DynaEnergetics

Demand for DynaEnergetics’ products is substantially dependent on the levels of capital expenditures by the oil and gas industry. Decreases or expected decreases in
oil and gas prices and reduced expenditures in the oil and gas industry could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.

Demand for the majority of DynaEnergetics' products depends substantially on the level of expenditures by the oil and gas industry for the exploration, development and
production of oil and natural gas reserves. These expenditures are generally dependent on the industry’s view of future oil and natural gas prices and are sensitive to the
industry’s view of future economic growth and the resulting impact on demand for oil and natural gas. Higher oil and gas prices have resulted in increasing North American
completion activity and increased expenditures by the oil and gas industry. This has resulted in increased cash flows for E&P companies; however, E&P companies are still
seeking to control their cost of operations and this has continued to contribute to downward pressure on prices for our products. In addition, the oil and gas industry has
historically been cyclical, and to date in 2024, oil prices have declined significantly from their 2022 highs. When oil prices decline, we would expect an increased risk of
reduced or delayed oil and gas exploration and production spending, project modifications, delays or cancellations, general business disruptions, and delays in payment of, or
nonpayment of, amounts that are owed to us, all of which could result in reduced demand for our products, downward pressure on selling prices for our products and decreased
revenues and profits. These effects would likely have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The prices for oil and natural gas have historically been volatile and can be affected by a variety of factors, including:

• changes in the supply of and demand for hydrocarbons, which are affected by general economic, business and regulatory conditions;
• the ability or willingness of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and other oil producing companies to set and maintain production levels for

oil;
• oil and gas production levels in the U.S. and in other non-OPEC countries;
• the level of excess production capacity;
• speculation as to the future price of oil and the speculative trading of oil and natural gas futures contracts;
• government initiatives to restrict oil and gas drilling or development or promote the use of renewable energy sources and public sentiment regarding the same;
• political and economic uncertainty, geopolitical unrest, and acts of war;
• the level of worldwide oil and gas exploration and production activity;
• access to potential resources;
• changes in governmental policies, subsidies, or sanctions;
• the costs of exploring for, producing and delivering oil and gas;
• technological advances affecting energy consumption; and
• weather conditions.

Continued or worsening conditions in the oil and gas industry generally may have a further material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and prospects.

Failure to adjust our manufacturing and supply chain to accurately meet customer demands could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We make significant decisions, including determining the levels of business that we will seek and accept, production schedules, levels of reliance on contract
manufacturing and outsourcing, internal fabrication utilization and other resource requirements, based on our estimates of customer requirements. Factors that can impact our
ability to accurately estimate future customer requirements include the short-term nature of many customers’ commitments, our customers’ ability to reschedule, cancel and
modify orders with little or no notice and without significant penalty, the accuracy of our customers’ forecasts, and seasonal or cyclical trends in customers' industries.

To ensure availability of our products, particularly for our largest customers, we may start manufacturing our relevant products based on our customers’ forecasts, which
are not binding. As a result, we incur inventory and manufacturing costs in advance of anticipated sales that may never materialize or which may be substantially lower than
expected. If actual demand for our products is lower than forecast, we may also experience higher inventory carrying and operating costs and product
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obsolescence. Because certain of our sales, research and development, and internal manufacturing overhead expenses are relatively fixed, a reduction in customer demand may
also decrease our gross margin and operating income.

Conversely, customers often require rapid increases in production on short notice. We may be unable to secure sufficient materials or contract manufacturing capacity to
meet such increases in demand. This could damage our customer relationships, reduce revenue growth and margins, subject us to additional liabilities, harm our reputation, and
prevent us from taking advantage of opportunities.

Failure to manage periods of growth or contraction may seriously harm our business.

Our industry frequently sees periods of expansion and contraction which require companies to adjust to customers’ needs and market demands. We regularly contend
with these issues and must carefully manage our business to meet customer and market requirements. If we fail to manage these growth and contraction decisions effectively,
we may find ourselves with either excess or insufficient resources and our business and our profitability could suffer as a result.

Periods of contraction or reduced net sales, or other factors negatively affecting particular markets, require us to assess whether facilities remain viable, whether staffing
levels need to be reduced, and how to respond to changing levels of customer demand. While maintaining excess capacity or higher levels of employment entails short-term
costs, reductions in capacity or employment could impair our ability to respond to new opportunities and programs, market improvements or to maintain customer relationships.
Our decisions to reduce costs and capacity can affect our short-term and long-term results and result in restructuring charges.

Expansions, including the transfer of operations to other facilities, include the risk of additional costs and start-up inefficiencies. If we are unable to effectively manage
our expansion projects or related anticipated net sales are not realized, our operating results could be materially adversely affected.

We may not be able to continue to compete successfully against other companies in our industry.

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive. DynaEnergetics competes with a broad spectrum of companies that produce and market perforating services and
products. Many of these companies are large national and multi-national companies, including the oil and natural gas industry’s largest oilfield service providers. These
companies have longer operating histories, greater financial, technical, and other resources, and greater name recognition than we do. In addition, we compete with many
smaller companies capable of competing effectively on a regional or local basis. Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and
changes in customer requirements. To remain competitive, DynaEnergetics must continue to provide innovative products at competitive prices and maintain an excellent
reputation for value, quality, on-time delivery, and safety. If we fail to compete successfully against our competition, we may be unable to maintain acceptable sales levels,
prices and margins for our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations

Recent conflict in the Middle East may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Recent conflict in the Middle East has resulted in volatility in oil prices due to concerns regarding the conflict’s impact on global oil supplies. Continued conflict or an
expanded or increased level of conflict could further impact oil prices and drilling activity globally or have adverse effects on global macroeconomic conditions generally,
which could have a negative impact on our business and results of operations.

If we are not able to design, develop, and produce commercially competitive products in a timely manner in response to changes in the market, customer
requirements, competitive pressures, and technology trends, our business and consolidated results of operations and the value of our intellectual property could be
materially and adversely affected.

The market for our products is characterized by continual technological developments to provide better and more reliable performance and enhanced product offerings. If
we are not able to design, develop, and produce commercially competitive products in a timely manner in response to changes in the market, customer requirements,
competitive pressures, and technology trends, our business and consolidated results of operations and the value of our intellectual property could be materially and adversely
affected. Likewise, if our proprietary technologies, equipment, facilities, or work processes become obsolete, we may no longer be competitive, and our business and
consolidated results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We may be unable to successfully execute and realize the expected financial benefits from strategic initiatives.
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From time to time, our business has engaged in strategic initiatives, and such activities may occur in the future. These efforts have recently included a series of
automation, lean manufacturing and cost-reduction initiatives designed to enhance profitability and improve quality. While we expect meaningful financial benefits from our
strategic initiatives, we may not realize the full benefits expected within the anticipated timeframe. Adverse effects from strategy-driven organizational changes could interfere
with our realization of anticipated synergies, customer service improvements and cost savings from these strategic initiatives. Additionally, our ability to fully realize the
benefits and implement strategic initiatives may be limited by certain contractual commitments. Moreover, we may incur substantial expenses in connection with the execution
of strategic plans in excess of what is forecasted. Further, strategic initiatives can be a complex and time-consuming process that can place substantial demands on management,
which could divert attention from other business priorities or disrupt our daily operations. Any of these failures could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows, which could constrain our liquidity.

Demand for DynaEnergetics products could be reduced by existing and future legislation, regulations and public sentiment.

Regulatory agencies and environmental advocacy groups in the United States, the E.U., and other regions or countries have been focusing considerable attention on
emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other greenhouse gases and their role in climate change. There is also increased focus, including by governments and our customers,
investors and other stakeholders, on these and other sustainability and energy transition matters. Existing or future legislation and regulations related to greenhouse gas
emissions and climate change, as well as initiatives by governments, non-governmental organizations, and companies to conserve energy or promote the use of alternative
energy sources, and negative attitudes toward or perceptions of fossil fuel products and their relationship to the environment, may significantly curtail demand for and
production of oil and gas in areas of the world where our customers operate, and thus reduce future demand for DynaEnergetics products.

In addition, some international, national, state and local governments and agencies have also adopted laws and regulations or are evaluating proposed legislation and
regulations that are focused on directly limiting the extraction of shale gas or oil using hydraulic fracturing. These laws and regulations could limit oil and gas development,
lead to operational delays and increased costs for our customers, and therefore reduce demand for DynaEnergetics' products. Such reductions in demand for our products may, in
turn, adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Increased negative investor sentiment toward oil and gas and preference for assets outside of traditional energy sectors could lead to higher capital costs for our
customers and reduced investment in fossil fuels, thereby reducing demand for our products. Such preferences could also impact our ability to obtain acceptable debt or equity
financing on attractive terms or at all and could negatively impact our stock price over time. Our business, reputation and demand for our stock could be negatively affected if
we do not (or are perceived to not) act responsibly with respect to sustainability matters.

Consolidation of our customers and competitors may impact our results of operations.

The oil and gas industry has historically experienced periods of consolidation which may result in reduced capital spending by some of our customers, the acquisition of
one or more of our primary customers, or competitors and consolidated entities using size and purchasing power to seek pricing or other concessions, which may lead to
decreased demand for our products. We are continuing to experience significant customer concentration and customer consolidation, resulting in certain customers having
substantial pricing power, which has negatively impacted our margins and profitability. During the year ended December 31, 2023, one DynaEnergetics customer accounted for
approximately 15% of consolidated net sales of the Company. In addition, recent, ongoing and future mergers, combinations and consolidations in our industry could result in
existing competitors increasing their market share. As a result, industry consolidation may have a significant negative impact on our results of operations, financial position or
cash flows.

Risk Factors Related to NobelClad

NobelClad’s business is dependent on sales to a limited number of customers in cyclical markets and our results are affected by the price of metals.

NobelClad revenues are affected both by the demand for NobelClad’s explosion-welded cladding services and the base price of metal used in explosion-welded cladding
operations. The explosion-welded cladding market is dependent upon sales of products for use by customers in a limited number of heavy industries, including oil and gas,
chemicals and petrochemicals, alternative energy, hydrometallurgy, aluminum production, shipbuilding, rail car manufacturing, power generation, and industrial refrigeration.
These industries tend to be cyclical in nature and an economic slowdown in one or all of these
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industries-whether due to traditional cyclicality, general economic conditions or other factors-could impact capital expenditures within that industry. Inflationary conditions in
many markets, have created uncertainty in our end markets, and we have seen continued delays in projects and capital expenditures. In addition, metals prices affect the demand
for cladded products and our margins. Although higher metal prices increase demand for use of cladded materials over solid metals, lead to higher sales (in terms of dollars
rather than square meters of cladding) and generally higher margins for NobelClad, metal pricing is volatile. We have recently experienced several years of a low-metals-price
environment, which significantly reduced demand for clad product and overall sales. In the last two years, the price of metals has increased substantially. However, there can be
no assurance that prices will remain at these levels and supply chain difficulties and other uncertainties have disrupted projects and normal sales cycles. If demand or metals
prices decline or if supply chain issues or similar disruptions persist, our sales would be adversely affected, and this could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We are dependent on a relatively small number of large projects and customers for a significant portion of our net sales.

A significant portion of our net sales is derived from a relatively small number of projects and customers; therefore, the failure to complete existing contracts on a timely
basis, to receive payment for such services in a timely manner, or to enter into future contracts at projected volumes and profitability levels could adversely affect our ability to
meet cash requirements exclusively through operating activities. We attempt to minimize the risk of losing customers or specific contracts by continually improving commercial
execution and product quality, delivering product on time and competing aggressively on the basis of price. We expect to continue to depend upon our principal customers for a
significant portion of our sales, although our principal customers may not continue to purchase products and services from us at current levels, if at all. The loss of one or more
major customers or a change in their buying patterns could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our backlog figures may not accurately predict future sales.

We use backlog to predict our anticipated future sales. Our year-end backlog was $59.4 million, $55.5 million, and $41.2 million at the end of fiscal years 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively. We define “backlog” at any given point in time to consist of all firm, unfulfilled purchase orders and commitments at that time. We expect to fill most
items in backlog within the following twelve months. However, since orders may be rescheduled or canceled and a significant portion of our net sales is derived from a small
number of customers, backlog is not necessarily indicative of future sales levels. Moreover, we cannot be sure of when during the future twelve-month period we will be able to
recognize revenue corresponding to our backlog nor can we be certain that revenues corresponding to our backlog will not fall into periods beyond the twelve-month horizon.

There is a limited availability of sites suitable for cladding operations.

Our cladding process involves the detonation of large amounts of explosives. As a result, the sites where we perform cladding must meet certain criteria, including
adequate distance from densely populated areas, specific geological characteristics, and the ability to comply with local noise and vibration abatement regulations in conducting
the process. Our shooting sites in Pennsylvania and in Germany are located in mines. Our Pennsylvania shooting site is subleased under an arrangement pursuant to which we
provide certain contractual services to the sub-landlord, and this sublease expires in 2029. Our shooting sites require ongoing maintenance and investment, and failure to
adequately maintain these sites could result in reduced access or capacity constraints. In addition, we could experience difficulty in obtaining or renewing permits because of
resistance from residents in the vicinity of existing or proposed sites. The failure to obtain required governmental approvals or permits could limit our ability to expand our
cladding business in the future, and the failure to maintain such permits or satisfy other conditions to use the sites would have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

There is no assurance that we will continue to compete successfully against other manufacturers of competitive products.

Our explosion-welded clad products compete on a worldwide basis with explosion-welded clad products made by other manufacturers in the clad metal business and with
products manufactured using other technologies. We see competition from large well-known clad suppliers and from a growing number of smaller companies with explosion
welded clad manufacturing capability in China and India. Explosion-welded clad products also compete with products manufactured by roll bond and weld overlay cladding
processes. The technical and commercial niches of each cladding process are well understood within the industry and vary from one market location to another and at different
metal prices. We focus on reliability, product quality, on-time delivery performance, and low-cost manufacturing to minimize the potential of future competitive threats.
However, there is no guarantee we will be able to maintain our competitive position.
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Customers have the right to change orders until products are completed.

Customers have some rights to change orders after they have been placed. If orders are changed, the extra expenses associated with the change usually will be passed on
to the customer. However, because a change in an order may delay completion of the project, recognition of income for the project may also be delayed. Additionally, any
errors or changes as to specifications or significant changes in pricing or availability of materials may cause cost overruns and delays in completion of projects. If we fail to
meet delivery schedules, we may be required to pay damages or may risk loss of an order, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our costs could substantially increase if we experience a large claim or a significant number of warranty claims.

Our product warranties against technical defects of our clad products vary depending on our purchase orders with customers. The warranties require us to repair or
replace defective products and may require the payment of a certain percentage of the purchase price as liquidated damages for our failure to meet the specified product
specifications and delivery requirements. In addition, our clad products are often used as part of larger projects or are used in potentially hazardous applications that can cause
injury or loss of life and damage to property or equipment. In the event of an actual or alleged product defect, we may be named as a defendant in product liability or other
lawsuits asserting potentially large claims. We cannot guarantee that insurance will be available or adequate to cover any or all liabilities incurred. We generally have not
established any reserve funds for potential warranty claims since historically we have experienced few warranty claims for our products and the costs associated with our
warranty claims have been low. If we experience an increase in warranty claims or if our repair and replacement costs associated with warranty claims increase significantly, it
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Risk Factors Related to our Businesses Generally

Our efforts to grow and transform our businesses may require significant investments; if our strategies are unsuccessful, our business, results of operations and/or
financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

We continuously evaluate opportunities for growth and change. These initiatives may involve making acquisitions, entering into partnerships and joint ventures,
divesting assets, restructuring our existing operations and assets, creating new financial structures and building new facilities—any of which could require a significant
investment and subject us to new risks. We may incur additional indebtedness to finance these opportunities. If our strategies for growth and change are not successful, we could
face increased financial pressure, such as increased cash flow demands, reduced liquidity and diminished access to financial markets, and the equity value of our businesses
could be diluted.

The implementation of strategies for growth and change may create additional risks, including:

● diversion of management time and attention away from existing operations;

● requiring capital investment that could otherwise be used for the operation and growth of our existing businesses;

● disruptions to important business relationships;

● increased operating costs;

● limitations imposed by various governmental entities; and

● difficulties due to lack of or limited prior experience in any new markets we may enter.

Our inability to mitigate these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our strategies for growth and change could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we may fail to fully achieve the savings or growth projected for current or future initiatives notwithstanding
the expenditure of substantial resources in pursuit thereof.
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Our review of potential strategic alternatives may not result in executed or consummated transactions or other strategic alternatives, and the process of reviewing
strategic alternatives or its conclusion could adversely affect our business and our stockholders.

In January 2024, we announced that we are reviewing potential strategic alternatives for DynaEnergetics and NobelClad aimed at maximizing value for our shareholders.
The potential strategic alternatives include, among other things, a sale, a merger or other business combination of a portion of our business-unit assets, and/or a strategic
investment. We are actively working with a financial advisor and may retain other advisors to assist the Board in evaluating our current strategy, operations, and capital
structure.

Any potential transaction or other strategic alternative would be dependent on a number of factors that may be beyond our control, including, among other things, market
conditions, industry trends, regulatory approvals, and the availability of financing for a potential transaction on reasonable terms. The process of reviewing potential strategic
alternatives is time consuming and may be distracting and disruptive to our business operations and long-term planning, which may cause concern to our current or potential
customers, employees, investors, strategic partners and other constituencies and may have a material impact on our business and operating results or result in increased volatility
in our share price. We expect to incur substantial expenses associated with identifying, evaluating and negotiating potential strategic alternatives. There can be no assurance that
any potential transaction or other strategic alternative, if consummated, will provide greater value to our stockholders than that reflected in the current price of our common
stock. Until the review process is concluded, perceived uncertainties related to our future may result in the loss of potential business opportunities, volatility in the market price
of our common stock and difficulty attracting and retaining qualified talent and business partners. Similarly, activist investors may engage in proxy solicitations or advance
shareholder proposals, or otherwise attempt to affect changes and assert influence on our Board and management, which could lead to the impacts on our business, Board,
management and employees discussed above.

Our operations are subject to political and economic instability and risk of government actions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated
results of operations, and consolidated financial condition.

We are exposed to risks inherent in doing business in each of the countries in which we operate. Our operations are subject to various risks unique to each country that
could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated results of operations, and consolidated financial condition. With respect to any particular country, these risks
may include:

• political, social and economic instability;
• civil unrest, acts of terrorism, force majeure, war, other armed conflict;
• public health crises and catastrophic events;
• inflation;
• currency fluctuations, devaluations, conversion, or repatriation restrictions;
• expropriation and nationalization of our assets;
• confiscatory taxation or other adverse tax policies;
• theft of, or lack of sufficient legal protection for, proprietary technology and other intellectual property;
• limitations on extraction of shale gas or oil using hydraulic fracturing;
• limitations on or disruptions to our markets or operations, restrictions on payments, or limitations on the movement of funds;
• increased tariffs;
• trade and economic sanctions or other restrictions;
• unexpected changes in legal and regulatory requirements, including changes in interpretation or enforcement of existing laws;
• deprivation of contract rights; and
• the inability to obtain or retain licenses required for operation.

Inflation and higher interest rates have, and may continue to, adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.

Increases in the cost of wages, materials, parts, equipment, transportation and other operational components over the past two years have adversely affected our results of
operations, cash flows and financial position by increasing our overall cost structure, and could continue to do so, particularly if we are unable to achieve commensurate
increases in the prices we charge our customers for our products. In addition, higher interest rates in the U.S. have increased the cost of debt borrowing, which decreases cash
available for debt repayment, investment, and acquisitions.
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Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by disruptions in the global and European economies caused by the ongoing
military action between Russia and Ukraine.

In February of 2022, Russian military forces invaded Ukraine, resulting in conflict and disruption in the region. The length, impact and outcome of the ongoing military
conflict in Ukraine is highly unpredictable. This conflict has led and may continue to lead to significant market and other disruptions, including significant volatility in
commodity prices and supply of energy resources, instability in financial markets, higher inflation, supply chain interruptions, increased costs for transportation and raw
materials, political and social instability, as well as an increase in cyberattacks and espionage. Furthermore, governments in the United States, the European Union, the United
Kingdom, Canada and others have imposed financial and economic sanctions on certain industry segments and various parties in Russia. We continue to monitor the conflict
including the potential impact of financial and economic sanctions on the global economy and particularly the economies of Europe. Increased trade barriers, sanctions and
other restrictions on global or regional trade could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further escalation of geopolitical tensions related
to this military conflict and/or its expansion could result in loss of property, expropriation, cyberattacks, supply disruptions, plant closures and an inability to obtain key supplies
and materials, as well as adversely affect both our and our customers' supply chains and logistics, particularly in Europe.

In many cases, both our German operations and those of European customers and suppliers depend on the availability of natural gas for use in their manufacturing
operations. A significant proportion of Germany's natural gas supply has historically originated from Russia. Material disruptions of natural gas supply to Europe and in
particular Germany, whether from sanctions, counter-measures by Russia, other restrictions, damage to infrastructure and logistics or otherwise from the destabilizing effects of
military conflict could materially and adversely impact European and global natural gas and oil markets. We expect that shortages in supply and increases in costs of natural gas
or other energy will adversely impact our ability to operate our German manufacturing facilities as efficiently and cost-effectively as previously, which could adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operating results fluctuate from quarter to quarter.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, fluctuations in annual and quarterly operating results caused by various factors at our businesses. At
NobelClad, quarterly sales and operating results depend on the volume and timing of the orders in our backlog as well as bookings during the quarter. At DynaEnergetics, the
level of demand from our customers is impacted by oil and gas prices as well as a variety of other factors and can vary significantly from quarter to quarter. At Arcadia
Products, operating results can fluctuate due to price movements in the market for raw aluminum. Portions of our operating expenses are fixed, and planned expenditures are
based primarily on sales forecasts and product development programs. If sales do not meet our expectations in any given period, the adverse impact on operating results may be
magnified by our inability to adjust operating expenses sufficiently or quickly enough to compensate for such a shortfall. Results of operations in any period should not be
considered indicative of the results for any future period.

We are exposed to potentially volatile fluctuations of the U.S. dollar (our reporting currency) against the currencies of many of our operating subsidiaries.

Many of our operating subsidiaries conduct business in euros, Canadian dollars, or other foreign currencies. Sales made in currencies other than U.S. dollars accounted
for 9%, 6%, and 16% of total sales for the years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Any increase or decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar against any foreign currency
that is the functional currency of any of our operating subsidiaries will cause us to experience foreign currency translation gains or losses with respect to amounts already
invested in such foreign currencies. In addition, our company and our operating subsidiaries are exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that we or they enter into
transactions denominated in currencies other than our or their respective functional currencies. For example, DynaEnergetics Europe's functional currency is euros, but its sales
often occur in U.S. dollars. Changes in exchange rates with respect to these items will result in unrealized (based upon period-end exchange rates) or realized foreign currency
transaction gains and losses upon settlement of the transactions. In addition, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations related to our operating subsidiaries’ assets
and liabilities and to the financial results of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates when their respective financial statements are translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion in our
Consolidated Financial Statements. Cumulative translation adjustments are recorded in other cumulative comprehensive loss as a separate component of equity. Our primary
exposure to foreign currency risk is the euro, due to the percentage of our U.S. dollar revenue that is derived from countries where the euro is the functional currency. We use
foreign currency forward contracts, generally with maturities of one month, to offset foreign exchange rate fluctuations on certain foreign currency denominated asset and
liability account balances. These hedge transactions relate to our operating entities with significant economic exposure to transactions denominated in currencies other than their
functional currency. Our primary economic
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exposures include the U.S. dollar to the euro, the U.S. dollar to the Canadian dollar, and the euro to the U.S. dollar. Since the underlying balance sheet account balances being
hedged can fluctuate significantly throughout our monthly hedge periods, our hedging program cannot fully protect against foreign currency fluctuations.

Disruptions or delays involving our suppliers or increases in prices for the components, raw materials and parts that we obtain from our suppliers could have a
material adverse effect on our business and consolidated results of operations.

Our operations are dependent upon the continued ability of our suppliers to deliver the components, raw materials and parts that we need to manufacture our products. In
some instances, we purchase components, raw materials and parts that are ultimately derived from a single source and may be at an increased risk for supply disruptions. Any
number of factors, including labor disruptions, acts of war or terrorism, military activity, trade sanctions, catastrophic weather events, the occurrence of a pandemic or other
widespread illness (such as the resurgence of COVID-19), contractual or other disputes, unfavorable economic or industry conditions, transportation disruptions, delivery delays
or other performance problems or financial difficulties or solvency problems, could disrupt our suppliers’ operations and performance, which could, in turn, lead to uncertainty
in our supply chain or cause supply disruptions for us and disrupt our operations. If we experience supply disruptions, we may not be able to develop alternate sourcing quickly.
Any disruption of our production schedule caused by an unexpected shortage of components, raw materials or parts even for a relatively short period of time could cause us to
alter production schedules or suspend production entirely, which would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The terms of our indebtedness contain a number of restrictive covenants, the breach of any of which could result in acceleration of payment of our credit facilities.

As of December 31, 2023, we had an outstanding balance of $117.5 million on our syndicated credit agreement, which was subsequently amended on February 6, 2024.
This agreement, as amended, includes various covenants and restrictions and certain of these relate to the incurrence of additional indebtedness and the mortgaging, pledging or
disposing of major assets. We are also required to maintain certain financial ratios on a quarterly basis. A breach of any of these covenants could impair our ability to borrow
and could result in acceleration of our obligations to repay our debt if we are unable to obtain a waiver or amendment from our lenders. As of December 31, 2023, we were in
compliance with all financial covenants and other provisions of the credit agreement, as amended, and our other loan agreements. Any failure to remain in compliance with any
material provision or covenant of our credit agreement could result in a default, which would, absent a waiver or amendment, require immediate repayment of outstanding
indebtedness under our credit facilities. We may not have or be able to obtain sufficient funds to satisfy such a repayment obligation.

If our customers delay paying or fail to pay a significant amount of our outstanding receivables, it could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, consolidated
results of operations, and consolidated financial condition.

We depend on a limited number of significant customers in our DynaEnergetics and NobelClad businesses, and the loss of one or more significant customers or the
failure of a customer to pay outstanding amounts due could have a material adverse effect on our business and our consolidated results of operations. In most cases, we bill our
customers for our services in arrears and are, therefore, subject to the risk that our customers will delay payment of or fail to pay our invoices. In weak economic environments,
we may experience increased delays and failures due to, among other reasons, a reduction in our customers’ cash flow from operations, their access to the credit markets and
rising interest rates. If our customers delay paying or fail to pay us a significant amount of our outstanding receivables, it could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity,
consolidated results of operations, and consolidated financial condition.

New or existing tariffs and other trade measures could adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

New or existing tariffs and other trade measures could adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows, either directly or indirectly through
various adverse impacts on our significant customers. In 2018, the U.S. announced tariffs of 25 percent on steel and 10 percent on aluminum imported from countries where we
typically source metals. These tariffs were met with retaliatory tariffs from certain countries and increased, broader tariffs were levied by the U.S. on targeted countries,
including China. Certain of these tariffs have been modified; however, impacts and uncertainties are continuing. The tariffs impacted the cost of the importation of steel, which
we utilize in our steel plate and steel pipe, key materials in our NobelClad and DynaEnergetics businesses. Though in many cases we have been able to source metals from
domestic suppliers, some materials are only available from sources subject to tariffs. The cost of domestic steel and aluminum has also increased, along with the price of
delivery, and the availability of certain materials has been limited. These higher costs have increased the price of our products to our customers and, in some instances, affected
our ability to be competitive. For our
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NobelClad business, this impacts our ability to compete on international projects and negatively impacts U.S. fabricators, which are the primary consumers of NobelClad
products. Although some of these tariffs have been subsequently reduced or eliminated, as occurred in connection with the United States Mexico Canada Agreement (USMCA),
many tariffs continue to exist and new tariffs have been and may be imposed at any time. The prolonged duration of tariffs, the imposition of additional tariffs and the risk of
potential broader global trade conflicts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Failure to attract and retain key personnel and source sufficient labor could adversely affect our current operating results.

Our continued success depends to a large extent upon the efforts and abilities of key managerial and technical employees, and our ability to secure sufficient
manufacturing labor. In 2023, there were significant changes in our management team, including the appointment of Michael Kuta as Chief Executive Officer (following his
prior service as Chief Financial Officer and interim co-Chief Executive Officer), the appointment of Eric Walter as Chief Financial Officer, the appointment of Brett Seger as
Chief Accounting Officer, and the appointment of James Chilcoff as Arcadia Products President. Our current and future success is dependent on the retention of these and other
executive officers, key employees and directors. The loss or unavailability of any key personnel could have an adverse effect on the Company’s leadership, ability to execute
our strategy, financial condition and results of operations.

In order to meet the needs and expectations of our customers and to achieve our growth objectives, we must attract, train, and retain a large number of hourly associates,
while at the same time controlling labor costs. These positions have historically had high turnover rates, which can lead to increased training, retention and other costs. In certain
areas where we operate, there is significant competition for employees, and we must ensure that we continue to offer competitive wages, benefits and workplace conditions to
retain qualified employees, which increases our labor costs. A shortage of qualified candidates who meet all legal work authorization requirements, failure to hire and retain
new employees in a timely manner or higher than expected turnover levels could affect our ability to meet customer demand, grow our businesses and meet our labor cost
objectives and could have impacts on employee satisfaction generally. Failure to adequately monitor and proactively respond to employee dissatisfaction could lead to higher
turnover, litigation and unionization efforts, which could negatively impact our ability to meet our operating results.

A failure in our information technology systems or those of third parties, including those caused by security breaches, cyber-attacks or data protection failures, could
disrupt our business, result in significant legal costs and other losses and damage our reputation.

We are dependent upon information technology systems in the conduct of our operations. Our information technology systems are subject to disruption, damage or
failure from a variety of sources, including, without limitation, computer viruses, security breaches, cyber-attacks, natural disasters and defects in design. Cybersecurity
incidents in particular are evolving and include, but are not limited to, malicious software, attempts to gain unauthorized access to data and banking information and other
electronic security breaches that could lead to disruptions in systems, unauthorized release of confidential or otherwise protected information and the corruption of data. The risk
of cybersecurity incidents may increase with political and economic instability or warfare (including the ongoing hostilities between Russia and Ukraine). Various measures
have been implemented to manage our risks related to information technology systems and network disruptions. However, given the unpredictability of the timing, nature and
scope of information technology disruptions, we could potentially be subject to production downtimes, operational delays, the compromising of confidential or otherwise
protected information, destruction or corruption of data, security breaches, theft, other manipulation or improper use of our systems and networks or financial losses from
remedial actions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, competitive position, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, a data
breach could result in negative publicity which could damage our reputation and have an adverse effect on our results of operations and our stock price.

We outsource certain technology and business process functions to third parties and may increasingly do so in the future. If we do not effectively develop, implement
and monitor our outsourcing strategy, if third party providers do not perform as anticipated or if we experience technological or other problems with a transition, we may not
realize productivity improvements or cost efficiencies and may experience operational difficulties, increased costs and loss of business. Our outsourcing of certain technology
and business processes to third parties may expose us to enhanced risks related to data security, which could result in monetary and reputational damages. In addition, our ability
to receive services from third party providers may be impacted by cultural differences, political instability, and unanticipated regulatory requirements or policies. As a result,
our ability to conduct our business may be adversely affected.
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Failure to establish and maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting could result in the inability to report our financial results in a timely and
reliable manner, which could harm our business and impact the value of our securities.

We depend on our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements in order to run our business. If we fail to do so, our business could be negatively affected
and our independent registered public accounting firm may be unable to attest to the fair presentation of our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and to effectively prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports and
effectively prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results could be harmed. Even effective internal controls have inherent limitations including the possibility of human
error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Therefore, even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting in future periods are subject to the
risk that the control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or a deterioration in the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures.

If we fail to maintain adequate internal controls, including any failure to implement new or improved controls as may be required by acquisitions or other changes in our
business, or if we experience difficulties in their execution, we could fail to meet our reporting obligations, and there could be a material adverse effect on our business and
financial results. In the event that our current internal control practices deteriorate, we may be unable to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud, and investor
confidence and the market price of our stock may be adversely affected.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

Our operations require us to comply with numerous laws and regulations, violations of which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of
operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Our operations are subject to international, regional, national, and local laws and regulations in every place where we operate, relating to matters such as environmental
protection, health and safety, labor and employment, import/export controls, currency exchange, bribery and corruption, data privacy and cybersecurity, intellectual property,
immigration, and taxation. These laws and regulations are complex, frequently change, and have tended to become more stringent over time. In the event the scope of these laws
and regulations expands in the future, the incremental cost of compliance could adversely affect our consolidated financial condition, consolidated results of operations, or
consolidated cash flows.

Our international operations are subject to anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws and regulations, such as the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act and other similar laws. We are
also subject to trade control regulations and trade sanctions laws that restrict the movement of certain goods to, and certain operations in, various countries or with certain
persons. These trade regulations and laws can include restrictions on selling or importing goods, services or technology in or from affected regions, travel bans and asset freezes
impacting connected individuals and political, military, business and financial organizations and can change very quickly, such as has occurred in connection with Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine. Our ability to transfer people, products and data among certain countries is subject to maintaining required licenses and complying with these laws and
regulations.

The internal controls, policies and procedures, and employee training and compliance programs we have implemented to deter prohibited practices may not be effective
in preventing employees, contractors or agents from violating or circumventing such internal policies or from material violations of applicable laws and regulations. Any
determination that we have violated or are responsible for violations of anti-bribery, trade control, trade sanctions or anti-corruption laws could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition. Violations of international and U.S. laws and regulations or the loss of any required licenses may result in fines and penalties, criminal sanctions,
administrative remedies or restrictions on business conduct, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and financial condition. In addition, any major
violations could have a significant effect on our reputation and consequently on our ability to win future business and maintain existing customer and supplier relationships.

The use of explosives in our DynaEnergetics and NobelClad manufacturing processes and products subject us to additional environmental, health and safety laws and
any accidents or injuries could subject us to significant liabilities.

DynaEnergetics uses explosive materials in its manufacturing processes and products. NobelClad’s manufacturing process involves the detonation of large quantities of
explosives. The use of explosives is an inherently dangerous activity. These activities subject us to extensive environmental and health and safety laws and regulations including
guidelines and regulations for the purchase, manufacture, handling, transport, storage and use of explosives issued by the U.S. Bureau of
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Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms; the Federal Motor Carrier Safety regulations set forth by the U.S. Department of Transportation; the Safety Library Publications of the Institute
of Makers of Explosive; and similar guidelines of their European counterparts. In Germany, the transport, storage and use of explosives is governed by a permit issued under
the Explosives Act (Sprengstoffgesetz).

Despite our use of specialized facilities to store and handle dangerous materials and our employee training programs, the storage and handling of explosive materials
could result in explosive incidents that temporarily shut down or otherwise disrupt our or our customers’ operations or cause restrictions, delays or cancellations in the delivery
of our services. It is possible that such an explosion could result in death or significant injuries to employees and other persons. Material property damage to us, our customers
and third parties arising from an explosion or resulting fire could also occur. Any explosion could expose us to adverse publicity and liability for damages or cause production
restrictions, delays or cancellations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial condition and cash flows. Moreover, failure to comply
with applicable requirements or the occurrence of an explosive incident may also result in the loss of our license to store and handle explosives, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial conditions.

Demand for our products could be reduced by existing and future legislation, regulations and public sentiment.

Regulatory agencies and environmental advocacy groups in the United States, the E.U., and other regions or countries have been focusing considerable attention on the
emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other greenhouse gases and their role in climate change. There is also increased focus, including by governments and our customers,
investors and other stakeholders, on these and other sustainability and energy transition matters. Existing or future legislation and regulations related to greenhouse gas
emissions and climate change, as well as initiatives by governments, non-governmental organizations, and companies to conserve energy or promote the use of alternative
energy sources, and negative attitudes toward or perceptions of fossil fuel products and their relationship to the environment, may significantly curtail demand for and
production of oil and gas in areas of the world where our customers operate, and thus reduce future demand for some of our products.

In addition, some international, national, state and local governments and agencies have also adopted laws and regulations or are evaluating proposed legislation and
regulations that are focused on directly limiting the extraction of shale gas or oil using hydraulic fracturing. These laws and regulations could limit oil and gas development,
lead to operational delays and increased costs for our customers, and therefore reduce demand for our products. Such reductions in demand for our products may, in turn,
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Increased negative investor sentiment toward oil and gas and preference for assets outside of traditional energy sectors could lead to higher capital costs for our
customers and reduced investment in fossil fuels, thereby reducing demand for our products. Such preferences could also impact our ability to obtain acceptable debt or equity
financing on attractive terms or at all and could negatively impact our stock price over time. Our business, reputation and demand for our stock could be negatively affected if
we do not (or are perceived to not) act responsibly with respect to sustainability matters.

We are subject to extensive environmental, health and safety laws and failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in restrictions or prohibitions on
our facilities, substantial civil or criminal liabilities and could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated results of operations, and consolidated
financial condition.

We are subject to extensive environmental, health and safety regulation in the United States and the other countries where our manufacturing facilities are located.
Among other things, these laws regulate the emissions or discharge of materials into the environment; govern the use, storage, treatment, disposal and management of hazardous
substances and wastes; protect the health and safety of our employees; regulate the materials used in our products or manufacturing processes; and impose liability for the costs
of investigating and remediating (as well as other damages resulting from) present and past releases of hazardous substances. Representative laws and regulations which we may
be subject to the in the U.S. include: noise abatement and air emissions regulations, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) and comparable state laws, and various regulations and laws enforced by the U.S Department of Labor, the U.S.
Department of Commerce, and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and their state equivalents. Violations of these laws or of any conditions contained in environmental
permits can result in substantial fines or penalties, injunctive relief, requirements to install pollution controls or other equipment, and civil sanctions. We could be held liable for
costs to investigate, remediate or otherwise address contamination at any real property we have ever owned, operated or used as a disposal site, or at other sites where we or
predecessors may have released hazardous materials. We could incur fines, penalties or sanctions or be subject to third-party claims, including indemnification claims, for
property damage, personal injury or otherwise as a result of violations of (or liabilities under) environmental, health and safety laws, or in connection with releases of hazardous
or other materials.
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Changes in or new interpretations of existing laws, regulations or enforcement policies, the discovery of previously unknown contamination, or the imposition of other
environmental liabilities or obligations in the future including additional investigation, remediation or other obligations with respect to our products or business activities may
lead to additional compliance costs or require us to change our manufacturing processes, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

In Germany, we and all our activities are subject to various safety and environmental regulations of the federal state which are enforced by the local authorities, including
the Federal Act on Emission Control (Bundes-Immissionsschutzgesetz). The Federal Act on Emission Control permits are held by companies jointly owned by DynaEnergetics
and the other companies that are located at the Troisdorf manufacturing site and are for an indefinite period of time. The Dillenburg, Germany facility is operated based on a
specific permit granted by the local mountain authority and must be renewed every three years. Any failure to comply with current and future environmental and safety
regulations could subject us to significant liabilities. Any actual or alleged violations of environmental, health or safety laws could result in restrictions or prohibitions on our
facilities or substantial civil or criminal sanctions. In addition, under certain environmental laws, we could be held responsible for all of the costs relating to any contamination
at our facilities and at third party waste disposal sites, even when such contamination was caused by a predecessor and even when the actions resulting in the contamination
were lawful at the time. We could also be held liable for any and all consequences arising out of human exposure to hazardous substances or other environmental damage.

Failure to comply with applicable federal, state and local employment and labor laws and regulations could have a material, adverse impact on our business.

Various federal, state and local employment and labor laws and regulations govern our relationships with our employees, and similar laws and regulations apply to our
operations outside of the U.S. These laws and regulations relate to matters such as employment discrimination, wage and hour laws, requirements to provide and document meal
and rest periods or other benefits, family leave mandates, requirements regarding working conditions and accommodations to certain employees, citizenship or work
authorization and related requirements, insurance and workers’ compensation rules, healthcare laws and anti-discrimination and anti-harassment laws. We incur substantial costs
to comply with these laws and regulations and non-compliance could expose us to significant liabilities. For example, Arcadia Products is currently defending a lawsuit in
California alleging violations of wage and hour regulations with respect to certain temporary and permanent employees. We are incurring legal costs to defend this action and
may in the future be required to defend similar actions, and we could incur losses from these and similar cases, and the amount of such losses or costs could be material.

Several jurisdictions also have implemented sick pay and paid time off legislation, which requires employers to provide paid time off to employees, and “just cause”
termination legislation, which restricts companies’ ability to terminate employees or reduce employees’ hours unless they can prove “just cause” or a “bona fide economic
reason” for the termination or reduction in hours. All of these regulations impose additional obligations on us and our failure to comply with any of these regulations could
subject us to penalties and other legal liabilities, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The regulatory environment governing information, data security and privacy is increasingly demanding and evolving and a data security breach could result in
litigation, enforcement actions and related penalties and fines.

The regulatory environment surrounding information security and privacy is increasingly demanding. We are subject to numerous U.S. federal and state laws and non-
U.S. laws and regulations governing the protection of personal and confidential information of our customers and employees. The regulatory framework for privacy and security
issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future.

Several U.S. states have passed comprehensive privacy laws that have recently become effective. Of note among them is the California Consumer Privacy Rights Act
(CPRA), which amends and expands the California Consumer Privacy (CCPA). The CPRA, which went into effect on January 1, 2023, along with the CCPA, governs the
transmission, security and privacy of California residents’ personal information. The CPRA has a twelve month look-back period for enforcement purposes. Among many new
requirements, the CPRA creates a category for sensitive data including health and other personal information that requires additional safeguards and disclosures. In addition, the
CPRA expands consumers’ rights and has enhanced enforcement mechanisms such as the creation of a California Privacy Protection Agency that will investigate and enforce
the CPRA and its promulgating regulations. The states of Virginia, Colorado, Connecticut and Utah have also recently enacted omnibus data privacy laws. In addition, many
other proposals exist in states across the U.S. that could increase our potential liability and increase our compliance costs. Aspects of these state privacy statutes remain unclear,
resulting in further legal uncertainty and potentially requiring us to modify our data practices and policies and to incur substantial additional compliance costs.
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In addition, the recently adopted SEC final cybersecurity rule requires, among other things, comprehensive disclosure regarding oversight of cybersecurity risks and
increased monitoring and reporting of data security incidents.

Internationally, the European Data Protection Board has released guidelines on enforcement and fines related to the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). The
guidelines suggest a tougher stance on enforcement and stiffer fines for companies that violate the GDPR. This is in addition to the continued complexities involving the
transfer of personal data from Europe to the U.S. following the Schrems II decision. In July 2023, the European Commission announced a new Trans-Atlantic data privacy
framework, Privacy Shield 2.0, which may require additional compliance efforts from our company.

As international data privacy and protection laws continue to evolve, and as new regulations, interpretive guidance and enforcement information become available, we
may incur incremental costs to modify our business practices to comply with these requirements. In addition, our internal control policies and procedures may not always protect
us from reckless, intentional or criminal acts committed by our employees or agents.

Violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could subject us to criminal or civil, monetary or non-monetary penalties, disrupt our operations, involve
significant management distraction, subject us to class action lawsuits and result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Legal, regulatory or market measures to address climate change, including proposals to restrict emissions of GHGs and other sustainability initiatives, could have an
adverse impact on the Company’s business and results of operations.

Various legislative, regulatory, and inter-governmental proposals to restrict emissions of GHGs, such as carbon dioxide (“CO2”), are under consideration by
governmental legislative bodies and regulators in the jurisdictions where we operate. Such regulatory and global initiatives may require us to modify our operating procedures,
incur capital expenditures, change fuel sources, or take other actions that may adversely affect our financial results. Increasing regulations to reduce GHG emissions, as
proposed throughout many of our operating regions, would be expected to increase energy costs, reduce energy availability and increase price volatility for energy.

The heightened stakeholder focus on Environmental, Social, and Governance, or “ESG,” issues related to our businesses requires the continuous monitoring of various
and evolving laws, regulations, standards and expectations and the associated reporting requirements. Specifically, certain stakeholders are beginning to require that we provide
information on our plans relating to certain climate-related matters such as greenhouse gas emissions, and we expect this trend to continue and be amplified by the potential
adoption of the proposed SEC regulations relating to climate change disclosure. A failure to adequately or timely meet stakeholder expectations and reporting requirements may
result in noncompliance with any imposed regulations, the loss of business, reputational impacts, diluted market valuation, an inability to attract and retain customers, and an
inability to attract and retain top talent. In addition, our adoption and the reporting of certain standards or mandated compliance to certain requirements could necessitate
additional investments that could impact our profitability.

Further, we have established and publicly disclosed other ESG targets and goals and other sustainability commitments that are subject to a variety of assumptions, risks
and uncertainties. If we are unable to meet these targets, goals or commitments on our projected timelines or at all, or if they are not perceived to be sufficiently robust, our
reputation as well as our relationships with investors, customers and other stakeholders could be harmed, which could in turn adversely impact our business and results of
operations. In addition, not all of our competitors may seek to establish climate or other ESG targets and goals, or at a comparable level to ours, which could result in our
competitors achieving competitive advantages through lower supply chain or operating costs.

Changes in or interpretation of tax law could impact the determination of our income tax liabilities for a tax year.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In
the course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is subjective or uncertain. We earn a significant amount of our
operating income outside the U.S and have significant intercompany transactions between our affiliates. A change in the mix of earnings and losses in countries with differing
statutory tax rates, changes in our business or structure, or disputes about intercompany transfer pricing arrangements may result in higher effective tax rates for the Company.

Our future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by changes in tax laws or their interpretation, both domestically and internationally. For example, regulations
related to the 2017 United States Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”) are still being
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developed, some with retroactive application. As regulations and guidance evolve with respect to tax law, our results may differ from previous estimates and may materially
affect our financial condition or results of operations. The OECD/G20 Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project (or BEPS Project) is developing an international framework to
combat tax avoidance by multinational enterprises and countries where the Company is subject to taxes are independently evaluating their corporate tax policy. Tax legislation
and enforcement could adversely impact the Company’s tax provision and the value of deferred tax assets and liabilities.

We are under audit by tax authorities in different jurisdictions from time to time. Although we believe that our provision for income taxes and our tax estimates are
reasonable, tax authorities may disagree with certain positions we have taken. In addition, economic and political pressures to increase tax revenue in various jurisdictions may
make resolving tax disputes favorably more difficult. The final resolution of any audits or litigation may differ from the amounts recorded in our Consolidated Financial
Statements and may materially affect our Consolidated Financial Statements in the period or periods in which that determination is made.

Intellectual Property Risks

Our failure to protect our proprietary information and any successful intellectual property challenges against us could materially and adversely affect our
competitive position.

The protection of our intellectual property rights is essential to maintaining our competitive position and recognizing the value of our investments in technology and
intellectual property in our existing and future products. We rely on trade secret protection for certain aspects of our technology, in part through confidentiality and other written
agreements with our employees, consultants and third parties. Through these and other written agreements, we attempt to control access to and distribution of our intellectual
property documentation and other proprietary technology information. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, former employees, consultants or third parties may,
in an unauthorized manner, attempt to use, copy or otherwise obtain and market or distribute our intellectual property rights or technology or otherwise develop a product with
the same functionality as our technology. Policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights is difficult, and nearly impossible on a worldwide basis. Therefore, we
cannot be certain that the steps we have taken or will take in the future will prevent misappropriation of our technology or intellectual property rights.

We also actively pursue patent protection for our proprietary technology and intellectual property where appropriate for protecting our competitive position. The process
of seeking patent protection can be long and expensive and we cannot be certain that any currently pending or future applications will actually result in issued patents, or that,
even if patents are issued, they will be respected by third parties. In addition, our competitors may be able to develop technology independently that is similar to ours without
infringing on our patents or gaining access to our trade secrets, and this could have a similar effect on our competitive position.

Intellectual property litigation and threats of litigation are becoming more common in the oilfield services industry. We are currently involved and may in the future be
involved in litigation, in the United States or abroad, to enforce our patents or other intellectual property rights or to protect our trade secrets and know-how. These actions can
require multiple years to come to resolution or settlement, and even if we ultimately prevail, we may be unable to realize adequate protection of our competitive position. In
addition, these actions commonly result in actions by the affected third parties to establish the invalidity of our patents. While we intend to prosecute these actions vigorously,
there is no guarantee of success, and such effort takes significant financial and management resources from the Company. In the event that one or more of our patents are
challenged, a court or the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) may invalidate the patent(s) or determine that the patent(s) is not enforceable, which could harm
our competitive position. If our patents are invalidated, or if the scope of the claims in any of these patents is limited by a court or USPTO decision, we could be prevented from
pursuing certain litigation matters or licensing the invalidated or limited portion of such patents. Such adverse decisions could negatively impact our future revenue. Patent
litigation, if necessary or when instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources.

We may incur substantial costs defending against third parties alleging that we infringe their proprietary rights.

We are currently involved and may in the future be involved in litigation relating to alleged infringement by us of others’ patents or other intellectual property rights. We
have an active "freedom to operate" review process for our technology, but there is no assurance that future infringement claims will not be asserted. Infringement claims
generally result in significant legal and other costs and may distract management from running our core businesses even if we are ultimately successful. In the event of any
adverse ruling in any intellectual property litigation, we could be required to pay substantial damages, cease the manufacturing, use and sale of infringing products, discontinue
the use of certain processes or obtain a license from the third-
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party claiming infringement with royalty payment obligations by us. We also have certain indemnification obligations to customers with respect to the infringement of third-
party intellectual property rights by our products, which may increase our costs. Any of these occurrences could significantly harm our competitive position, results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Risks Related to Acquisitions

We have incurred debt to finance the acquisition of 60% of Arcadia Products and may incur additional substantial financial obligations in connection with the
acquisition of the remaining 40% of Arcadia Products.

We financed a portion of the purchase price of the Arcadia Products acquisition with proceeds from our credit facility. Our ability to service the indebtedness under the
credit facility and to maintain compliance with the covenants included in the credit facility will depend on our success in achieving the intended benefits of the acquisition,
which is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties as discussed above. We will have to devote a substantial portion of our cash flow to meet required payments of principal
and interest on this indebtedness, and if we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to do so, or if we otherwise fail to comply with the terms of the credit facility, we could be
in default under the agreement.

In addition, as early as three years after the closing of the Arcadia Products acquisition, we may be required to pay the Option Purchase Price for some or all of Munera’s
interests in Arcadia Products if Munera exercises the Put Option. Even if we elect to pay 80% of the Option Purchase Price in preferred stock, we will need to fund the
remaining portion in cash. We recently amended our credit facility, increasing the total facility amount to $300 million from our prior facility of $200 million. While the
increase in the credit facility was intended to allow us to finance the Option Purchase Price, a potential exercise will depend on numerous factors, including the performance of
our businesses, the status of any changes to our businesses and general market and economic conditions. If we fail to pay the Option Purchase Price when required under the
Operating Agreement, we will be in default under the agreement. The Option Purchase Price is likely to be substantial relative to the current size of our business. In addition, the
Option Purchase Price is subject to a defined “floor” value in the Operating Agreement, which is based primarily upon a contractually stated equity value. The floor value will
apply even if Arcadia Products' performance fails to meet our expectations, and we may find it difficult to obtain additional financing, if needed, for the payment of the Option
Purchase Price. In addition, debt or preferred equity financing, if obtained, may involve agreements that include liens or restrictions on our assets and covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as paying dividends or making distributions, incurring additional debt, acquiring or disposing of assets or increasing
expenses. Debt financing would also be required to be repaid regardless of our operating results. Obtaining financing through issuances of common stock would impose fewer
restrictions on our future operations but would be dilutive to the interests of existing stockholders.

DMC is the majority shareholder of Arcadia Products, and our interest in Arcadia Products is subject to the risks normally associated with the conduct of businesses
with a minority shareholder.

Pursuant to the Equity Purchase Agreement pursuant to which we acquired a 60% ownership stake in Arcadia Products, Munera continues to hold 40% of the outstanding
equity interests of Arcadia Products. Our Operating Agreement governs our relationship with Munera, and we believe the Operating Agreement provides us with effective and
sufficient control of Arcadia Products to allow the business to be operated consistent with our goals and values and with sufficient opportunity for profitable growth.
Nevertheless, conducting a business with minority owners may lead to certain risks and uncertainties, which could have an adverse impact on our ability to profitably grow the
Arcadia Products business, which could have a material adverse impact on our future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. These include:

• our ability to effectively control certain strategic, operational and financial decisions;
• the potential for disagreement over the direction of the company and costs and expenses involved; and
• the risk of having economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with, or opposed to, those of Munera.

There can be no assurance that the acquisition will be beneficial to us, whether due to the above-described risks, unfavorable economic conditions, integration challenges
or other factors.

To the extent that we seek to further expand our business through acquisitions, we may experience issues in executing acquisitions or integrating acquired operations.

From time to time, we examine opportunities to make selective acquisitions in order to increase shareholder return by increasing our total available markets, expanding
our existing operations and, potentially, generating synergies. The success of any acquisition depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to:
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• identifying suitable candidates for acquisition and negotiating acceptable terms;
• obtaining approval from regulatory authorities and potentially DMC’s shareholders;
• maintaining our financial and strategic focus and avoiding distraction of management during the process of integrating the acquired business;
• implementing our standards, controls, procedures and policies at the acquired business and addressing any pre-existing liabilities or claims involving the acquired

business;
• our ability to realize the expected tax treatment or tax benefits from the transaction; and
• to the extent the acquired operations are in a country in which we have not operated historically, understanding the regulations and challenges of operating in that new

jurisdiction.

For example, our due diligence process may not reveal all liabilities associated with a potential acquisition, and this could result in us incurring unanticipated losses after
the acquisition is completed. There can be no assurance that we will be able to conclude any acquisitions successfully or that any acquisition will achieve the anticipated
synergies or other positive results. Any material problems that we encounter in connection with such an acquisition could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and financial position.

Risk Factors Related to Our Common Stock

The price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile, which may make it difficult for you to resell the common stock when you want or at prices you
find attractive.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be subject to significant fluctuations due to general stock market conditions and/or a change in sentiment
in the market regarding our operations, business prospects or liquidity. Among the factors that could affect the price of our common stock are:

• changes in the architectural building products, oil and gas, industrial, or infrastructure markets;
• operating and financial performance that vary from the expectations of management, securities analysts or investors;
• developments in our business or in our business sectors generally;
• regulatory changes affecting our industries generally or our business and operations;
• the operating and stock price performance of companies that investors consider to be comparable to us;
• announcements of strategic developments, acquisitions and other material events by us or our competitors;
• our ability to integrate and operate the companies and the businesses that we acquire;
• rumors and market speculation regarding our industries, business or trading activity;
• significant amounts of short selling, the perception that short sales could occur and other speculative trading activity;
• activism by any large stockholder or group of stockholders;
• new positions adopted by investor stewardship groups and proxy advisory firms regarding desired ESG disclosures, policies, ranking systems and other initiatives;
• changes in global financial markets and global economies and general market conditions, including volatility in foreign exchange rates, tariffs and stock, commodity,

credit or asset valuations, and government actions or shutdowns.

The stock markets in general have experienced extreme volatility that has at times been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies, and these
fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

ITEM 1B.                                       Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 1C.                                       Cybersecurity

The Board, in coordination with the Risk Committee, oversees the Company's risk management program, which includes risks arising from cybersecurity threats. DMC’s
Chief Information Officer (CIO) manages the Company’s cybersecurity program and is responsible for leading and coordinating cybersecurity activities across the organization.
The CIO reports directly to our Chief Executive Officer and has extensive information technology experience.

Led by our CIO, we conduct regular assessments to identify potential cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, including the evaluation of systems and data assets. We have
established internal procedures to stay vigilant against evolving threats by monitoring network traffic and conducting security audits. We also regularly engage independent
assessors and external
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consultants who specialize in cybersecurity to conduct thorough, unbiased evaluations of our systems, policies, and procedures. These assessments help us ensure that our
cybersecurity practices are aligned with applicable regulations and standards. To further evaluate our cybersecurity defenses, we periodically commission penetration exercises
conducted by specialized firms. These tests simulate real-world attacks and assist in assessing our internal readiness and response capabilities.

We are proactively taking steps to enhance our monitoring of third-party service providers’ cybersecurity, including the commencement of a vendor third-party risk
management program. This program should better enable the Company to identify and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats related to our third-party service
providers.

Cybersecurity risk updates are provided quarterly to our senior management team by the CIO as part of our enterprise risk management process. We have established an
incident response policy that outlines the process for assessing and responding to cybersecurity incidents. The incident response policy is reviewed at least annually by
executive management. The Board also receives quarterly updates on cybersecurity risks. These reports are typically presented by our CIO to the Risk Committee of the Board
and include updates to recently completed cybersecurity initiatives, upcoming plans, an overview of current threats, as well as discussion of our overall cybersecurity maturity
and readiness. The Board participates in simulated cybersecurity trainings and is kept apprised of changes in cybersecurity regulatory requirements, ensuring that our
organization remains in compliance with relevant standards.

Cybersecurity risks and threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially impacted and are not reasonably expected to materially
impact us or our operations. However, we recognize the ever-evolving cyber risk landscape and cannot provide any assurances that we will not be subject to a material
cybersecurity incident in the future. See Item 1A. Risk Factors “A failure in our information technology systems or those of third parties, including those caused by security
breaches, cyber-attacks or data protection failures, could disrupt our business, result in significant legal costs and other losses and damage our reputation” for a discussion of
cybersecurity-related risks.

ITEM 2.                                        Properties

Corporate Headquarters
 
Our corporate headquarters currently are located in Broomfield, Colorado. The office is also used for NobelClad’s U.S. administrative offices.

Location  Property Type  Property Size  Owned/Leased  
Expiration Date of Lease

(if applicable)
Broomfield,

Colorado
Corporate and Sales

Office
18,284 sq. ft. Leased September 30, 2029, with renewal

option for 60 months
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Arcadia Products
 
Arcadia Products owns a manufacturing site and sales office in Vernon, California and leases other manufacturing and distribution centers throughout the United States.

The table below summarizes Arcadia Products' material properties, including their location, type, size, whether owned or leased and expiration terms, if applicable.

Location  Property Type  Property Size  Owned/Leased  
Expiration Date of Lease

(if applicable)
Vernon, California Corporate office, metal shop

building, warehouse
26,500 sq. ft. Owned

Land for office, paint shop,
anodizing line

0.8 acre Owned

Land for office, paint shop,
anodizing line

2.24 acres Leased May 31, 2046

Vernon, California Land for parking 39,545 sq. ft. Leased March 31, 2027
Vernon, California Office, paint shop 112,000 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2026, with renewal option for 60

months
Vernon, California Office, warehouse 110,677 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2026, with renewal option for 60

months
Hayward, California Distribution, light assembly 45,624 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2024, with renewal option for 36

months
West Sacramento, California Distribution, light assembly 16,000 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2024, with renewal option for 36

months
Stamford, Connecticut Office, warehouse 39,418 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2025
Phoenix, Arizona Office, warehouse 51,986 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2026, with renewal option for 24

months
Las Vegas, Nevada Office, warehouse 88,915 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2026, with renewal option for 24

months
Tucson, Arizona Office, paint shop, warehouse 106,507 sq. ft. Leased December 22, 2026, with renewal option for 60

months
Waipahu, Hawaii Distribution, light assembly Building: 12,746 sq. ft.

Land: 21,872 sq. ft.
Leased May 31, 2028

South Gate, California Office, manufacturing 45,700 sq. ft. Leased December 31, 2027
South Gate, California Office, manufacturing, storage Building: 25,000 sq. ft.

Land: 45,000 sq. ft.
Leased April 30, 2027

Houston, Texas Office, warehouse 43,412 sq. ft. Leased November 30, 2028, with renewal option for 60
months

Dallas, Texas Office, warehouse 86,731 sq. ft. Leased November 30, 2025, with renewal option for 60
months

Kent, Washington Distribution, light assembly 25,000 sq. ft. Leased May 31, 2029

 These leases are with entities affiliated with the holder of the redeemable noncontrolling interest and the former president of Arcadia Products. During the year-ended
December 31, 2023, DMC recorded $4,625 in lease expense related to these properties.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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DynaEnergetics
 
DynaEnergetics leases a manufacturing site and sales office in Troisdorf, Germany. The leases for these properties expire on December 31, 2025, and we are negotiating

future renewal options. In the U.S., DynaEnergetics owns manufacturing and assembly sites in Texas and leases storage bunkers and office and warehouse space in various
cities throughout Texas. DynaEnergetics also leases office and warehouse space and bunkers for storage of its explosives in Alberta, Canada.

The table below summarizes DynaEnergetics' material properties, including their location, type, size, whether owned or leased and expiration terms, if applicable.

Location  Property Type  Property Size  Owned/Leased  
Expiration Date of Lease

(if applicable)
Troisdorf, Germany  Manufacturing and

administration office
 Manufacturing:
263,201 sq. ft.
Office: 2,033 sq. ft.

 Leased  December 31, 2025

Troisdorf, Germany  Office  9,203 sq. ft.  Leased  December 31, 2025
Liebenscheid,

Germany
Manufacturing and

office
5,511 sq. ft. Owned

Liebenscheid,
Germany

Land 77,672 sq. ft. Owned

Houston, Texas Office 11,370 sq. ft. Leased November 30, 2026
Blum, Texas Office, warehouse,

and manufacturing
83,000 sq. ft. Owned

Blum, Texas Warehouse 10,000 sq. ft. Owned
Blum, Texas Land for office,

warehouse, and
manufacturing

284 acres Owned

Midland, Texas Land 13.3 acres Leased April 1, 2029
Whitney, Texas Office, warehouse,

and manufacturing
36,000 sq. ft. Owned

Alberta, Canada Office and
warehouse

7,650 sq. ft. Leased August 31, 2025

The Blum, Texas warehouse is separate from the main Blum manufacturing campus.

(a)

(a) 
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NobelClad
 
NobelClad owns its principal domestic manufacturing site, which is located in Mount Braddock, Pennsylvania. We currently lease our primary domestic shooting site,

which is located in Dunbar, Pennsylvania, and we also have license and risk allocation agreements relating to the use of a secondary shooting site, Coolspring, that is located
within a few miles of the Mount Braddock facility. The shooting site in Dunbar and the nearby secondary shooting site support our Mount Braddock facility. The lease for the
Dunbar property will expire on December 15, 2025, but we have options to renew the lease which would then extend through December 15, 2029. The license and risk
allocation agreements will expire on March 31, 2028. 

NobelClad owns a manufacturing site in Liebenscheid, Germany as well as a mine used as a shooting site in Dillenburg, Germany. We purchased the buildings and land
around the Dillenburg mine in 2022. NobelClad leases the building housing its sales and administrative office in Perpignan, France.

The table below summarizes NobelClad's material properties, including their location, type, size, whether owned or leased and expiration terms, if applicable. 

Location  Property Type  Property Size  Owned/Leased  
Expiration Date of Lease

(if applicable)
Mt. Braddock, Pennsylvania Clad plate manufacturing and

administration office
 Land: 14 acres

Buildings: 101,300 sq. ft.
 Owned   

Dunbar, Pennsylvania  Clad plate shooting site  Land: 322 acres
Buildings:
15,960 sq. ft.

 Leased  December 15, 2025, with renewal options through
December 15, 2029

Cool Spring, Pennsylvania Clad plate shooting site 1,200,000 sq. ft. Leased March 31, 2028, with renewal options through March
31, 2033

Canonsburg, Pennsylvania Manufacturing 16,000 sq. ft Leased November 30, 2024, with renewal options for two
additional 12-month periods

Tautavel, France  Clad shooting site  116 acres  Owned  
Perpignan, France Administration and sales office 3,671 sq. ft Leased September 30, 2029, with renewal options for

additional three-year periods.
Burbach-Würgendorf, Germany Storage 224 sq. meters Leased December 31, 2050
Dillenburg, Germany  Clad plate shooting site  Land: 18.9 acres

Buildings: 
46,285 sq. ft. 
 

 Owned 
 

  

Liebenscheid, Germany Manufacturing Land: 10.47 acres
Buildings: 125,394 sq. ft.

Owned

Though NobelClad is no longer performing manufacturing activities in France, it owns this land in order to have access to a redundant shooting site.

ITEM 3.                Legal Proceedings

Refer to Note 12 within Part II, Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

ITEM 4.                Mine Safety Disclosures
 

Our Coolspring property is subject to regulation by the Federal Mine Safety and Health Administration ("MSHA") under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977
(the "Mine Act"). Pursuant to Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"), issuers that are operators, or that
have a subsidiary that is an operator, of a coal or other mine in the United States are required to disclose in their periodic reports filed with the SEC information regarding
specified health and safety violations, orders and citations, related assessments and legal actions, and mining-related fatalities. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we
had no such specified health and safety violations, orders or citations, related assessments or legal actions, mining-related fatalities, or similar events in relation to our United
States operations requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Act.

(a)

(a) 
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PART II

ITEM 5.    Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is publicly traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “BOOM.” As of February 20, 2024, there were 210 holders of
record of our common stock (does not include beneficial holders of shares held in “street name”).

Equity Compensation Plan

Refer to “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for information regarding securities authorized
for issuance under our equity compensation plans, which is incorporated in this Item by this reference.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, we purchased shares of common stock as follows. These shares are held as treasury shares by the Company. 

Total number of shares purchased Average price paid per share

October 1 to October 31, 2023 2,138 $ 18.72 
November 1 to November 30, 2023 — $ — 
December 1 to December 31, 2023 6,225 $ 18.81 
Total 8,363 $ 18.79 

 Share purchases during the period were to offset tax withholding obligations that occurred upon the vesting of restricted common stock under the terms of the 2016
Equity Incentive Plan.

 As of December 31, 2023, the maximum number of shares that could be purchased would not exceed the employees’ portion of taxes to be withheld on unvested shares
(426,396) and potential purchases upon participant elections to diversify equity awards held in the Company’s Amended and Restated Non-Qualified Deferred
Compensation Plan (81,800) into other investment options available to participants in the Plan.

 (1) (2)

(1)

(2)
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance of our common stock with the Nasdaq Non-Financial Stocks Index and the Nasdaq Composite (U.S.) Index. The
comparison of total return (change in year-end stock price plus reinvested dividends) for each of the years assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2018, in each of the
Company, the Nasdaq Non-Financial Stocks Index and the Nasdaq Composite (U.S.) Index with investment weighted on the basis of market capitalization. The comparisons in
the graph below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of, or intended to forecast, future performance of our common stock.

Total Return Analysis December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
DMC Global Inc. $100.00 $127.96 $123.15 $112.78 $55.35 $53.59
Nasdaq Non-Financial
Stocks $100.00 $139.46 $207.62 $264.73 $179.00 $277.68
Nasdaq Composite (U.S.) $100.00 $131.17 $159.07 $200.26 $160.75 $203.23
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ITEM 6.                  [Reserved.]
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ITEM 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our historical Consolidated Financial Statements and notes included elsewhere in this annual report. A
discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations as well as our liquidity and capital resources for fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021 can be found under
Item 7 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, which is available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and our Investor Relations
website at www.dmcglobal.com/investors.

 
Unless stated otherwise, all dollar figures in this report are presented in thousands (000s). N/M indicates that the change in dollars or percentage was not meaningful.

Overview
 
General

DMC Global Inc. (“DMC”, "we", "us", "our", or the "Company") owns and operates Arcadia Products, DynaEnergetics and NobelClad, three innovative, asset-light
manufacturing businesses that provide differentiated products and engineered solutions to niche segments of the construction, energy, industrial processing and transportation
markets. Each of our businesses provides a unique suite of highly engineered products and differentiated solutions, and each has established a leadership position in its
respective market. Our businesses seek to capitalize on their product and service differentiation to expand profit margins, increase cash flow and enhance shareholder value.
Based in Broomfield, Colorado, DMC trades on Nasdaq under the symbol “BOOM.”

Arcadia Products

On December 23, 2021, DMC completed the acquisition of 60% of the membership interests in Arcadia Products, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company resulting
from the conversion of Arcadia, Inc. (collectively, “Arcadia Products”). Arcadia Products designs, engineers, fabricates, and finishes aluminum framing systems, windows,
curtain walls, storefronts, entrance systems, and interior partitions to the commercial construction market. Additionally, Arcadia Products supplies customized windows and
doors to the ultra-high-end residential real estate market.

Cost of products sold for Arcadia Products includes the cost of aluminum, paint, and other raw materials used in manufacturing as well as employee compensation and
benefits, manufacturing facility lease expense, depreciation of manufacturing equipment, supplies and other manufacturing overhead expenses.

DynaEnergetics

DynaEnergetics designs, manufactures, markets and sells perforating systems and associated hardware for the global oil and gas industry. These products are primarily
sold to oilfield service companies in the U.S., Europe, Canada, Africa, the Middle East, and Asia. The market for perforating products, which are used during the well
completion process, generally corresponds with oil and gas exploration and production activity. Well completion operations are increasingly complex, which in turn has
increased the demand for intrinsically-safe, reliable and technically advanced perforating systems.

Cost of products sold for DynaEnergetics includes the cost of metals, explosives and other raw materials used to manufacture shaped charges, detonating products and
perforating guns as well as employee compensation and benefits, depreciation of manufacturing facilities and equipment, supplies and other manufacturing overhead expenses.

NobelClad

NobelClad produces explosion-welded clad metal plates for use in the construction of corrosion resistant industrial processing equipment and specialized transition joints
for commuter rail cars, ships, and liquified natural gas (LNG) processing equipment. While most demand for our products is driven by maintenance and retrofit projects at
existing plants and facilities, new projects for petrochemical processing, oil refining, and aluminum smelting facilities also account for a significant portion of total demand.
These industries tend to be cyclical in nature and the timing of new order inflow remains difficult to predict. We use backlog, defined as all unfilled firm purchase orders and
commitments at a point in time, to measure the immediate outlook for our NobelClad business. Most firm purchase orders and commitments are realized and shipped within
twelve months. NobelClad's backlog increased to $59,357 at December 31, 2023 from $55,451 at December 31, 2022.
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Cost of products sold for NobelClad includes the cost of metals, explosive powders and other raw materials used to manufacture clad metal plates and transition joints as
well as employee compensation and benefits, outside processing costs, depreciation of manufacturing facilities and equipment, manufacturing facility lease expense, supplies
and other manufacturing overhead expenses.

Factors Affecting Results

• Consolidated net sales were $719,188 in 2023 versus $654,086 in 2022, an increase of 10%. The improved performance primarily was driven by an increase in unit
sales of DynaEnergetics’ DS perforating systems and increased activity in NobelClad's core energy and petrochemical end markets.

• Arcadia Products reported sales of $298,909 in 2023, which were consistent with sales of $299,527 in 2022.

• DynaEnergetics' sales of $315,026 in 2023 increased 19% compared with 2022 due primarily to an increase in unit sales of DS perforating systems. International sales
increased 28%, while North American sales increased 18%.

• NobelClad’s sales of $105,253 in 2023 increased 17% compared with 2022 reflecting healthy activity in core energy and petrochemical end markets.

• Consolidated gross profit of 29.5% in 2023 increased from 28.4% in 2022. The percentage improvement compared to prior year was attributable to favorable project
and regional mix, as well as better absorption of fixed manufacturing overhead expenses at NobelClad. Also contributing to the percentage improvement was margin
recovery at Arcadia as decreases in base aluminum metal prices exceeded declines in customer pricing.

• Consolidated selling, general, and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $124,442 in 2023 compared with $118,349 in 2022. The year-over-year increase was
primarily attributable to $4,343 of CEO transition expenses, as well as higher compensation and outside services costs.

• Cash and marketable securities of $43,659 at December 31, 2023 increased $18,515 from $25,144 at December 31, 2022 due primarily to higher free cash flow.

• Net debt, a non-GAAP measure, of $72,192 (comprised of $115,851 of total debt less $43,659 in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities) at December 31,
2023 decreased $35,462 from $107,654 at December 31, 2022. The decrease was driven by $17,500 in Term Loan payments in 2023 and $12,471 of investments in
marketable securities.

• The Company’s leverage ratio, calculated in accordance with its credit facility, was 1.25 to 1.0 as of December 31, 2023 in comparison to the maximum ratio
permitted of 3.0 to 1.0. The Company’s adjusted leverage ratio, calculated using net debt as of December 31, 2023, was 0.78 to 1.0.

Outlook

DMC’s Arcadia Products business serves the commercial building products market primarily in the western and southwestern United States, and the ultra-high-end
residential market across the United States. We expect Arcadia Products to be the primary driver of DMC’s future financial and operational growth, reflecting its large
addressable market and differentiated business model. Arcadia Products is investing in new digital technologies and manufacturing capacity to facilitate its expansion. Phase
one of a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system went live in the third quarter of 2023 and is enhancing operating efficiencies and the internal control environment.
Additional aluminum painting capacity was added in the second half of 2023, and the business expects further expansions in painting and anodizing capacity in 2024.

At DynaEnergetics, U.S. well completion activity in the fourth quarter declined by approximately 8% versus the third quarter, according to the U.S. Energy Information
Administration. We believe North American well completion activity will remain soft during the first quarter of 2024 based on a decline in the number of active drilling rigs and
well fracking crews. DynaEnergetics introduced various premium products in 2023 and is in the process of implementing more efficient manufacturing processes that
collectively are expected to partially offset persistent pricing pressure in North America’s well completions sector.

NobelClad is experiencing strong demand for its Cylindra™ cryogenic transition joints used in the LNG industry, while repair and maintenance work from downstream
energy and petrochemical industries is also contributing to healthy production
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activity. Our backlog was $59,357 as of December 31, 2023 in comparison to $55,451 as of December 31, 2022. We expect to ship most orders in our backlog within twelve
months.

On January 29, 2024, DMC announced its Board of Directors had initiated a review of strategic alternatives for its DynaEnergetics and NobelClad businesses. The
process formalizes DMC’s ongoing efforts during the past several months to consider opportunities that unlock shareholder value. The Board has retained a financial advisor
and may retain other advisors to assist in evaluating the Company’s current strategy, operations, and capital structure. The Board will consider various strategic, business, and
financial alternatives for both businesses. These could include, among other things, a sale, a merger, or other business combination of a portion of DMC’s business-unit assets,
and/or a strategic investment. The Board has not set a timetable to complete the strategic review process, and there can be no assurance that the review process will result in any
transactions.

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to disclosing financial results that are determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP), the Company
also discloses certain non-GAAP financial measures that we use in operational and financial decision making. Non-GAAP financial measures include the following:

• EBITDA: defined as net income (loss) plus net interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.
• Adjusted EBITDA: excludes from EBITDA stock-based compensation, restructuring expenses and asset impairment charges (if applicable) and, when appropriate,

nonrecurring items that management does not utilize in assessing DMC’s operating performance (as further described in the tables below).
• Adjusted EBITDA attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders: excludes the Adjusted EBITDA attributable to the 40% redeemable noncontrolling interest in

Arcadia Products.
• Adjusted EBITDA for DMC business segments: defined as operating income (loss) plus depreciation, amortization, allocated stock-based compensation (if

applicable), restructuring expenses and asset impairment charges (if applicable) and, when appropriate, nonrecurring items that management does not utilize in assessing
DMC's operating performance.

• Adjusted net income (loss): defined as net income (loss) attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders prior to the adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest
plus restructuring expenses and asset impairment charges (if applicable) and, when appropriate, nonrecurring items that management does not utilize in assessing DMC's
operating performance.

• Adjusted diluted earnings per share: defined as diluted earnings per share attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders (exclusive of adjustment of redeemable
noncontrolling interest) plus restructuring expenses and asset impairment charges (if applicable) and, when appropriate, nonrecurring items that management does not
utilize in assessing DMC’s operating performance.

• Net debt: defined as total debt less total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities.
• Free-cash flow: defined as cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities less net acquisitions of property, plant and equipment.

Management believes providing these additional financial measures is useful to investors in understanding the Company’s operating performance, including the effects of
restructuring, impairment, and other nonrecurring charges, as well as its liquidity. Management typically monitors the business utilizing the above non-GAAP measures, in
addition to GAAP results, to understand and compare operating results across accounting periods, and certain management incentive awards are based, in part, on these
measures. The presence of non-GAAP financial measures in this report is not intended to suggest that such measures be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or as
superior to, DMC’s GAAP information, and investors are cautioned that the non-GAAP financial measures are limited in their usefulness. Given that not all companies use
identical calculations, DMC’s presentation of non-GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.
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Consolidated Results of Operations
2023 2022 $ change % change

Net sales $ 719,188 $ 654,086 $ 65,102 10 %
Gross profit 212,052 185,447 26,605 14 %
Gross profit percentage 29.5 % 28.4 %
COSTS AND EXPENSES:

General and administrative expenses 75,341 76,119 (778) (1)%
% of net sales 10.5 % 11.6 %

Selling and distribution expenses 49,101 42,230 6,871 16 %
% of net sales 6.8 % 6.5 %

Amortization of purchased intangible assets 22,667 36,926 (14,259) (39)%
% of net sales 3.2 % 5.6 %

Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 3,766 182 3,584 1,969 %
Operating income 61,177 29,990 31,187 104 %

Other expense, net (1,782) (594) (1,188) 200 %
Interest expense, net (9,516) (6,187) (3,329) 54 %

Income before income taxes 49,879 23,209 26,670 115 %
Income tax provision 15,120 9,376 5,744 61 %
Net income 34,759 13,833 20,926 151 %
Less: Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest 8,500 1,586 6,914 436 %
Net income attributable to DMC Global Inc. 26,259 12,247 14,012 114 %
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to DMC Global Inc. $ 96,063 $ 74,199 $ 21,864 29 %

Net sales were $719,188 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, an increase of 10% compared with 2022, primarily due to an increase in unit sales of
DynaEnergetics’ DS perforating systems and increased activity in NobelClad's core energy and petrochemical end markets.

Gross profit percentage was 29.5% versus 28.4% in 2022. The improvement compared to the prior year was attributable to the favorable project and regional mix at
NobelClad and margin recovery at Arcadia Products.

General and administrative expenses decreased $778 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 compared with 2022. The decrease was driven by various cost
savings initiatives, including headcount reductions and decreased business travel, partially offset by $4,343 of CEO transition expenses.

Selling and distribution expenses increased $6,871 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 compared with 2022. The higher expense was primarily due to
increases in compensation costs of $3,543, marketing and certain other outside services costs of $1,562, bad debt expense of $1,133, and freight and supplies costs of $621.

Amortization of purchased intangible assets decreased $14,259 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared with 2022 as the Arcadia Products customer backlog
purchased intangible asset was fully amortized in 2022.

Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments increased $3,584 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared with 2022 due to $2,471 of asset impairments
primarily associated with the abandonment of a software asset at DynaEnergetics and $1,295 of cost reduction initiatives, including employee severance, primarily at
DynaEnergetics.

Operating income of $61,177 increased $31,187 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared with 2022. The increase in operating income was primarily the result
of increased gross profit.

Other expense, net of $1,782 in 2023 primarily related to net realized foreign currency exchange losses. Currency gains and losses can arise when subsidiaries enter into
inter-company and third-party transactions that are denominated in currencies other than their functional currency, including foreign currency forward contracts used to offset
foreign exchange rate fluctuations on certain foreign currency denominated asset and liability positions.
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Interest expense, net of $9,516 in 2023 increased 54% compared with 2022 due to an increase in floating interest rates related to the Term Loan.

Income tax provision of $15,120 was recorded on income before taxes of $49,879. Our most significant operations are in the United States, which has a 21% statutory
income tax rate, and Germany, which has a 32% combined statutory income tax rate. The mix of income or loss before income taxes between these jurisdictions is one of the
primary drivers of the difference between our 21% statutory tax rate and our effective tax rate. The effective rate was impacted unfavorably by the geographic mix of pretax
income, state taxes, and certain compensation expenses that are not tax deductible in the U.S. The operating results of Arcadia that are attributable to the redeemable
noncontrolling interest holder are not taxed at DMC, which resulted in a partially offsetting favorable impact to the effective tax rate. We recorded an income tax provision of
$9,376 on income before income taxes of $23,209 in 2022. The prior year rate was impacted by the same factors previously discussed.

Net income attributable to DMC Global Inc. in 2023 was $26,259, or $1.08 per diluted share, after adjustment to the redeemable noncontrolling interest, compared with
net income of $12,247, or $0.72 per diluted share, in 2022.

Adjusted EBITDA in 2023 increased compared with 2022 due to the factors discussed above. See "Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures" above for explanation of the
use of Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure. The following is a reconciliation of the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EBITDA.
 

2023 2022
Net income $ 34,759 $ 13,833 

Interest expense, net 9,516 6,187 
Income tax provision 15,120 9,376 
Depreciation 13,840 14,281 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 22,667 36,926 

EBITDA 95,902 80,603 
Stock-based compensation 10,115 10,058 
CEO transition expenses 4,343 — 
Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 3,766 182 
Nonrecurring retirement expenses — 1,100 
Amortization of acquisition-related inventory valuation step-up — 430 
Other expense, net 1,782 594 

Adjusted EBITDA 115,908 92,967 
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest (19,845) (18,768)

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders $ 96,063 $ 74,199 

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share increased compared with 2022 due to the factors discussed above. See "Use of Non-GAAP Financial
Measures" above for explanation of the use of non-GAAP measures. The following is a reconciliation of the most directly comparable GAAP measures to Adjusted Net Income
and Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share.

46



Table of Contents

Twelve months ended December 31, 2023
Amount Per Share

Net income attributable to DMC Global Inc. $ 26,259 $ 1.35 
CEO transition expenses and accelerated stock-based compensation, net of tax 6,284 0.32 
Restructuring expenses and asset impairments, net of tax 2,773 0.14 
As adjusted $ 35,316 $ 1.81 

Calculated using diluted weighted average shares outstanding of 19,518,382
 Net income attributable to DMC Global Inc. prior to the adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest
Includes CEO transition expenses of $4,343 and accelerated stock-based compensation of $3,040 related to the vesting of the former CEO’s outstanding equity awards, net of

tax.

Twelve months ended December 31, 2022
Amount Per Share

Net income attributable to DMC Global Inc. $ 12,247 $ 0.63 
Nonrecurring retirement expenses, net of tax 905 0.05 
Amortization of acquisition-related inventory valuation step-up, net of tax 199 0.01 
NobelClad restructuring expenses and asset impairments, net of tax 124 0.01 
As adjusted $ 13,475 $ 0.70 

 Calculated using diluted weighted average shares outstanding of 19,369,165
 Net income attributable to DMC Global Inc. prior to the adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1) 

(2)

(3) 

(1)

 (2)

(1)

(2)
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Business Segment Financial Information

We primarily evaluate performance and allocate resources based on segment revenues, operating income and Adjusted EBITDA as well as projected future performance.
Segment operating income is defined as revenues less expenses identifiable to the segment. DMC operating income and Adjusted EBITDA include unallocated corporate
expenses and unallocated stock-based compensation expense. Stock-based compensation is not allocated to wholly owned segments, DynaEnergetics and NobelClad. Stock-
based compensation is allocated to the Arcadia Products segment as 60% of such expense is attributable to the Company, whereas the remaining 40% is attributable to the
redeemable noncontrolling interest holder. Segment operating income will reconcile to consolidated income before income taxes by deducting unallocated corporate expenses,
unallocated stock-based compensation, other (expense) income, net, and interest expense, net.

Net sales, segment operating income, and Adjusted EBITDA for each segment were as follows for years ended December 31:
2023

Arcadia Products DynaEnergetics NobelClad DMC Global Inc.
Net Sales $ 298,909 $ 315,026 $ 105,253 $ 719,188 
% of Consolidated 41.6 % 43.8 % 14.6 %

Operating income 21,407 46,353 19,427 61,177 

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to DMC Global Inc. 29,767 56,270 22,760 96,063 

2022
Arcadia Products DynaEnergetics NobelClad DMC Global Inc.

Net Sales 299,527 $ 264,327 $ 90,232 $ 654,086 
% of Consolidated 45.8 % 40.4 % 13.8 %

Operating income 3,962 39,055 7,989 29,990 

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to DMC Global Inc. 28,152 46,932 11,901 74,199 

Arcadia Products
2023 2022 $ change % change

Net sales $ 298,909 $ 299,527 $ (618) — %
Gross profit 92,252 88,334 3,918 4 %
Gross profit percentage 30.9 % 29.5 %
COSTS AND EXPENSES:

General and administrative expenses 30,488 31,872 (1,384) (4) %
Selling and distribution expenses 17,749 16,184 1,565 10 %
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 22,608 36,316 (13,708) (38) %

Operating income 21,407 3,962 17,445 440 %
Adjusted EBITDA 49,612 46,920 2,692 6 %
Less: adjusted EBITDA attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest (19,845) (18,768) (1,077) 6 %
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to DMC Global Inc. $ 29,767 $ 28,152 $ 1,615 6 %
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Net sales of $298,909 in 2023 were comparable to net sales of $299,527 in 2022.

Gross profit percentage increased to 30.9% in 2023 primarily due to decreases in base aluminum metal costs which exceeded declines in customer pricing.

General and administrative expenses were lower by $1,384 in 2023 compared to 2022 due primarily to a decrease in stock-based compensation of $656 and a decrease in
outside services costs of $538.

Selling and distribution expenses increased $1,565 in 2023 compared to 2022 due to higher compensation costs.

Amortization of purchased intangible assets decreased $13,708 in 2023 compared to 2022 as the customer backlog purchased intangible asset was fully amortized in
2022.

Operating income increased $17,445 in 2023 compared to 2022 due to the factors discussed above.

Adjusted EBITDA increased in 2023 due to the factors discussed above. See “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” above for explanation of the use of Adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure. The following is a reconciliation of the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EBITDA.

2023 2022
Operating income $ 21,407 $ 3,962 
Adjustments:

Depreciation 3,695 2,906 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 22,608 36,316 
Stock-based compensation 1,571 2,206 
CEO transition expenses 331 — 
Amortization of acquisition-related inventory valuation step-up — 430 
Nonrecurring retirement expenses — 1,100 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 49,612 $ 46,920 
Less: adjusted EBITDA attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest (19,845) (18,768)
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to DMC Global Inc. $ 29,767 $ 28,152 

DynaEnergetics
2023 2022 $ change % change

Net sales $ 315,026 $ 264,327 $ 50,699 19 %
Gross profit 86,701 75,569 11,132 15 %
Gross profit percentage 27.5 % 28.6 %
COSTS AND EXPENSES:

General and administrative expenses 15,806 19,627 (3,821) (19 %)
Selling and distribution expenses 21,472 16,588 4,884 29 %
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 59 299 (240) (80) %
Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 3,011 — 3,011 100 %

Operating income 46,353 39,055 7,298 19 %
Adjusted EBITDA $ 56,270 $ 46,932 $ 9,338 20 %

Net sales increased $50,699 in 2023 compared to 2022 due to higher North American drilling and well completions, which led to increased demand for DS perforating
systems. International sales also increased by 28%, which favorably impacted 2023 results.

Gross profit percentage decreased to 27.5% primarily due to an unfavorable customer mix.
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General and administrative expenses decreased by $3,821 compared with 2022 primarily due to lower patent infringement litigation costs of $3,019 and depreciation
expense of $533.

Selling and distribution expenses increased by $4,884 compared with 2022 primarily due to increases in marketing costs of $1,609, bad debt expense of $1,371,
compensation costs of $831, freight and other supplies expense of $790, and business-related travel of $112.

Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments increased $3,011 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared with 2022 due to $1,140 of cost reduction
initiatives, primarily employee severance, and an asset impairment charge of $1,871 associated with the abandonment of a software asset.

Operating income increased by $7,298 compared with 2022 due primarily to increased gross profit.

Adjusted EBITDA increased in 2023 compared with 2022 primarily due to the factors discussed above. See "Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures" above for
explanation of the use of Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure. The following is a reconciliation of the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EBITDA.

2023 2022
Operating income $ 46,353 $ 39,055 
Adjustments:

Depreciation 6,847 7,578 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 59 299 
Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 3,011 — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 56,270 $ 46,932 

NobelClad
2023 2022 $ change % change

Net sales $ 105,253 $ 90,232 $ 15,021 17 %
Gross profit 33,529 22,050 11,479 52 %
Gross profit percentage 31.9 % 24.4 %
COSTS AND EXPENSES:

General and administrative expenses 4,092 4,587 (495) (11)%
Selling and distribution expenses 9,570 8,981 589 7 %
Amortization of purchased intangible assets — 311 (311) (100)%
Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 440 182 258 142 %

Operating income 19,427 7,989 11,438 143 %
Adjusted EBITDA $ 22,760 $ 11,901 $ 10,859 91 %

Net sales increased $15,021 in 2023 compared with 2022 due primarily to higher activity in core energy and petrochemical end markets, including increased pressure
vessel plate shipments.

Gross profit percentage increased to 31.9% in 2023 due to a more favorable project and regional mix, as well as the impact of higher sales on fixed manufacturing
overhead expenses.

General and administrative expenses decreased by $495 compared with 2022 due to lower outside services costs driven by a decrease in ERP system implementation
costs.

Selling and distribution expenses increased by $589 compared with 2022 due primarily to higher compensation costs of $787, partially offset by a decrease in
depreciation of $105 and bad debt expense of $61.

Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments increased by $258 compared with 2022 due to the impairment of a manufacturing asset that was removed from
production.

Operating income increased $11,438 compared to 2022 primarily due to an increase in gross profit.
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Adjusted EBITDA increased due to the factors discussed above. See "Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures" above for explanation of the use of Adjusted EBITDA, a
non-GAAP measure. The following is a reconciliation of the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EBITDA.

2023 2022
Operating income $ 19,427 $ 7,989 
Adjustments:

Depreciation 2,893 3,419 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets — 311 
Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 440 182 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 22,760 $ 11,901 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We have historically financed our operations from a combination of internally generated cash flow, revolving credit borrowings, and various long-term debt
arrangements. Our net debt position was $72,192 at December 31, 2023 compared to $107,654 at December 31, 2022. The decrease was driven by $17,500 in Term Loan
payments in 2023 and $12,471 of investments in marketable securities. We have a fully undrawn $50,000 revolving credit facility at December 31, 2023.

On October 22, 2020, we commenced an at-the-market equity ("ATM") program under a shelf registration statement filed in May 2020 under which we have sold a total
of 1,006,180 shares of common stock for net proceeds of $51,002 since inception. There was no ATM activity for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

In May 2021, the Company completed a registered public offering of its stock under an automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3ASR filed on May 3, 2021,
issuing a total of 2,875,000 shares of its common stock, which included the exercise of the over-allotment option, at a market price of $45 per share resulting in gross proceeds
of $129,375. Net proceeds from the offering were $123,461 after deducting underwriter fees and other expenses of $5,914. We used proceeds from the ATM program and the
registered public offering as part of the consideration used to acquire our 60% controlling interest in Arcadia Products.

In 2023, the Company completed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which became effective on March 31, 2023, for the potential offering of securities not to
exceed $200,000. We have not issued shares under this registration statement as of December 31, 2023. We may in the future seek to reengage under an at-the-market offering
program or otherwise access the capital markets, but there can be no assurance that any future capital will be available on acceptable terms or at all.

We believe that cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities on hand, cash flow from operations, funds available under our credit facilities and any future
replacement thereof will be sufficient to fund the working capital, required minimum debt service payments, and other capital expenditure requirements of our current business
operations for the foreseeable future. We may also execute capital markets transactions, including at-the-market offering programs, to raise additional funds if we believe market
conditions are favorable, but there can be no assurance that any future capital will be available on acceptable terms or at all. Nevertheless, our ability to generate sufficient cash
flows from operations will depend upon our success in executing our strategies. If we are unable to (i) realize sales from our backlog; (ii) secure new customer orders; (iii)
continue selling products at profitable margins; and (iv) continue to implement cost-effective internal processes, our ability to meet cash requirements through operating
activities could be impacted. Furthermore, any restriction on the availability of borrowings under our credit facilities could negatively affect our ability to meet future cash
requirements. We will continue to monitor financial market conditions, including the related impact on credit availability and capital markets.

Debt facilities
 
On December 23, 2021, in connection with the Arcadia Products acquisition, we entered into a five-year $200,000 syndicated credit agreement (“credit facility”) which

included a $150,000 Term Loan (the "Term Loan"), which is amortizable at 10% of principal per year with a balloon payment for the outstanding balance upon the credit
facility maturity date in 2026, and allows for revolving loans of up to $50,000. The credit facility is secured by the assets of DMC including accounts receivable, inventory, and
fixed assets, including Arcadia Products and its subsidiary, as well as guarantees and share pledges by DMC and its subsidiaries.
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Borrowings under the $150,000 Term Loan and $50,000 revolving loan limit can be in the form of Adjusted Daily Simple Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR")
loans or one month Adjusted Term SOFR loans. Additionally, U.S. dollar borrowings on the revolving loan can be in the form of Base Rate loans (Base Rate borrowings are
based on the greater of the administrative agent’s prime rate, an adjusted Federal Funds rate or an adjusted SOFR rate). SOFR loans bear interest at the applicable SOFR rate
plus an applicable margin (varying from 1.50% to 3.00%). Base Rate loans bear interest at the defined Base rate plus an applicable margin (varying from 0.50% to 2.00%).

The credit facility includes various covenants and restrictions, certain of which relate to the payment of dividends or other distributions to stockholders; redemption of
capital stock; incurrence of additional indebtedness; mortgaging, pledging or disposition of major assets; and maintenance of specified ratios. As of December 31, 2023, we
were in compliance with all financial covenants and other provisions of our debt agreements.

The leverage ratio is defined in the credit facility as the ratio of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness (as defined in the credit facility) on the last day of any trailing four
quarter period to Consolidated Pro Forma EBITDA (as defined in the credit facility) for such period. Consolidated Pro Forma EBITDA equals Adjusted EBITDA as calculated
within the Consolidated Results of Operations section plus certain predefined add-backs. The maximum leverage ratio permitted by our credit facility is 3.00 to 1.0 from the
quarter ended December 31, 2023 and thereafter. The actual leverage ratio as of December 31, 2023, calculated in accordance with the credit facility, as amended, was 1.25 to
1.0.

The debt service coverage ratio is defined in the credit facility as the ratio of Consolidated Pro Forma EBITDA less the sum of capital distributions paid in cash (other
than those made with respect to preferred stock issued under the Operating Agreement), Consolidated Unfunded Capital Expenditures (as defined in the credit facility), and net
cash income taxes to the sum of cash interest expense, any dividends on the preferred stock paid in cash, and scheduled principal payments on funded indebtedness. Under our
credit facility, the minimum debt service coverage ratio permitted is 1.35 to 1.0. The actual debt service coverage ratio for the trailing twelve months ended December 31, 2023
was 3.05 to 1.0.

As of December 31, 2023, borrowings of $117,500 on the Term Loan under our credit facility were outstanding. No amounts were outstanding on the $50,000 revolver
as of December 31, 2023.

We also maintain a line of credit with a German bank for certain European operations. This line of credit provides a borrowing capacity of €7,000 on which no amounts
were outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

Refer to Note 14 within Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for discussion of the credit facility amendment executed subsequent to December 31,
2023. The credit facility amendment was executed, in part, with the intention to provide the Company with the financial flexibility to purchase the remaining interest in Arcadia
Products.

Redeemable noncontrolling interest

The Operating Agreement for Arcadia Products contains a right for the Company to purchase the remaining interest in Arcadia Products from the minority interest holder
on or after the third anniversary of the acquisition closing date (“Call Option”). Similarly, the minority interest holder of Arcadia Products has the right to sell its remaining
interest in Arcadia Products to the Company on or after the third anniversary of the acquisition closing date (“Put Option”). Both the Call Option and Put Option enable the
respective holder to exercise their rights based upon a predefined calculation as included within the Operating Agreement.

As of December 31, 2023, the redeemable noncontrolling interest is $187,760 in comparison to our previous estimate at December 31, 2022 of $187,522. Upon
settlement, consideration paid will be net of the $24,902 promissory note outstanding due from the redeemable noncontrolling interest holder. Refer to Note 2 within Item 8 —
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for further information related to the valuation of the redeemable noncontrolling interest and promissory note outstanding.

Other contractual obligations and commitments
 
The table below presents principal cash flows by expected maturity dates for our debt obligations and other contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31,

2023:
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Payment Due by Period
As of December 31, 2023

 Less than   More than  
Other Contractual Obligations 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years Total
Credit facility $ 15,000 $ 102,500 $ — $ 117,500 
Operating lease obligations 9,575 17,945 13,608 14,367 55,495 
Purchase obligations 92,827 — — — 92,827 
Total $ 117,402 $ 120,445 $ 13,608 $ 14,367 $ 265,822 

 Represents outstanding borrowings under our credit facility but excludes future interest expense on outstanding credit facility borrowings. For more information about
our debt obligations, refer to Note 6 "Debt" within Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The operating lease obligations presented reflect future minimum lease payments due under non-cancelable portions of our leases as of December 31, 2023. Our
operating lease obligations are described in Note 5 "Leases" within Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

  Amounts represent firm commitments to purchase goods or services to be utilized in the normal course of business. These amounts are not reflected in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

The above table does not include amounts potentially payable upon exercise of the Put Option or Call Option associated with the redeemable noncontrolling interest.

Cash flows from operating activities
 
Net cash provided by operating activities was $65,927 in 2023 compared to $44,936 in 2022. The increase primarily was due to higher net income. Specifically, the

NobelClad and DynaEnergetics business segments experienced increases in operating income of $11,438 and $7,298, respectively. The improved financial performance was
driven by higher activity levels in each segment's core end markets. Additionally, working capital impacts on operating cash flows improved in 2023 as compared to 2022.

Cash flows from investing activities
 
Net cash used in investing activities in 2023 of $28,101 primarily related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of $15,974 and investments in marketable

securities of $12,471.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2022 was $20,926 and primarily related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of $18,584 and consideration
adjustments related to the acquisition of Arcadia Products of $2,404.

 Cash flows from financing activities
 
Net cash used in financing activities in 2023 totaled $33,182, which included payments on our Term Loan of $17,500, distributions to the redeemable noncontrolling

interest holder of $13,515, and treasury stock purchases of $2,481.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2022 totaled $28,510, which included payments on our Term Loan of $15,000, distributions to the redeemable noncontrolling
interest holder of $12,300, and treasury stock purchases of $1,231.

Payment of dividends

Any determination to pay cash dividends is at the discretion of the Board of Directors. On April 23, 2020, DMC announced that its Board of Directors suspended the
quarterly dividend indefinitely. Future dividends may be affected by, among other items, our views on potential future capital requirements, future business prospects, debt
covenant compliance considerations, changes in income tax laws, and any other factors that our Board of Directors deems relevant.

Critical Accounting Estimates
 

Our Consolidated Financial Statements contain information that is pertinent to management’s discussion and analysis of results of operations and financial condition.
Preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(1) 

(2) 

(3)

(4) 
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accounting principles in the United States requires that management make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for revenues, expenses, assets,
liabilities, and other related disclosures.

Our critical accounting estimates, described below, are important to the portrayal of our results of operations and financial condition. Management’s judgments and
estimates in these areas are based on information available and at times requires management to make difficult, subjective, and complex judgments. Actual results may or may
not differ from these estimates.

 
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower-of-cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value. Significant cost elements included in inventory are raw materials, labor, freight,
subcontract costs, and manufacturing overhead. As necessary, we write down inventory to its net realizable value by recording provisions for excess, slow moving and obsolete
inventory. To determine provision amounts, we regularly review inventory quantities on hand and values, and compare them to estimates of future product demand, market
conditions, production requirements and technological developments. If assumptions about future demand change and/or actual market conditions are less favorable than those
projected by the Company, additional write-downs of inventories may be required.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the amount by which the purchase price exceeds the fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired in a business
combination. Goodwill acquired in a business combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life is not amortized, but instead is tested for impairment at least
annually during the fourth quarter or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value might not be fully recoverable. For goodwill, impairment is
assessed at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or a component of an operating segment to the extent discrete financial information is
available that is reviewed by segment management. The Company's reporting units are each of the three operating segments disclosed in Note 10 within Item 8 — Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.

To test goodwill for impairment, we first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than
its carrying value. For the qualitative assessment, we consider macroeconomic and market conditions, cost factors, financial performance and other relevant entity-specific
events. If we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value during the qualitative assessment, then we quantitatively
estimate the fair value of the reporting unit and compare the estimated fair value to its carrying value. Based on the results of the quantitative assessment, if the carrying value
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference.

The assumptions used in a quantitative assessment require significant judgment, which include assumptions about future economic conditions and company-specific
conditions and plans. In the Company's quantitative assessment, we estimate the fair value of a reporting unit by using the income approach, specifically a discounted cash flow
analysis. A number of assumptions and estimates are required in performing the discounted cash flow analysis, including forecasts of revenues, gross profits, capital
expenditures, discount rates, working capital changes, and terminal growth rates. Actual results may differ from those assumed in the forecasts.

As of December 31, 2023, the carrying value of goodwill was $141,725 and relates entirely to the Arcadia Products operating segment and reporting unit. As of the date
of the 2023 annual impairment test, we performed a quantitative assessment and concluded that the fair value of the Arcadia Products reporting unit exceeded its carrying value
by approximately 10%. Discount rates are one of the more significant assumptions used in the income approach. If the Company increased the discount rate used by
approximately 100 basis points, the fair value of Arcadia Products would still exceed its carrying value. A sustained decline in general economic conditions, activity levels in
end markets or equity valuations could impact the judgments and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of Arcadia Products, and the Company could be required to record
an impairment charge in the future. If the Company was required to recognize an impairment charge in the future, the Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements
of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) could be materially impacted; however, the non-cash charge would not impact the Company's consolidated cash flows, current
liquidity, and capital resources.
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Asset impairments
 
Finite-lived assets, including purchased intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets, are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. We compare the expected undiscounted future operating cash flows associated with applicable assets or
asset groupings to their respective carrying values to determine if they are fully recoverable when indicators of impairment are present. If the expected future operating cash
flows of an asset or asset grouping are not sufficient to recover the related carrying value, we estimate the fair value of the asset or asset grouping. Impairment is recognized
when the carrying amount of the asset or asset grouping is not recoverable and when carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value.

The net carrying value of our purchased intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 was $195,260 and includes $195,215 of purchased intangible assets related to Arcadia
Products. The net carrying values of our property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as of December 31, 2023 were $129,267 and $45,409, respectively. During the
year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded impairment charges on our property, plant and equipment of $2,471. The impairment charges included $1,871 related to the
abandonment of a software asset at DynaEnergetics and $440 attributable to a manufacturing asset in NobelClad that was removed from production.

Income taxes
 
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future income tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases

of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognized for the expected future effects of all deductible temporary differences to the extent we believe these assets will more
likely than not be realized. We record a valuation allowance when, based on current circumstances, it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences,
projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, recent financial performance and existing valuation allowances, if any. As of December 31, 2023, we have a valuation
allowance of $6,167 recorded against deferred tax assets primarily in our foreign jurisdictions.

We recognize the tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits of the position, that the tax position will be
sustained upon examination, including the resolution of any related appeals or litigation. The tax benefits recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements from such a
position are measured as the largest benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate resolution. As of December 31, 2023, we have an uncertain tax position
liability of $5,017 recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheet related to tax positions taken in prior periods.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

At December 31, 2023, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined by SEC rules, that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect
on our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

Refer to Note 2 "Significant Accounting Policies" within Part II, Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data in this annual report for a discussion, as
applicable, of recent accounting pronouncements and their anticipated effect on our business.

ITEM 7A.        Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

Foreign Currency Risk
 
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are expressed in U.S. dollars, but a portion of our business is conducted in currencies other than U.S. dollars. Changes in the

exchange rates for such currencies into U.S. dollars can affect our revenues, earnings, and the carrying value of our assets and liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets,
either positively or negatively. Sales made in currencies other than U.S. dollars accounted for 9%, 6%, and 16% of total sales for the years ended 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively. As a result of foreign currency risk, we may experience economic loss and a negative impact on earnings and equity with respect to our holdings solely as a result
of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Our primary exposure to foreign currency risk is the Euro due to the percentage of our U.S. dollar revenue that is derived from
countries where the Euro is the functional currency.

55



Table of Contents

We use foreign currency forward contracts to offset foreign exchange rate fluctuation on foreign currency denominated asset and liability positions. Foreign currency
forward contracts are sensitive to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Consistent with the use of these contracts to neutralize the effect of exchange rate fluctuations,
such unrealized gains or losses would be offset by corresponding gains or losses, respectively, in the remeasurement of the asset and liability positions being hedged. As such,
these forward currency contracts and the offsetting underlying asset and liability positions do not create material market risk. The notional amount of the foreign exchange
contracts at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $32,310 and $21,907, respectively.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company's interest expense is sensitive to the general level of interest rates in North America and Europe. At December 31, 2023, all of the Company's debt was
subject to variable interest rates. A one percentage point increase in average interest rates would cause interest expense, net in 2023 to increase by $1,287. This was determined
by considering the impact of a hypothetical interest rate on the Company's average outstanding variable debt. This analysis does not consider the effect of the level of overall
economic activity that could exist. In the event of a change in the level of economic activity, which may adversely impact interest rates, the Company could likely take actions
to further mitigate any potential negative exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that might be taken and their possible effects, the
sensitivity analysis assumes no changes in the Company's financial structure.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of DMC Global Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DMC Global Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of
operations, statements of comprehensive income (loss), statements of stockholders’ equity and redeemable noncontrolling interest and statements of cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (2013 framework, and our report dated February 23, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it
relates.
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Valuation of Goodwill

Description of the Matter

At December 31, 2023, the Company had a consolidated goodwill balance of $141.7 million. As discussed in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually during the fourth quarter or whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value might not be fully recoverable. All goodwill recorded within the
Consolidated Balance Sheet relates to the Arcadia reporting unit. The Company performed a quantitative impairment assessment
by estimating the fair value of the Arcadia reporting unit using the discounted cashflow method. 

Auditing management's annual goodwill impairment test was complex due to the significant estimation involved in estimating the
fair value of the Arcadia reporting unit. The Company used the income approach – discounted cashflow method to value the
Arcadia reporting unit. The significant assumptions used to estimate the value of the Arcadia reporting unit included the discount
rate and certain assumptions that form the basis of the forecasted results including revenue growth rates and gross profit. These
significant assumptions are forward looking and could be affected by future economic and market conditions.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls
over the valuation of goodwill, including controls over management’s judgements and evaluation over the underlying assumptions
with regard to the valuation model applied to determine the fair value of the Arcadia reporting unit and management’s review of
its annual financial forecasts. We also tested management's internal controls to validate that the data used in the discounted
cashflow model was complete and accurate.

To test the estimated fair value of the Arcadia reporting unit, our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the
Company’s use of the income approach and testing the discounted cashflow model and significant assumptions as noted above
used in the valuation models, including the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data. For example, we compared the
significant assumptions to current industry and market trends and to the historical results of the Arcadia reporting unit. 

We also performed sensitivity analyses of the significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the Arcadia
reporting unit that would result from changes in the assumptions. In addition, we involved internal valuation specialists to assist
in our evaluation of the valuation methodology and certain significant assumptions as noted above used by the Company. Our
internal valuation specialists’ procedures included, among others, developing a range of independent estimates for the discount
rate and comparing those to the discount rate selected by management. In addition, we tested management’s reconciliation of the
fair value of the reporting units to the market capitalization of the Company.

 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2002.
Denver, Colorado
February 23, 2024
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DMC GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

    
As of December 31,

2023 2022
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,040 $ 25,144 
Marketable securities 12,619 — 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,955 and $925, respectively 106,205 94,415 
Inventories 166,712 156,590 
Prepaid expenses and other 10,236 10,723 

Total current assets 326,812 286,872 
Property, plant and equipment 223,683 211,277 
Less - accumulated depreciation (94,416) (81,832)

Property, plant and equipment, net 129,267 129,445 
Goodwill 141,725 141,725 
Purchased intangible assets, net 195,260 217,925 
Deferred tax assets 6,738 7,633 
Other assets 84,693 95,378 

Total assets $ 884,495 $ 878,978 

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST, AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 40,202 $ 46,816 
Accrued expenses 10,830 8,415 
Accrued income taxes 12,810 4,256 
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 16,918 14,441 
Contract liabilities 21,621 32,080 
Current portion of long-term debt 15,000 15,000 
Other current liabilities 9,080 7,042 

Total current liabilities 126,461 128,050 
Long-term debt 100,851 117,798 
Deferred tax liabilities 1,956 1,908 
Other long-term liabilities 57,172 63,053 

Total liabilities 286,440 310,809 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 187,760 187,522 
Stockholders' Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.05 par value; 4,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding — — 
Common stock, $0.05 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 20,467,495 and 20,140,654 shares issued, respectively 1,023 1,007 
Additional paid-in capital 313,833 303,893 
Retained earnings 146,604 125,215 
Other cumulative comprehensive loss (26,426) (28,758)
Treasury stock, at cost, and company stock held for deferred compensation, at par; 689,700 and 605,723 shares, respectively (24,739) (20,710)

Total stockholders' equity 410,295 380,647 
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest, and stockholders' equity $ 884,495 $ 878,978 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DMC GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net sales $ 719,188 $ 654,086 $ 260,115 
Cost of products sold 507,136 468,639 200,635 

Gross profit 212,052 185,447 59,480 
Costs and expenses:

General and administrative expenses 75,341 76,119 36,276 
Selling and distribution expenses 49,101 42,230 22,507 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 22,667 36,926 1,391 
Acquisition expenses — — 1,581 
Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 3,766 182 127 

Total costs and expenses 150,875 155,457 61,882 
Operating income (loss) 61,177 29,990 (2,402)
Other (expense) income

Other (expense) income, net (1,782) (594) 152 
Interest expense, net (9,516) (6,187) (304)

Income (loss) before income taxes 49,879 23,209 (2,554)
Income tax provision (benefit) 15,120 9,376 (1,544)

Net income (loss) 34,759 13,833 (1,010)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest 8,500 1,586 (808)
Net income (loss) attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders $ 26,259 $ 12,247 $ (202)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders:
Basic $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ (0.26)
Diluted $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ (0.26)

Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 19,504,542 19,360,677 17,610,711 

Diluted 19,518,382 19,369,165 17,610,711 

Reconciliation to net income (loss) attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders after adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest for purposes of calculating earnings per
share

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net income (loss) attributable to DMC Global Inc. $ 26,259 $ 12,247 $ (202)
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest (4,870) 1,937 (4,424)
Net income (loss) attributable to DMC Global Inc. common shareholders after adjustment of redeemable
noncontrolling interest $ 21,389 $ 14,184 $ (4,626)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DMC GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Amounts in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net income (loss) $ 34,759 $ 13,833 $ (1,010)

Change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment 2,332 (2,220) (3,576)
Other comprehensive income (loss) $ 37,091 $ 11,613 $ (4,586)

Less: comprehensive income (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest 8,500 1,586 (808)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders $ 28,591 $ 10,027 $ (3,778)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DMC GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Share Data)

     Other Treasury Stock, at cost, and Total  Redeemable
   Additional  Cumulative Company Stock Held for DMC Global Inc. Non-
 Common Stock Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Deferred Compensation, at par stockholders’ Controlling
 Shares Amount Capital Earnings Loss Shares Amount equity Interest
Balances, December 31, 2020 15,917,559 $ 796 $ 117,387 $ 115,657 $ (22,962) (528,274) $ (13,964) $ 196,914 $ — 
Net loss — — — (202) — — — (202) (808)
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — — (3,576) — — (3,576) — 
Shares issued in connection with equity offering 2,875,000 144 123,317 — — — — 123,461 — 
Shares issued in connection with at-the-market offering
program 397,820 20 25,242 — — — — 25,262 — 
Shares issued in connection with stock compensation
plans 178,992 9 425 — — — — 434 — 
Shares issued in connection with acquisition 551,458 27 21,689 — — — — 21,716 — 
Acquired redeemable noncontrolling interest — — — — — — — — 193,580 
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest — — — (4,424) — — — (4,424) 4,424 
Stock-based compensation — — 6,455 — — — — 6,455 — 
Treasury stock activity — — — — — (42,141) (5,515) (5,515) — 
Balances, December 31, 2021 19,920,829 $ 996 $ 294,515 $ 111,031 $ (26,538) (570,415) $ (19,479) $ 360,525 $ 197,196 
Net income — — — 12,247 — — — 12,247 1,586 
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — — (2,220) — — (2,220) — 
Shares issued in connection with stock compensation
plans 219,825 11 190 — — — — 201 — 
Consideration adjustments related to redeemable
noncontrolling interest — — — — — — — — 2,095 
Stock-based compensation — — 9,188 — — — — 9,188 882 
Distribution to redeemable noncontrolling interest holder — — — — — — — — (12,300)
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest — — — 1,937 — — — 1,937 (1,937)
Treasury stock activity — — — — — (35,308) (1,231) (1,231) — 
Balances, December 31, 2022 20,140,654 $ 1,007 $ 303,893 $ 125,215 $ (28,758) (605,723) $ (20,710) $ 380,647 $ 187,522 
Net income — — — 26,259 — — — 26,259 8,500 
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — — 2,332 — — 2,332 — 
Shares issued in connection with stock compensation
plans 326,841 16 298 — — — — 314 — 
Stock-based compensation — — 9,642 — — — — 9,642 628 
Distribution to redeemable noncontrolling interest holder — — — — — — — — (13,760)
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest — — — (4,870) — — — (4,870) 4,870 
Treasury stock activity — — — — — (83,977) (4,029) (4,029) — 
Balances, December 31, 2023 20,467,495 $ 1,023 $ 313,833 $ 146,604 $ (26,426) (689,700) $ (24,739) $ 410,295 $ 187,760 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DMC GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 34,759 $ 13,833 $ (1,010)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 13,840 14,281 11,303 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 22,667 36,926 1,391 
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs 553 553 248 
Amortization of acquisition-related inventory valuation step-up — 430 — 
Stock-based compensation 10,270 10,058 6,574 
Deferred income taxes 970 (599) (1,846)
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (148) — — 
Asset impairments 2,471 — — 
Other (181) 1,526 (77)
Change in:

Accounts receivable, net (11,134) (23,108) (9,769)
Inventories (9,461) (33,766) (12,440)
Prepaid expenses and other 15,619 9,118 (19,413)
Accounts payable (6,727) 7,086 13,584 
Contract liabilities (10,527) 11,183 1,613 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,956 (2,585) (2,970)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 65,927 44,936 (12,812)
Cash flows used in investing activities:

Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired — — (261,000)
Consideration adjustments related to acquisition of business — (2,404) — 
Promissory note to redeemable noncontrolling interest holder — — (24,902)
Investment in marketable securities (12,471) — (123,984)
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities — — 4,799 
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities — — 144,921 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (15,974) (18,584) (8,659)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 344 62 1,019 
Net cash used in investing activities (28,101) (20,926) (267,806)

Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities:
Borrowings on term loan — — 150,000 
Repayments on term loan (17,500) (15,000) — 
Repayments on capital expenditure facility — — (11,750)
Payments of debt issuance costs — (180) (2,337)
Distributions to redeemable noncontrolling interest holder (13,515) (12,300) — 
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock through equity offering    — — 123,461 
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock through at-the-market offering program — — 25,262 
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock to employees and directors 314 201 434 
Treasury stock purchases (2,481) (1,231) (2,485)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (33,182) (28,510) 282,585 

Effects of exchange rates on cash 1,252 (1,166) 656 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,896 (5,666) 2,623 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 25,144 30,810 28,187 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period $ 31,040 $ 25,144 $ 30,810 
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DMC GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Thousands)

Supplemental cash flow information:
Non-cash lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets 4,335 3,978 41,219 
Non-cash consideration for acquisition of business, net of cash acquired $ — $ 740 $ 21,716 
Cash paid during the period for -

Interest 9,188 6,236 51 
Income taxes, net 4,418 2,860 7,533 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DMC GLOBAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

 
1.    ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS
 

DMC Global Inc. (“DMC”, "we", "us", "our", or the "Company") was incorporated in the state of Colorado in 1971 and reincorporated in the state of Delaware in 1997.
DMC is headquartered in Broomfield, Colorado and has manufacturing facilities in the United States and Germany. DMC’s portfolio currently consists of three businesses:
Arcadia Products, DynaEnergetics, and NobelClad, which are three innovative, asset-light manufacturing businesses that provide differentiated products and engineered
solutions to segments of the construction, energy, industrial processing and transportation markets. In December 2021, DMC acquired a controlling interest in Arcadia Products.
Arcadia Products designs, engineers, fabricates, and finishes aluminum framing systems, windows, curtain walls, storefronts, entrance systems, and interior partitions to the
commercial construction market. Additionally, Arcadia supplies customized windows and doors to the ultra-high-end residential real estate market. DynaEnergetics designs,
manufactures, markets and sells perforating systems and associated hardware for the global oil and gas industry. NobelClad produces explosion-welded clad metal plates for use
in the construction of corrosion resistant industrial processing equipment and specialized transition joints for commuter rail cars, ships, and liquified natural gas (LNG)
processing equipment. DMC trades on Nasdaq under the symbol “BOOM.”

2.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 

Principles of Consolidation
 

The Company's consolidated financial statements ("Consolidated Financial Statements") include the accounts of DMC and its controlled subsidiaries. All intercompany
accounts, profits, and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Business Combination

The results of a business acquired in a business combination are included in the Company’s financial statements from the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related
transaction costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred. The Company allocates purchase price to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired
business at their acquisition date fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill.

Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management to make significant judgments and estimates, including the selection of
valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenue and cash flows, discount rates and selection of comparable companies.

Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange Rate Risk
 

The functional currency of our foreign operations is the applicable local currency for each affiliate company. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries for which the
functional currency is the local currency are translated at exchange rates in effect at period-end, and the Statements of Operations are translated at the average exchange rates
during the period. Exchange rate fluctuations on translating foreign currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are referred to as translation adjustments. Translation
adjustments are recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and are included in "Other cumulative comprehensive loss." Transactions denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency are recorded based on exchange rates at the time such transactions arise. Subsequent changes in exchange rates result in transaction gains and
losses, which are reflected in "Other (expense) income, net" as unrealized, based on period-end exchange rates, or realized, upon settlement of the transaction. Cash flows from
our operations in foreign countries are translated at actual exchange rates when known, or at the average rate for the period. As a result, amounts related to assets and liabilities
reported in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows will not agree to changes in the corresponding balances in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
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effects of exchange rate changes on cash balances held in foreign currencies are reported as a separate line item below cash flows from financing activities.
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

For purposes of the Consolidated Financial Statements, we consider highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
 

Marketable Securities

In periods where we hold excess cash and cash equivalents, we invest in highly rated securities, with the primary objectives of preserving principal, providing access to
liquidity to fund the ongoing operations and strategic needs of the Company and its subsidiaries, and achieving a yield that is commensurate with low risk and highly liquid
securities. The Company’s investment policy generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer.

As of December 31, 2023, our investments were comprised of highly rated commercial deposits, commercial paper and U.S. Treasury securities with maturities ranging
from three to twelve months, and these investments were classified and accounted for as trading securities. The Company’s marketable securities are measured at fair value with
gains and losses recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within “Other (expense) income, net." During the year ended December 31, 2022, we did not hold
marketable securities.

Accounts Receivable
 

The Company measures expected credit losses for its accounts receivable using a current expected credit loss model, which is based on historical experience, adjusted for
current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The Company has disaggregated pools of accounts receivable balances by business, geography and/or customer
risk profile and has used history and other experience to establish an allowance for credit losses at the time the receivable is recognized. To measure expected credit losses, we
have elected to pool trade receivables by segment and analyze Arcadia Products, DynaEnergetics and NobelClad accounts receivable balances as separate populations. Within
each segment, receivables exhibit similar risk characteristics.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, our expected loss rate reflects uncertainties in market conditions present in our businesses, including supply chain disruptions,
customer consolidation, rising interest rates, as well as global geopolitical and economic instability. In addition, we reviewed receivables outstanding, including aged balances,
and in circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligation to us, we recorded a specific allowance for credit losses against the
amounts due, reducing the net recognized receivable to the amount we estimate will be collected. The offsetting expense is charged to “Selling and distribution expenses” in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Net provisions of $1,146 were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
we recorded net provisions of $720 and $171, respectively.

The following table summarizes current year activity in the allowance for credit losses on receivables from customers in each of our business segments:

Arcadia Products DynaEnergetics NobelClad DMC Global Inc.
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2022 $ 244 $ 603 $ 78 $ 925 
Current period provision for expected credit losses — 1,488 20 1,508 
Write-offs charged against the allowance — (120) — (120)
Recoveries of amounts previously reserved (184) (135) (43) (362)
Impacts of foreign currency exchange rates and other — 2 2 4 
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2023 $ 60 $ 1,838 $ 57 $ 1,955 

Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, except for assets acquired in acquisitions which are recorded at fair value. Additions and improvements are
capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is
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computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related asset (except leasehold improvements which are depreciated over the shorter of their
estimated useful life or the lease term) as follows:
 
Buildings and improvements 10-40 years
Manufacturing equipment and tooling 3-15 years
Furniture, fixtures, and computer software and equipment 3-10 years
Other 3-10 years

Gross property, plant and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

 

2023 2022
Land $ 4,267 $ 4,215 
Buildings and improvements 64,281 63,184 
Manufacturing equipment and tooling 87,936 85,477 
Furniture, fixtures, and computer software and equipment 31,406 24,800 
Other 16,262 15,775 
Construction in process 19,531 17,826 

 Total gross property, plant and equipment $ 223,683 $ 211,277 

Asset Impairments
 

Finite-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. We compare the
expected undiscounted future operating cash flows associated with applicable assets or asset groupings to their respective carrying values to determine if they are fully
recoverable when indicators of impairment are present. If the expected future operating cash flows of an asset or asset grouping are not sufficient to recover the related carrying
value, we estimate the fair value of the asset or asset grouping. Impairment is recognized when the carrying amount of the asset or asset grouping is not recoverable and when
carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value. Long-lived assets to be disposed of, if any, are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded asset impairments of $2,471 primarily related to a $1,871 impairment charge associated with the abandonment of a
software asset at DynaEnergetics and $440 attributable to a manufacturing asset at NobelClad that was removed from production. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, no asset impairments were recorded.
 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the amount by which the purchase price exceeds the fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired in a business
combination. Goodwill acquired in a business combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life is not amortized, but instead is tested for impairment at least
annually during the fourth quarter or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value might not be fully recoverable. For goodwill, impairment is
assessed at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or a component of an operating segment to the extent discrete financial information is
available that is reviewed by segment management. The Company's reporting units are each of the three operating segments: Arcadia Products, DynaEnergetics, and NobelClad.

To test goodwill for impairment, we first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than
its carrying value. For the qualitative assessment, we consider macroeconomic and market conditions, cost factors, financial performance and other relevant entity-specific
events. If we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value during the qualitative assessment, then we quantitatively
estimate the fair value of the reporting unit and compare the estimated fair value to its carrying value. Based on the results of the quantitative assessment, if the carrying value
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference.

The assumptions used in a quantitative assessment require significant judgment, which include assumptions about future economic conditions and company-specific
conditions and plans. In the Company's quantitative assessment, we estimate the fair value of a reporting unit by using the income approach, specifically a discounted cash flow
analysis. A number of
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assumptions and estimates are required in performing the discounted cash flow analysis, including forecasts of revenues, gross profits, capital expenditures, discount rates,
working capital changes, and terminal growth rates.

As of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, all goodwill recorded within the Consolidated Balance Sheets relates to Arcadia Products. As of the date of
the 2023 annual impairment test, we performed a quantitative assessment and concluded that the fair value of the Arcadia Products reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by
approximately 10%. Discount rates are one of the more significant assumptions used in the income approach. If the Company increased the discount rate used by approximately
100 basis points, the fair value of Arcadia Products would still exceed its carrying value.

Contract Liabilities
 
On occasion, we require customers to make advanced payments prior to the shipment of their orders in order to help finance our inventory investment on large orders or

to keep customers’ credit limits at acceptable levels. Contract liabilities were as follows at December 31:
2023 2022

Arcadia Products $ 13,815 $ 27,634 
DynaEnergetics 1,144 785 
NobelClad 6,662 3,661 
Total $ 21,621 $ 32,080 

We generally expect to recognize the revenue associated with contract liabilities over a time period no longer than one year, but unforeseen circumstances can cause
delays in shipments associated with contract liabilities, including supply chain delays and disruptions as well as the adequacy of labor supply at our facilities.

Redeemable noncontrolling interest

On December 23, 2021, DMC completed the acquisition of 60% of the membership interests in Arcadia Products, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company resulting
from the conversion of Arcadia, Inc. (collectively, “Arcadia Products”). The limited liability company operating agreement for Arcadia Products (the “Operating Agreement”)
contains a right for the Company to purchase the remaining interest in Arcadia Products from the minority interest holder on or after the third anniversary of the acquisition
closing date (“Call Option”). Similarly, the minority interest holder of Arcadia Products has the right to sell its remaining interest in Arcadia Products to the Company on or
after the third anniversary of the acquisition closing date (“Put Option”). Both the Call Option and Put Option enable the respective holder to exercise their rights based upon a
predefined calculation as included within the Operating Agreement.

The Company initially accounted for the noncontrolling interest at its acquisition date fair value. We determined that neither the Call Option nor the Put Option meet the
definition of a derivative as the Operating Agreement does not allow for contractual net settlement, the options cannot be settled outside the Operating Agreement through a
market mechanism, and the underlying shares are deemed illiquid as they are not publicly traded and thus not considered readily convertible to cash. Additionally, the
settlement price for both options is based upon a predefined calculation tied to adjusted earnings rather than a fixed price, and the formula is based upon a multiple of Arcadia’s
average adjusted earnings over a three-year period. As such, we have concluded that the Call Option and Put Option are embedded within the noncontrolling interest and
therefore do not represent freestanding instruments.

Given that the noncontrolling interest is subject to possible redemption with redemption rights that are not entirely within the control of the Company, we have concluded
that the noncontrolling interest should be accounted for in accordance with ASC 480 Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity ("ASC 480"). The noncontrolling interest is also
probable of redemption, as the only criteria for the security to become redeemable is the passage of time. As such, the redeemable noncontrolling interest is classified in
temporary equity, separate from the stockholders’ equity section, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to acquisition, two separate calculations must be performed to determine the value of the redeemable noncontrolling interest. First,
the redeemable noncontrolling interest must be accounted for in accordance with ASC 810 Consolidation (“ASC 810”) whereby income (loss) and cash distributions
attributable to the redeemable noncontrolling interest holder are ascribed. After this occurs, applicable provisions of ASC 480 must be considered to determine whether any
further adjustment is necessary to increase the carrying value of the redeemable noncontrolling interest. An adjustment would only be necessary if the estimated settlement
amount of the redeemable noncontrolling interest, per the terms of the Operating Agreement, exceeds the carrying value calculated in accordance with ASC 810. If such
adjustment is
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required, the impact is immediately recorded to retained earnings and therefore does not impact the Consolidated Statements of Operations or Comprehensive Income (Loss).
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the redeemable noncontrolling interest was $187,760 and $187,522, respectively.

Promissory Note

In order to equalize after-tax consideration to the redeemable noncontrolling interest holder relative to an alternative transaction structure, immediately following the
closing of the acquisition, the Company loaned $24,902 to the redeemable noncontrolling interest holder. The loan was evidenced by an unsecured promissory note, and the
loan will be repaid out of proceeds from the sale of the redeemable noncontrolling interest holder’s interests in Arcadia Products, whether received upon exercise of the Put
Option, the Call Option or upon sales to third parties permitted under the terms of the Operating Agreement. The loan must be repaid in full at the earlier of the exercise of the
Put or Call Option, or by December 16, 2051, and has been recorded within “Other assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue Recognition
 
The Company’s revenues are primarily derived from consideration paid by customers for tangible goods. The Company analyzes its different products by segment to

determine the appropriate basis for revenue recognition. Revenue is not generated from sources other than contracts with customers and revenue is recognized net of any taxes
collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities. There are no material upfront costs for operations that are incurred from contracts with
customers.

Our rights to payments for goods transferred to customers within our DynaEnergetics and NobelClad business segments arise when control is transferred at a point in
time and not on any other criteria. Our rights to payments for goods transferred to customers within our Arcadia Products business segment also predominantly arise when
control is transferred at a point in time; however, at times, control of certain customized, project-based products passes to the customer over time. Payment terms and conditions
vary by contract, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 90 days across all of our segments. In instances when we require customers to make
advanced payments prior to the shipment of their orders, we record a contract liability. We have determined that our contract liabilities do not include a significant financing
component given the short duration between order initiation and order fulfillment within each of our segments. Refer to Note 10 “Business Segments” for disaggregated
revenue disclosures.

Arcadia Products
Customers agree to terms and conditions at the time of initiating an order. A significant portion of transactions contain standard architectural building materials that are

not made-to-order, which include standard storefronts and entrance systems, windows, curtain walls, and interior partitions. In instances where multiple products are included
within an order, each product represents a separate performance obligation given that: (1) the customer can benefit from each product on a standalone basis and (2) each product
is distinct within the context of the contract.

The transaction price is readily determinable and fixed at the time the transaction is entered into with the customer. Arcadia Products is entitled to each product’s
transaction price upon the customer obtaining control of the item. For standard architectural building materials that are not made-to-order, such control transfers at a point in
time, which is generally when the product has been shipped to the customer and the legal title has been transferred. Upon shipment and title transfer, Arcadia Products has
performed its contractual requirements such that it has a present right to payment, and the customer from that point forward bears all risks and rewards of ownership. In
addition, at this date, the customer has the ability to direct the use of, or restrict access to, the asset. Payment discounts, rebates, refunds, or any other forms of variable
consideration are typically not granted to Arcadia Products customers.

For contracts that contain only one performance obligation, the total transaction price is allocated to the sole performance obligation. For contracts which contain
multiple distinct performance obligations, judgment is required to determine the standalone selling price (“SSP”) for each performance obligation. However, such judgment is
largely mitigated given that standard architectural building materials purchased are generally shipped at the same time. In instances where products purchased are not shipped at
the same time, Arcadia Products uses the contractually stated price to determine SSP as each performance obligation's price has been approved by the customer and
approximates the price sold separately.
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At times, Arcadia Products will also contract with customers to supply customized architectural building materials based on design specifications, measurements,
finishes, framing materials, and other options selected by the customer at the time an order is initiated. For these contracts, which are significantly less frequent in both volume
and financial statement magnitude, Arcadia Products has an enforceable right to payment from its customers at the time an order is received and accepted for all manufacturing
efforts expended on behalf of its customers. Due to the customized nature of these products, the Company has concluded that the substantial portion of the related goods
produced have no alternative use, and therefore control of these products passes to the customer over time. We have concluded that recognizing revenue utilizing an over-time
output method based upon units delivered reasonably depicts the fulfillment of our performance obligations under our contracts and the value received by the customer based
upon our performance to date. This conclusion is further supported by the frequency of shipments in fulfilling these contracts. We have elected not to disclose our unsatisfied
performance obligations as of December 31, 2023 under the short-term contract exemption as we expect such performance obligations will be satisfied within the next 12
months following the end of the reporting period.

Billings for customized architectural building materials occur at times upon delivery, but also can occur via pre-established billing schedules agreed upon at the
commencement of the contract. Therefore, we frequently generate contract liabilities in instances when we have billed the customer in excess of revenue recognized for units
delivered.

DynaEnergetics

Customers agree to terms and conditions at the time of initiating an order. Transactions contain standard products, which may include perforating system components,
such as detonating cord, or systems and associated hardware, including Factory-Assembled, Performance-Assured  DynaStage ("DS") perforating systems. In instances
where multiple products are included within an order, each product represents a separate performance obligation given that: (1) the customer can benefit from each product on a
standalone basis and (2) each product is distinct within the context of the contract. However, judgment is significantly mitigated given that products purchased are generally
shipped at the same time.

The transaction price is readily determinable and fixed at the time the transaction is entered into with the customer. DynaEnergetics is entitled to each product’s
transaction price upon the customer obtaining control of the item. Such control occurs as of a point in time, which is generally based upon relevant International Commercial
Terms (“Incoterms") as it relates to product ownership and legal title being transferred. Upon fulfillment of applicable Incoterms, DynaEnergetics has performed its contractual
requirements such that it has a present right to payment, and the customer from that point forward bears all risks and rewards of ownership. In addition, at this date, the
customer has the ability to direct the use of, or restrict access to, the asset. No payment discounts, rebates, refunds, or any other forms of variable consideration are included
within contracts. DynaEnergetics also does not provide service-type warranties either via written agreement or customary business practice, nor does it allow customer returns
without its prior approval.

NobelClad

Customers agree to terms and conditions at the time of initiating an order. The significant majority of transactions contain a single performance obligation - the delivery
of a clad metal product. In instances where multiple products are included within an order, each product represents a separate performance obligation given that: (1) the
customer can benefit from each product on a standalone basis and (2) each product is distinct within the context of the contract. However, judgment is significantly mitigated
given that products purchased are generally shipped at the same time.

The transaction price is readily determinable and fixed at the time the transaction is entered into with the customer. NobelClad is entitled to each product’s transaction
price upon the customer obtaining control of the item. Such control occurs as of a point in time, which is generally based upon relevant Incoterms as it relates to product
ownership and legal title being transferred. Upon fulfillment of applicable Incoterms, NobelClad has performed its contractual requirements such that it has a present right to
payment, and the customer from that point forward bears all risks and rewards of ownership. In addition, at this date, the customer has the ability to direct the use of, or restrict
access to, the asset. No payment discounts, rebates, refunds, or any other forms of variable consideration are included within NobelClad contracts. NobelClad also does not
provide service-type warranties either via written agreement or customary business practice, nor does it allow customer returns.

Research and Development

Research and development costs include expenses associated with developing new products and processes as well as improvements to current manufacturing processes.
Research and development costs were $6,864, $6,781, and $7,240 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

TM ®  
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Income Taxes
 

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future income tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases
of assets and liabilities. Any effects of changes in income tax rates or tax laws are included in the provision for income taxes in the period of enactment. The deferred income
tax impact of tax credits are recognized as an immediate adjustment to income tax expense. We recognize deferred tax assets for the expected future effects of all deductible
temporary differences to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. We record a valuation allowance when, based on current circumstances, it is
more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence,
including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, recent financial performance and existing valuation
allowances, if any.

We recognize the tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits of the position, that the tax position will be
sustained upon examination, including the resolution of any related appeals or litigation. The tax benefits recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements from such a
position are measured as the largest benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate resolution. We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax
positions in operating expense.

Refer to Note 9 "Income Taxes" for further information.

Earnings Per Share
 

In periods with net income, the Company computes earnings per share (“EPS”) using a two-class method, which is an earnings allocation formula that determines EPS
for (i) each class of common stock (the Company has a single class of common stock), and (ii) participating securities according to dividends declared and participation rights in
undistributed earnings. Restricted stock awards are considered participating securities in periods of net income as they receive non-forfeitable rights to dividends as common
stock. Restricted stock awards do not participate in net losses. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we were in a net income position, and all potentially dilutive
shares were included in the determination of diluted EPS. Given we were in a net loss position for the year ended December 31, 2021 all potentially dilutive shares were anti-
dilutive and were therefore excluded from the determination of diluted EPS.

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to the Company's stockholders after adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Net income (loss) available to common shareholders of the Company includes any adjustment to the
redeemable noncontrolling interest as of the end of the period presented. Refer to the "Redeemable noncontrolling interest" section above for further discussion of the
calculation of the adjustment of the redeemable noncontrolling interest. Diluted EPS adjusts basic EPS for the effects of restricted stock awards, restricted stock units,
performance share units and other potentially dilutive financial instruments (dilutive securities), only in the periods in which such effect is dilutive. The effect of the dilutive
securities is reflected in diluted EPS by application of the more dilutive of (1) the treasury stock method or (2) the two-class method. For the applicable periods presented,
diluted EPS using the two-class method was more dilutive than the treasury stock method; as such, only the two-class method has been included below.
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EPS was calculated as follows for the years ended December 31:
2023 2022 2021

Net income (loss) attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders, as reported $ 26,259 $ 12,247 $ (202)
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest (4,870) 1,937 (4,424)
Less: Undistributed net income available to participating securities (305) (198) — 
Numerator for basic net income (loss) per share: 21,084 13,986 (4,626)
Add: Undistributed net income allocated to participating securities 305 198 — 
Less: Undistributed net income reallocated to participating securities (305) (198) — 
Numerator for diluted net income (loss) per share: 21,084 13,986 (4,626)
Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic net income (loss) per share 19,504,542 19,360,677 17,610,711 
Effect of dilutive securities 13,840 8,488 — 
Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted net income (loss) per share 19,518,382 19,369,165 17,610,711 
Net income (loss) per share attributable to DMC Global Inc. stockholders:
Basic $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ (0.26)

Diluted $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ (0.26)

For the year ended December 31, 2023, 7,387 shares were excluded as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. We are required to use an established hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon the inputs to the valuation and the degree to which they are
observable or not observable in the market. The three levels in the hierarchy are as follows:                   

• Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation based upon quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that are accessible as of the measurement
date.

• Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation include quoted prices in either markets that are not active, or in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable, and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

• Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

The highest priority is assigned to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximate their fair value. Our marketable securities are
valued using quoted prices in active markets that are accessible as of the measurement date. The carrying value of our term loan and revolving loans, when outstanding, under
our credit facility also approximate their fair value because of the variable interest rate associated with those instruments, which reset each month at market interest rates. All of
these items are considered Level 1 assets and liabilities.

Our foreign currency forward contracts are valued using quoted market prices or are determined using a yield curve model based on current market rates. As a result, we
classify these instruments as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. Money market funds and mutual funds of $3,257 and $8,444 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
held to satisfy future deferred compensation obligations are valued based upon the market values of underlying securities and are classified as Level 2 assets in the fair value
hierarchy.

(1)

(1) 
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We did not hold any Level 3 assets or liabilities as of December 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022.
     

Restructuring expenses

Restructuring expenses are incurred from time to time to improve operational efficiency across our businesses. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021 we recorded total restructuring expenses of $3,766, $182, and $127, respectively. In 2023, these expenses were primarily related to asset impairments and employee
severance. Refer to "Asset Impairments" section above for further discussion of the asset impairments recorded.

Total restructuring charges incurred are as follows and were reported in the "Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments" line item in our Consolidated Statements
of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2023:

2023

Severance Asset Impairment
Contract Termination

Costs
Equipment Moving

and Other Exit Costs
Stock-based

compensation Total
DynaEnergetics $ 1,035 $ 1,871 $ 86 $ 19 $ — 3,011 
NobelClad — 440 — — — 440 
Corporate — 160 — — 155 315 
Total $ 1,035 $ 2,471 $ 86 $ 19 $ 155 $ 3,766 

Concentration of Credit Risk and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, and accounts receivable. Generally, we do
not require collateral to secure receivables. At December 31, 2023, we had no financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk of accounting losses.

Other Cumulative Comprehensive Loss
 

Other cumulative comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 consisted entirely of currency translation adjustments, including intra-entity foreign
currency transactions that are classified as long-term investments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

We have considered all recent accounting pronouncements issued, but not yet effective, and we do not expect any to have a material effect on the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. INVENTORIES
    
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value. Significant cost elements included in inventory are raw materials, labor, freight,

subcontract costs, and manufacturing overhead. As necessary, we write down inventory to its net realizable value by recording provisions for excess, slow moving and obsolete
inventory. To determine provision amounts, we regularly review inventory quantities on hand and values, and compare them to estimates of future product demand, market
conditions, production requirements and technological developments.

Inventories consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023:
Arcadia Products DynaEnergetics NobelClad DMC Global Inc.

Raw materials $ 9,257 $ 26,107 $ 7,089 $ 42,453 
Work-in-process 7,565 23,196 12,509 43,270 
Finished goods 56,463 23,644 633 80,740 
Supplies — — 249 249 
 Total inventories $ 73,285 $ 72,947 $ 20,480 $ 166,712 
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Inventories consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022:
Arcadia Products DynaEnergetics NobelClad DMC Global Inc.

Raw materials $ 11,099 $ 23,701 $ 8,926 $ 43,726 
Work-in-process 11,468 21,198 7,587 40,253 
Finished goods 55,074 16,802 456 72,332 
Supplies — — 279 279 
 Total inventories $ 77,641 $ 61,701 $ 17,248 $ 156,590 

4. PURCHASED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Our purchased intangible assets primarily include finite-lived customer relationships and trademarks/trade names. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the
estimated useful life of the related assets. Customer relationships are amortized using an accelerated amortization method. The remaining weighted average amortization period
of all purchased intangible assets is approximately 13 years in total. The remaining weighted average amortization periods of the purchased intangible assets by asset category
are as follows:

 
Core technology 0.75 years
Customer relationships 13 years
Trademarks / Trade names 13 years

Our purchased intangible assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023:
 

Gross
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Core technology $ 283 $ (269) $ 14 
Customer backlog 22,000 (22,000) — 
Customer relationships 211,128 (34,913) 176,215 
Trademarks / Trade names 22,000 (2,969) 19,031 
Total intangible assets $ 255,411 $ (60,151) $ 195,260 

 
Our purchased intangible assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022:

 

Gross
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Core technology $ 14,063 $ (14,031) $ 32 
Customer backlog 22,000 (22,000) — 
Customer relationships 244,650 (47,254) 197,396 
Trademarks / Trade names 23,914 (3,417) 20,497 
Total intangible assets $ 304,627 $ (86,702) $ 217,925 

 
The change in the gross value of our purchased intangible assets at December 31, 2023 from December 31, 2022 was primarily due to the write off of purchased

intangible assets that were fully amortized prior to periods presented herein.
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Expected future amortization of purchased intangible assets is as follows:
 
For the years ended December 31:

2024 $ 21,156 
2025 19,053 
2026 17,426 
2027 15,806 
2028 14,902 
Thereafter 106,917 

$ 195,260 

5. LEASES

The Company leases real properties for use in manufacturing and as administrative and sales offices, and leases automobiles and office equipment. The Company
determines if a contract contains a lease arrangement at the inception of the contract. For leases in which the Company is the lessee, leases are classified as either finance or
operating. Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets are initially measured at the present value of lease payments over the lease term plus initial direct costs, if any. If a lease does not
provide a discount rate and the implicit rate cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is used to determine the present value of future lease payments. Lease
expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Lease and non-lease
components within the Company’s lease agreements are accounted for together. Variable lease payments are recognized in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The
Company has no leases in which the Company is the lessor.

Nearly all of the Company’s leasing arrangements are classified as operating leases. ROU asset and lease liability balances were as follows for the periods presented:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
ROU asset $ 45,409 $ 48,470 

Current lease liability 7,652 7,041 
Long-term lease liability 39,744 43,001 
Total lease liability $ 47,396 $ 50,042 

The ROU asset is reported in “Other assets” while the current lease liability is reported in “Other current liabilities” and the long-term lease liability is reported in “Other
long-term liabilities” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Cash paid for operating lease liabilities are recorded as operating cash outflows in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Arcadia Products leases certain office, manufacturing, distribution and warehouse facilities from entities affiliated with the redeemable noncontrolling interest holder and
former president of Arcadia Products. There were eight such leases in effect as of December 31, 2023, with expiration dates ranging from calendar years 2025 to 2031. As of
December 31, 2023, the total ROU asset and related lease liability recognized for these leases was $25,409 and $26,267, respectively. During the year ended December 31,
2023, associated lease expense was $4,625.

Total operating lease expense included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations was $12,822, $11,883 and $4,453 for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Short term and variable lease costs were not significant for any period presented.

Certain of the Company’s leases contain renewal options and options to extend the lease term for up to five years, and a majority of these options are reflected in the
calculation of the ROU assets and related lease liability due to the likelihood of renewal.
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The following table summarizes the weighted average lease terms and discount rates for operating lease liabilities: 
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Weighted average remaining lease term 7.0 years 7.9 years
Weighted average discount rate 4.5 % 4.3 %

The following table represents maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023:
Due within 1 year $ 9,575 
Due after 1 year through 2 years 9,558 
Due after 2 years through 3 years 8,387 
Due after 3 years through 4 years 7,585 
Due after 4 years through 5 years 6,023 
Thereafter 14,367 
Total future minimum lease payments 55,495 
Less imputed interest (8,099)
Total $ 47,396 

6.    DEBT
 

Outstanding borrowings consisted of the following at December 31:

 

2023 2022
Syndicated credit agreement:   

U.S. Dollar revolving loan $ — $ — 
Term loan 117,500 135,000 

Commerzbank line of credit — — 
Outstanding borrowings 117,500 135,000 
Less: debt issuance costs (1,649) (2,202)
Total debt 115,851 132,798 
Less: current portion of long-term debt (15,000) (15,000)
Long-term debt $ 100,851 $ 117,798 

  
Syndicated Credit Agreement

On December 23, 2021, we entered into a five-year $200,000 syndicated credit agreement (“credit facility”) which included a $150,000 Term Loan, which is amortizable
at 10% of principal per year with a balloon payment for the outstanding balance upon the credit facility maturity date in 2026, and allows for revolving loans of up to $50,000.
The credit facility has an accordion feature to increase the commitments by $100,000 under the revolving loan class and/or by adding a term loan subject to approval by
applicable lenders. We entered into the credit facility with a syndicate of four banks, with KeyBank, N.A. acting as administrative agent. The credit facility is secured by the
assets of DMC including accounts receivable, inventory, and fixed assets, including Arcadia Products and its subsidiary, as well as guarantees and share pledges by DMC and
its subsidiaries.

Borrowings under the $150,000 Term Loan and $50,000 revolving loan limit can be in the form of Adjusted Daily Simple Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR")
loans or one month Adjusted Term SOFR loans. Additionally, U.S. dollar borrowings on the revolving loan can be in the form of Base Rate loans (Base Rate borrowings are
based on the greater of the administrative agent’s Prime rate, an adjusted Federal Funds rate or an adjusted SOFR rate). SOFR loans bear interest at the applicable SOFR rate
plus an applicable margin (varying from 1.50% to 3.00%). Base Rate loans bear interest at the defined Base Rate plus an applicable margin (varying from 0.50% to 2.00%). The
revolving loan can also be used to issue bank guarantees to customers to secure their advanced payments. As of December 31, 2023, no amounts were outstanding on the
revolver, and bank guarantees of $443 were secured.

The credit facility includes various covenants and restrictions, certain of which relate to the payment of dividends or other distributions to stockholders; redemption of
capital stock; incurrence of additional indebtedness; mortgaging, pledging or disposition of major assets; and maintenance of specified ratios.
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The leverage ratio is defined in the credit facility as the ratio of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness (as defined in the credit facility) on the last day of any trailing four
quarter period to Consolidated Pro Forma EBITDA (as defined in the credit facility) for such period. The maximum leverage ratio permitted by our credit facility is 3.0 to 1.0
from December 31, 2023 and thereafter.

The debt service coverage ratio is defined in the credit facility as the ratio of Consolidated Pro Forma EBITDA less the sum of capital distributions paid in cash (other
than those made with respect to preferred stock issued under the Operating Agreement), Consolidated Unfunded Capital Expenditures (as defined in the credit facility), and net
cash income taxes to the sum of cash interest expense, any dividends on the preferred stock paid in cash, and scheduled principal payments on funded indebtedness. Under our
credit facility, the minimum debt service coverage ratio permitted is 1.35 to 1.0.

As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with all financial covenants and other provisions of our debt agreements.

Refer to Note 14 for discussion of the credit facility amendment executed subsequent to December 31, 2023.

Line of Credit with German Bank
 
We maintain a line of credit with a German bank with a borrowing capacity of €7,000 for our NobelClad and DynaEnergetics operations in Europe. This line of credit is

also used to issue bank guarantees to customers to secure their advanced payments. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had no outstanding borrowings under the line of
credit and bank guarantees of €1,696 and €2,221, respectively, were secured. The line of credit bears interest at a EURIBOR-based variable rate which at December 31, 2023
was 8.82%. The line of credit has open-ended terms and can be canceled by the bank at any time.

7.    STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND EMPLOYEE STOCK PLANS
  

Employee stock plans

Our stock-based compensation expense results from restricted stock awards ("RSAs"), restricted stock units ("RSUs"), performance share units ("PSUs"), and stock
issued under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The following table sets forth the total stock-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31:
 

2023 2022 2021
Cost of products sold $ 430 $ 506 $ 604 
General and administrative expenses 8,583 8,304 5,360 
Selling and distribution expenses 1,102 1,248 610 
Restructuring expenses, net and asset impairments 155 — — 
Stock-based compensation 10,270 10,058 6,574 
Income tax benefit (3,104) (1,716) (1,342)
Stock-based compensation, net of income taxes 7,166 8,342 5,232 

Earnings per share impact
Basic $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.30 
Diluted $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.30 

 
On November 4, 2016, our stockholders approved the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“2016 Plan”). The 2016 Plan provides for the granting of various types of equity-

based incentives, including stock options, RSAs, RSUs, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, other stock-based awards, and cash-based
awards. Our stockholders approved a total of 5,000,000 shares available for grant under the 2016 Plan, less 1,639,881 of RSAs and RSUs previously granted under the 2006
Stock Incentive Plan ("2006 Plan") as of the 2006 Plan's expiration on September 21, 2016. As of the inception of the 2016 Plan, 3,360,119 shares were available for grant
under the 2016 Plan. As of December 31, 2023, there are 1,777,266 shares available for future grant.
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RSAs and RSUs are granted to employees and non-employee directors based on time-vesting. For RSAs or RSUs granted to employees, vesting typically occurs in one-
third increments on the first, second, and third anniversary of the grant date. For RSAs or RSUs granted to non-employee directors, vesting occurs on the first anniversary of the
grant date. Each RSA represents a restricted share of common stock that has voting and dividend rights and becomes fully unrestricted upon vesting. Each RSU represents the
right to receive one share of stock upon vesting.

The fair value of RSAs and RSUs granted to employees and non-employee directors is based on the fair value of DMC’s stock on the grant date. RSAs and RSUs granted
to employees and non-employee directors are amortized to compensation expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Our policy is to recognize forfeitures of RSAs
and RSUs as they occur.

PSUs are granted to employees with vesting based on performance and market conditions. Each PSU represents the right to receive stock upon the achievement of certain
conditions. A target number of PSUs is awarded on the grant date, and the recipient is eligible to earn shares of common stock between 0% and 200% of the number of targeted
PSUs awarded. A portion of an employee's grant is based on actual performance against a target Adjusted EBITDA goal while the remainder is based on relative total
shareholder return ("TSR") performance compared to our peer group disclosed in our Proxy Statement. 25% of the PSU grant are based on the achievement of targeted Adjusted
EBITDA and 75% of the PSU grant are based on the achievement of relative TSR performance. The PSUs earned, if any, cliff vest at the end of the third year following the year
of grant based on the degree of satisfaction of the PSUs performance and market conditions.

The fair value of PSUs with target Adjusted EBITDA performance conditions is based on the fair value of DMC’s stock on the grant date, and the value is amortized to
compensation expense over the vesting period and is adjusted based on the estimated probable satisfaction of the performance condition at the end of each reporting period. The
fair value of PSUs with TSR performance conditions is based on a third-party valuation simulating a range of possible TSR outcomes over the performance period, and the
resulting fair value is amortized to compensation expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Our policy is to recognize forfeitures of PSUs as they occur.

A summary of the activity of our unvested RSAs issued under the 2016 Plan is as follows:
2016 Plan

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Balance at December 31, 2021 229,650 $ 40.26 
Granted 196,955 26.43 
Vested (151,828) 36.01 
Forfeited (1,000) 29.77 
Balance at December 31, 2022 273,777 $ 32.71 
Granted 260,207 20.79 
Vested (243,592) 30.97 
Forfeited (8,439) 27.20 
Balance at December 31, 2023 281,953 $ 23.38 
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A summary of the activity of our unvested RSUs issued under the 2016 Plan is as follows:
2016 Plan

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Balance at December 31, 2021 52,298 $ 41.67 
Granted 27,397 28.59 
Vested (35,101) 34.29 
Forfeited (73) 25.81 
Balance at December 31, 2022 44,521 $ 39.47 
Granted 31,418 21.18 
Vested (21,968) 40.69 
Forfeited — — 
Balance at December 31, 2023 53,971 $ 28.33 

A summary of the activity of our unvested PSUs issued under the 2016 Plan is as follows:

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Balance at December 31, 2021 60,971 $ 79.56 
Granted 84,165 31.45 
Vested (404) 48.23 
Balance at December 31, 2022 144,732 $ 51.67 
Granted 75,997 28.30 
Vested (42,883) 15.48 
Forfeited (87,374) 67.79 
Balance at December 31, 2023 90,472 $ 33.62 

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to unvested awards was as follows:
Unrecognized stock
compensation

Weighted-average
recognition period

Unvested RSAs $ 3,760 1.2 years
Unvested RSUs $ 792 1.7 years
Unvested PSUs $ 1,341 1.8 years

 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 
We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) pursuant to which we are authorized to issue up to 850,000 shares of DMC common stock, of which 161,269 shares

remain available for future purchase as of December 31, 2023. The offerings begin on the first day following each previous offering (“Offering Date”) and end six months from
the Offering Date (“Purchase Date”). The ESPP provides that full time employees may authorize DMC to withhold up to 15% of their earnings, subject to certain limitations, to
be used to purchase stock at the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the stock on the Offering Date or the Purchase Date. In connection with the ESPP, 20,686, 12,975, and
12,120 shares of our stock were purchased during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Our total stock-based compensation expense for 2023,
2022, and 2021 includes $89, $67, and $121, respectively, associated with the ESPP.
 
8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan

We offer a contributory 401(k) plan to our U.S. employees, including Arcadia Products employees beginning in March 2022. We make matching contributions equal to
100% of each employee’s contribution up to 3% of qualified compensation and
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50% of the next 2% of qualified compensation contributed by each employee. Total DMC contributions were $2,590, $1,772, and $1,057 for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Foreign Subsidiary Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution Plans

We have defined benefit pension plans at certain foreign subsidiaries for which we have recorded an unfunded pension obligation of $1,490 and $1,352 as of December
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in "Other long-term liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Annual adjustments to the obligation are based upon
actuarial calculations and are recorded within "General and administrative expenses" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We recognized expense of $91 for the year
ended December 31, 2023 and income of $536 and $222 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In 2020, a new defined contribution pension plan went into effect for employees at certain foreign subsidiaries, which replaced the defined benefit plan described above.
Under the new plan, pension benefits will be financed both through contributions by the Company and employees. The Company contributes between 1.5% and 4.5% of the
employee's salary annually. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company contributed $285, $261 and $282, respectively, to the defined
contribution plan. Past contributions into the defined benefit plan were unchanged by the new defined contribution plan.

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company maintains a Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) as part of its overall compensation package for certain employees. Participants are
eligible to defer a portion of their annual salary, their annual incentive bonus, and their equity awards through the Plan on a tax-deferred basis. Deferrals into the Plan are not
matched or subsidized by the Company, nor are they eligible for above-market or preferential earnings.

The Plan provides for deferred compensation obligations to be settled either by delivery of a fixed number of shares of DMC’s common stock or in cash, in accordance
with participant contributions and elections. For deferred equity awards, participants can elect to diversify contributions of equity awards into other investment options available
to Plan participants subsequent to the equity award vesting and after a period prescribed by the Plan. Once diversified, such contributions will be settled by delivery of cash.
Effective January 1, 2024, diversification of deferred equity awards is no longer permitted by the Plan.

The Company has established a grantor trust commonly known as a “rabbi trust” and contributed certain assets to satisfy the future obligations to participants in the Plan.
These assets are subject to potential claims of the Company’s general creditors. The assets held in the trust include unvested restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), vested company
stock awards, company-owned life insurance (“COLI”) on certain current and former employees, and money market and mutual funds. Unvested RSAs and common stock held
by the trust are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets within “Treasury stock, at cost, and company stock held for deferred compensation, at par” at the par value of the
common stock or unvested RSAs. These accounts are not adjusted for subsequent changes in the fair value of the common stock. COLI is accounted for at the cash surrender
value while money market and mutual funds held by the trust are accounted for at fair value.

Deferred compensation obligations that will be settled in cash are accounted for on an accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the Plan. These obligations are
adjusted based on changes in value of the underlying investment options chosen by Plan participants. Deferred compensation obligations that will be settled by delivery of a
fixed number of previously vested shares of the Company’s common stock are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Redeemable
Noncontrolling Interest within “Common stock” at the par value of the common stock or unvested RSAs. These accounts are not adjusted for subsequent changes in the fair
value of the common stock.

The balances related to the deferred compensation plan are as follows for the years ended December 31:
Consolidated Balance Sheet location 2023 2022

Deferred compensation assets Prepaid expenses and other $ 1,428 $ — 
Deferred compensation assets Other assets $ 8,449 $ 13,566 
Deferred compensation obligations Other current liabilities $ 1,428 $ — 
Deferred compensation obligations Other long-term liabilities $ 12,078 $ 15,292 

9.    INCOME TAXES
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The domestic and foreign components of income (loss) before income taxes for our operations consist of the following for the years ended December 31:

2023 2022 2021
Domestic $ 16,181 $ (302) $ (9,970)
Foreign 33,698 23,511 7,416 
Total income (loss) before income taxes $ 49,879 $ 23,209 $ (2,554)

 
The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes consist of the following for the years ended December 31:

 
2023 2022 2021

Current – Federal $ 3,522 $ 2,288 $ (707)
Current – State 733 927 209 
Current – Foreign 9,895 6,760 800 
Current income tax expense 14,150 9,975 302 

Deferred – Federal 87 (1,024) (1,386)
Deferred – State 587 (175) (996)
Deferred – Foreign 296 600 536 
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 970 (599) (1,846)
Income tax provision (benefit) $ 15,120 $ 9,376 $ (1,544)

 
Our deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

 
2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward $ 6,168 $ 6,565 
Inventory differences 1,043 965 
Equity compensation 1,421 1,850 
Investment in joint venture 677 1,658 
Restructuring 104 201 
Purchased intangible assets and goodwill 389 527 
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 4,362 4,144 
Lease liabilities 2,514 2,880 
Interest expense 737 — 
Research and development costs 752 434 
Other, net 388 352 

Gross deferred tax assets 18,555 19,576 
Less valuation allowances (6,167) (6,277)
Total deferred tax assets 12,388 13,299 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization (5,278) (4,736)
Right-of-use assets (2,276) (2,633)
Other, net (52) (205)

Total deferred tax liabilities (7,606) (7,574)

Net deferred tax assets $ 4,782 $ 5,725 
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As of December 31, 2023, we had loss carryforwards for tax purposes totaling approximately $55,317, comprised of $37,072 foreign and $18,245 domestic state loss
carryforwards, which will be available to offset future taxable income in certain jurisdictions. The significant majority of foreign losses can be carried forward indefinitely,
while all other losses generally have carryforward periods of 5 to 20 years, depending on jurisdiction. We have analyzed the net operating losses and established valuation
allowances on those where we have determined the realization is not more likely than not to occur.    

We assess the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to use existing deferred tax assets. Additionally, a
three-year cumulative loss at a Consolidated Financial Statement level may be viewed as negative evidence impacting a jurisdiction that by itself is not in a three-year
cumulative loss position. We continue to record valuation allowances against deferred tax assets where we do not believe sufficient future taxable income will be generated.
Changes in our valuation allowance in 2023 and 2022 are primarily attributable to changes in currency revaluation and movements in the underlying deferred tax assets. In
2021, we recorded a net decrease of $1,926 in our valuation allowance, primarily comprised of releases in the United States for state taxes and France due to a change in our
estimates of future income in those jurisdictions, as well as remeasurement of our German valuation allowance due to a change in our German effective tax rate and currency
revaluation. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable can be adjusted in future periods if positive evidence such as current and expected future taxable
income outweighs negative evidence.

A reconciliation of our income tax provision computed by applying the Federal statutory income tax rate of 21% to income (loss) before income taxes is as follows for
the years ended December 31:

2023 2022 2021
Statutory U.S. federal income tax $ 10,475 $ 4,874 $ (536)
Foreign rate differential 3,562 2,868 1,690 
Permanent items 975 980 683 
U.S. state income tax, net of federal benefit 1,275 569 (338)
(Income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (1,793) (333) 170 
Equity compensation 1,080 202 (1,476)
Return to provision adjustments (247) 134 (345)
Deemed repatriation of foreign earnings 90 64 — 
Other 2 (14) 11 
Change in valuation allowances (299) 32 (1,403)
Income tax provision (benefit) $ 15,120 $ 9,376 $ (1,544)

DMC files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, as well as various U.S. state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is not currently under examination in
any jurisdiction.

DMC’s U.S. federal tax returns are open for examination for the tax years 2018 and 2020 onward. Most of DMC’s state tax returns remain open to examination for the tax
years 2019 onward. DMC’s foreign tax returns generally remain open to examination for the tax years 2019 onward, depending on jurisdiction.
 

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the balance of unrecognized tax benefits was $5,017 and $2,106, respectively. Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of
December 31, 2023 are $2,787 of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in
operating expense. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our accrual for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions was zero.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
2023

Unrecognized tax benefits, December 31, 2022 $ 2,106 
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 2,841 
Additions for tax positions of prior years 70 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years — 
Settlements — 
Unrecognized tax benefits, December 31, 2023 $ 5,017 
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The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”), enacted in December 2017, provides that foreign earnings generally can be repatriated to the U.S. without federal tax consequence.
We have reassessed the assertion that cumulative earnings by our foreign subsidiaries are indefinitely reinvested. We continue to permanently reinvest the earnings of our
international subsidiaries and therefore we do not provide for U.S. income taxes or withholding taxes that could result from the distribution of those earnings to the U.S. parent.
If any such earnings were ultimately distributed to the U.S. in the form of dividends or otherwise, or if the shares of our international subsidiaries were sold or transferred, we
could be subject to additional U.S. federal and state income taxes. Due to the multiple avenues in which earnings can be repatriated, and because a large portion of these
earnings are not liquid, it is not practical to estimate the amount of additional taxes that might be payable on these amounts of undistributed foreign income.

10.    BUSINESS SEGMENTS
 

Our business is currently organized into three segments: Arcadia Products, DynaEnergetics, and NobelClad. In December 2021, DMC acquired a 60% controlling interest
in Arcadia Products. Arcadia Products designs, engineers, fabricates, and finishes aluminum framing systems, windows, curtain walls, storefronts, entrance systems, and interior
partitions to the commercial construction market. Additionally, Arcadia supplies customized windows and doors to the ultra-high-end residential real estate market.
DynaEnergetics designs, manufactures, markets and sells perforating systems and associated hardware for the global oil and gas industry. NobelClad produces explosion-
welded clad metal plates for use in the construction of corrosion resistant industrial processing equipment and specialized transition joints for commuter rail cars, ships, and
LNG processing equipment.

The accounting policies of our segments are the same as those described in Note 2 "Significant Accounting Policies". Our reportable segments are separately managed,
strategic business units that offer different products and services, and each segment has separate financial information available that is evaluated regularly by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") in allocating resources and assessing performance. Each segment’s products are marketed to different customer types and require
different manufacturing processes and technologies.

Segment information is as follows as of and for the years ended December 31:
 

2023 2022 2021
Net sales:

Arcadia Products $ 298,909 $ 299,527 $ — 
DynaEnergetics 315,026 264,327 175,356 
NobelClad 105,253 90,232 84,759 

Net sales $ 719,188 $ 654,086 $ 260,115 

2023 2022 2021
Income (loss) before income taxes:

Arcadia Products $ 21,407 $ 3,962 $ (2,020)
DynaEnergetics 46,353 39,055 8,235 
NobelClad 19,427 7,989 9,783 

Segment operating income 87,187 51,006 15,998 
Unallocated corporate expenses, including restructuring expenses, net and asset
impairments (17,466) (13,164) (11,826)
Unallocated stock-based compensation (8,544) (7,852) (6,574)
Other (expense) income, net (1,782) (594) 152 
Interest expense, net (9,516) (6,187) (304)

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 49,879 $ 23,209 $ (2,554)

Stock-based compensation is not allocated to wholly owned segments, DynaEnergetics and NobelClad. Stock-based compensation is allocated to the Arcadia Products segment
as 60% of such expense is attributable to the Company, whereas the remaining 40% is attributable to the redeemable noncontrolling interest holder.

*

*
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2023 2022 2021
Depreciation and Amortization:

Arcadia Products $ 26,303 $ 39,222 $ 415 
DynaEnergetics 6,906 7,877 8,126 
NobelClad 2,893 3,730 3,807 

Segment depreciation and amortization 36,102 50,829 12,348 
Corporate and other 405 378 346 

Consolidated depreciation and amortization $ 36,507 $ 51,207 $ 12,694 

2023 2022 2021
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment:

Arcadia Products $ 6,051 $ 7,168 $ 42 
DynaEnergetics 6,545 5,660 5,455 
NobelClad 2,944 5,298 2,730 

Segment acquisition of property, plant and equipment 15,540 18,126 8,227 
Corporate and other 434 458 432 

Consolidated acquisition of property, plant and equipment $ 15,974 $ 18,584 $ 8,659 

2023 2022
Assets:

Arcadia Products $ 468,102 $ 498,257 
DynaEnergetics 209,452 183,991 
NobelClad 58,862 54,528 

Segment assets 736,416 736,776 

Cash and cash equivalents 31,040 25,144 
Marketable securities 12,619 — 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 94,929 106,101 
Deferred tax assets 6,738 7,633 
Corporate property, plant and equipment 2,753 3,324 

Consolidated assets $ 884,495 $ 878,978 

The geographic location of our property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, is as follows at December 31:

 

2023 2022
United States $ 102,894 $ 102,804 
Germany 26,236 26,479 
Canada 76 84 
France 58 71 
Rest of the world 3 7 
Total $ 129,267 $ 129,445 
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The disaggregation of revenue earned from contracts with customers based on the geographic location of the customer is as follows. For Arcadia Products, net sales have
been presented consistent with United States regional definitions as provided by the American Institute of Architects. For DynaEnergetics and NobelClad, all net sales are from
products shipped from our manufacturing facilities and distribution centers located in the United States, Germany, and Canada. The following represents our net sales based on
the geographic location of the customer for years ended December 31: 

Arcadia Products
2023 2022

West $ 237,629 $ 235,705 
South 30,055 37,061 
Northeast 21,582 14,103 
Midwest 9,643 12,658 
Total Arcadia Products $ 298,909 $ 299,527 

DynaEnergetics
2023 2022 2021

United States $ 245,391 $ 211,025 $ 136,053 
Canada 23,404 17,156 12,149 
Oman 7,833 3,188 2,830 
Iraq 6,034 3,574 72 
Kuwait 4,980 1,801 1,559 
United Arab Emirates 4,742 1,525 230 
Egypt 2,340 5,780 3,244 
Rest of the world 20,302 20,278 19,219 
Total DynaEnergetics $ 315,026 $ 264,327 $ 175,356 

Rest of the world does not include any individual country comprising sales greater than 2% of total DynaEnergetics revenue.

(1)

(1) 
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NobelClad
2023 2022 2021

United States 53,024 38,818 37,283 
Canada 7,588 9,610 4,779 
China 6,438 3,902 10,365 
Germany 4,695 4,630 2,496 
South Korea 4,562 3,242 2,144 
United Arab Emirates 4,485 3,582 3,613 
Saudi Arabia 3,542 2,212 328 
France 2,988 2,057 2,197 
Italy 2,064 1,766 1,422 
Sweden 2,011 3,743 1,205 
Belgium 2,009 603 2,547 
Brazil 1,835 1,228 — 
Netherlands 1,656 2,094 1,984 
United Kingdom 1,252 537 137 
Australia 1,181 1,799 1,301 
India 307 3,116 1,908 
Russia — 191 4,057 
Rest of the world 5,616 7,102 6,993 
Total NobelClad $ 105,253 $ 90,232 $ 84,759 

 Sales to Russia have been suspended indefinitely due to the ongoing conflict in Ukraine.
 Rest of the world does not include any individual country comprising sales greater than 2% of total NobelClad revenue.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, one DynaEnergetics customer accounted for approximately 15% of consolidated net sales. During the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, no single customer accounted for greater than 10% of total net sales. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, one DynaEnergetics customer accounted for
approximately 32% and 15% of consolidated accounts receivable, respectively.

11.    DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates, primarily the U.S. dollar to the euro, the U.S. dollar to the Canadian
dollar and, to a lesser extent, other currencies, arising from intercompany and third-party transactions entered into by our subsidiaries that are denominated in currencies other
than their functional currency. Changes in exchange rates with respect to these transactions result in unrealized gains or losses if such transactions are unsettled at the end of the
reporting period or realized gains or losses at settlement of the transaction. We use foreign currency forward contracts to offset foreign exchange rate fluctuations on foreign
currency denominated asset and liability positions. None of these contracts are designated as accounting hedges, and all changes in the fair value of forward contracts are
recognized in "Other (expense) income, net" within our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We execute derivatives with a specialized foreign exchange brokerage firm as well as other large financial institutions. The primary credit risk inherent in derivative
agreements is the possibility that a loss may occur from the nonperformance of a counterparty to the agreements. We perform a review of the credit risk of our counterparties at
the inception of the contract and on an ongoing basis. We anticipate that our counterparties will be able to fully satisfy their obligations under the agreements but will take
action if doubt arises regarding the counterparties’ ability to perform.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the notional amounts of the forward currency contracts the Company held were $32,310 and $21,907, respectively. At December 31,
2023 and 2022, the fair values of outstanding foreign currency forward contracts were $0.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

87



Table of Contents

The following table presents the location and amount of net gains (losses) from hedging activities, which are intended to offset foreign currency gains and losses
recorded in the normal course of business that are not presented below, for the years ended December 31:

Derivative type Income Statement Location 2023 2022 2021
Foreign currency contracts Other (expense) income, net $ 13 $ 352 $ (271)

12.    COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Contingent Liabilities

The Company records an accrual for contingent liabilities when a loss is both probable and reasonably estimable. If some amount within a range of loss appears to be a
better estimate than any other amount within the range, that amount is accrued. When no amount within a range of loss appears to be a better estimate than any other amount,
the lowest amount in the range is accrued.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business. However, litigation is subject to
inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business. We are currently not aware of any such legal
proceedings or claims that we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results except as set
forth below:

Wage and Hour Matters

Felipe v. Arcadia, Inc. and One Stop Employment Services, Inc. (“One Stop”). This complaint was filed on October 22, 2021 in Los Angeles Superior Court and purports
to allege a class action on behalf of all non-exempt California employees who worked on behalf of One Stop or Arcadia at any time during the four years preceding the date of
the complaint. One Stop is a staffing agency which provides temporary workers, including to Arcadia. The complaint states claims under California’s labor laws and under its
general Unfair Business Practices Act, California Business & Professions Code section 17200. The plaintiff has subsequently dismissed the class action claims without
prejudice, acknowledging that Arcadia’s arbitration agreement likely bars such class claims. The plaintiff also filed a separate action under California’s Private Attorneys
General Act (“PAGA”) alleging essentially the same wage and hour violations. This action included other Arcadia employees. The California Supreme Court has ruled that the
representative PAGA claims are not barred by the arbitration agreement. The plaintiff has commenced arbitration on individual claims, with arbitration set for 2024. In the
meantime, the PAGA representative claims are stayed and likely will remain stayed pending resolution of the individual arbitration claims or completion of the settlement
described below.

Mayorga v. Arcadia, Inc. This complaint was filed on November 15, 2021 in Los Angeles Superior Court. It purported to allege a class action on behalf of all of the
Company’s non-exempt California employees who worked at the Company within four years before the date the complaint was filed. It asserts claims substantially similar to
those asserted in the Felipe case but does not include One Stop as a defendant. The plaintiff amended his complaint to delete class action claims and any individual non-PAGA
claims. Accordingly, plaintiff’s complaint is now limited to PAGA collective action claims. The plaintiff has however commenced arbitration on a solely individual basis of his
wage and hour claims. The arbitral body has appointed and arbitrator to adjudicate those claims and a hearing has been set for 2024. However, the parties agreed to postpone the
hearing pending the completion of the settlement described below. The remaining Mayorga PAGA representative claims have now been assigned to the same judge as the
Felipe case. As in Felipe, those PAGA representative claims are currently stayed and will likely remain stayed until completion of the settlement.

The parties have reached a settlement of both above actions, which is binding if approved by the court. Arcadia has agreed to pay $375 of a total $600 settlement amount
to resolve its portion of all PAGA claims in both the Mayorga and Felipe actions. The settlement includes the individual claims of each plaintiff. The parties have signed a term
sheet, which is binding if approved by the court. The settlement is subject to court approval, and there is no guarantee that the court will approve the settlement. The parties
anticipate the court will hold a preliminary approval hearing in the next few months.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, Arcadia reserved $375 which represents its current estimate of loss to resolve all PAGA claims. Under the Equity Purchase
Agreement, the Company is indemnified for the liability recognized to date
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related to these matters. Therefore, an offsetting receivable was also recognized such that there was no impact to the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations during
the year ended December 31, 2023.

To the extent these claims are not resolved through the settlement, Arcadia intends to vigorously defend against the Felipe and Mayorga actions. Due to the nature of
these matters and inherent uncertainties, it is not possible to provide an evaluation of the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome or an estimate of the amount or range of potential
loss, if any, in this circumstance.

13.    CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TRANSITION

During the first quarter of 2023, the Company and its former CEO entered into a separation agreement pursuant to which the former CEO received certain severance
benefits consistent with his pre-existing employment agreement with the Company. These severance benefits include 18 months of salary, a lump sum cash payment, and
accelerated vesting of outstanding equity awards. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $1,621 of severance related expense and $3,040 of stock-
based compensation expense related to the accelerated vesting of outstanding equity awards. These expenses were recognized in “General and administrative expenses” in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

14.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 6, 2024, the Company and certain domestic subsidiaries entered into an amendment (the “First Amendment’) to its existing credit agreement with a
syndicate of banks, led by KeyBank National Association (the “Credit Agreement”).

The First Amendment provides for certain changes to the Credit Agreement, including an increase in the maximum commitment amount from $200,000 to $300,000,
which includes a $200,000 revolving credit facility, a $50,000 term loan facility, and a $50,000 delayed draw term loan facility. The Credit Agreement, as amended by the First
Amendment, retains a $100,000 accordion feature to increase the commitments under the revolving loan and/or by adding one or more term loans subject to approval by the
applicable lenders. The First Amendment extends the maturity date of the Credit Agreement until February 6, 2029.

The proceeds of the loans are permitted to be used for working capital, refinancing of indebtedness and other general corporate purposes of the Company. As amended by
the First Amendment, the Credit Agreement permits proceeds of the delayed draw facility to be used for the acquisition of the remaining 40% minority interest in Arcadia
Products, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company currently 60% owned by the Company. Other significant changes in terms included modifications to the Company’s
financial covenants and an increase in applicable interest rates.

The obligations under the Credit Agreement remain secured by the assets of the Company, including accounts receivable, inventory, and fixed assets, as well as
guarantees and share pledges by the Company and its subsidiaries.

ITEM 9.                Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

There are no changes in or disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.

ITEM 9A.             Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2023. Our management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting is set forth
below.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of DMC Global Inc. (“DMC” or the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).

Under the supervision and with the participation of DMC’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of DMC’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 based on the 2013 framework in "Internal Control - Integrated
Framework" issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In designing and evaluating the internal control over financial reporting,
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal controls over financial
reporting were effective.

DMC’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has also been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their attestation report which expressed an unqualified opinion and is included elsewhere herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act) during the
fourth quarter of 2023, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of DMC Global Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited DMC Global Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, DMC Global Inc. (the Company)
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity and redeemable
noncontrolling interest and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and our report dated February 23, 2024
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
February 23, 2024
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ITEM 9B.             Other Information
 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act) of the Company adopted or terminated any
Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (in each case, as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 9C.    Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10.                                         Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 

Item 10 incorporates information by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed with the SEC within
120 days of the close of fiscal year 2023.

ITEM 11.                                         Executive Compensation
 

Item 11 incorporates information by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed with the SEC within
120 days of the close of fiscal year 2023.

ITEM 12.                                         Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 

Item 12 incorporates information by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed with the SEC within
120 days of the close of fiscal year 2023.

 
For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans see the Proxy Statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders,

which information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13.                                         Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
 

Item 13 incorporates information by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed with the SEC within
120 days of the close of fiscal year 2023.

ITEM 14.                                         Principal Accounting Fees and Services
 

Item 14 incorporates information by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed with the SEC within
120 days of the close of fiscal year 2023.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.                                         Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 
(a)(1)                  Financial Statements
 
See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.
 
(a)(2)                  Financial Statement Schedules
 
All financial statement schedules have been omitted, since the required information is not applicable or is not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the
schedule, or because the information required is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes included in this Form 10-K.
 
(a)(3)                  Exhibits
 
Exhibit
Number

 

Description
3.1 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the

Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 16, 2023).
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the

Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 4, 2022).
3.3 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed

with the Commission on November 4, 2016).
3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission

on August 27, 2018).
4.1 Description of Capital Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February 27,

2023).
10.1 First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated February 6, 2024, by and between DMC Global Inc., certain of its domestic subsidiaries as

borrowers, the lenders party thereto and KeyBank National Association, as administrative agent, a swing line lender and an issuing lender
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 6, 2024).

10.2 Credit Agreement dated as of December 23, 2021, by and among the Company, the borrowers party thereto, the guarantors party thereto, the
Lenders party thereto, and KeyBank National Association, as administrative agent. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 28, 2021).

10.3 Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Arcadia Products, LLC, dated February 28, 2023, by and among Arcadia
Products, LLC, DMC Global Inc., DMC Korea, Inc., and New Arcadia Holdings, Inc.(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 4, 2023).

10.4 Executive Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2021, by and among James Schladen, DMC Global Inc. and Arcadia Products, LLC.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 28, 2021).

10.5 Restrictive Covenant Agreement, dated December 23, 2021, by and among James Schladen and Victoria Schladen, individually and as trustees of
the Schladen Family Trust, Arcadia Products, LLC and DMC Global Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on December 28, 2021).

10.6 Promissory Note, dated December 23, 2021, issued by Synergex Group LLC, trustee of the Munera Family ESBT to DMC Global Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company's Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 28, 2021).

10.7 Management Services Agreement, dated December 23, 2021, between Arcadia Products, LLC and DMC Global Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 of the Company's Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 28, 2021).

10.8 Consulting Services Agreement, dated December 23, 2021, between Synergex Group LLC, trustee of the Munera Family ESBT to DMC Global
Inc.(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 28, 2021).
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Exhibit
Number

 

Description
10.9 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated December 16, 2021, by and among DMC Global Inc., Arcadia, Inc., New Arcadia Holdings, Inc. and each of the

shareholders of Arcadia named therein. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
December 21, 2021).

10.10 Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2013, by and between the Company and Kevin Longe (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 14, 2013). *

10.11 Severance and Release Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2023, by and between the Company and Kevin Longe (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2023). *

10.12 Employment Offer Letter dated February 23, 2014, from the Company to Michael L. Kuta (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 31, 2014). *

10.13 Employment Offer Letter dated August 4, 2023, from the Company to Michael Kuta (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 7, 2023).*

10.14 Employment Agreement dated July 26, 2013, from the Company to Ian Grieves (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 9, 2017). *

10.15 Employment Offer Letter dated July 17, 2016, from the Company to Michelle H. Shepston (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 9, 2017). *

10.16 Employment Agreement dated July 24, 2020 from the Company to Antoine Nobili (incorporate by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February 22, 2021). *

10.17 Employment Offer Letter dated December 20, 2022, from the Company to Eric Walter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Form 8-K filed on January 20, 2023).*

10.18 Employment Offer Letter dated November 20, 2022, from Arcadia to James Chilcoff.*
10.19 Severance and Release Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2023, by and between the Company and James Schladen (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 4, 2023).*
10.20 Performance-Based Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 24, 2013). *
10.21 Amended and Restated Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Form 10-K filed

with the Commission on March 8, 2018) *
10.22 Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan.*
10.23 Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan.*
10.24 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan dated November 4, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on November 4, 2016).
10.25 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to

the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 9, 2017). *
10.26 Form of Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the

Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 8, 2018)
10.27 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the

Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 9, 2017). *
10.28 Form of Executive Officer Performance Unit Agreement under 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference Exhibit 10.20 to the

Company's Form-10-K filed with the Commission on March 1, 2022).*
10.29 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on

January 24, 2011). *
10.30 Sublease for Dunbar, Pennsylvania clad metal shooting site dated December 16, 2000 by and between Mypodiamond, Inc. and the Company.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 8, 2018)
10.31 License Agreement dated July 29, 2008 by and between Coolspring Stone Supply Company, Inc. (“CSSC”) and the Company. (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 8, 2018)

10.32 First Amendment to License Agreement dated September 24, 2012 by and between CSSC and the Company. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.24 to the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 8, 2018)

10.33 Second Amendment to License Agreement dated March 31, 2018 by and between CSSC and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.25 to the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February 21, 2019).
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Exhibit
Number

 

Description
10.34 Third Amendment to License Agreement dated July 1, 2022 by and between CSSC and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to

the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 3, 2022)
10.35 Risk Allocation, Consulting and Services Agreement dated April 1, 2008 by and between Snoddy Management, Inc. (“SMI”) and the Company.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 8, 2018)
10.36 First Amendment to Risk Allocation, Consulting and Services Agreement dated September 24, 2012 by and between SMI and the Company.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 8, 2018)
10.37 Second Amendment to Risk Allocation, Consulting and Services Agreement dated March 31, 2018 by and between SMI and the Company

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February 21, 2019).
10.38 Third Amendment to Risk Allocation, Consulting and Services Agreement dated July 1, 2022 by and between SMI and the Company (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 3, 2022)
10.39 Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference from Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement

filed April 5, 2017, relating to the Company’s 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders).*
10.40 Lease Agreement for Broomfield, Colorado office space dated August 20, 2018 between Semaho, Inc. and the Company (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on October 25, 2018).
10.41 Services Agreement dated March 16, 2023 by and between James Schladen and Arcadia Products, LLC.
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Company's Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2023).
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1 Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a) or 17 CFR 240.15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a) or 17 CFR 240.15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.
97.1 DMC Global Inc. Clawback Policy
101 The following materials from the Annual Report on Form 10-K of DMC Global Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023, formatted in XBRL

(eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest,
(v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.**

 
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 
** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes
of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 

 

DMC Global Inc.
  
February 23, 2024 By: /s/ Eric V. Walter

Eric V. Walter
Chief Financial Officer

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Company and in the

capacities and on the dates indicated.

 

SIGNATURE  TITLE  DATE
     
/s/ Michael Kuta President and Chief Executive Officer and Director February 23, 2024
Michael Kuta (Principal Executive Officer)
     
/s/ Eric V. Walter Chief Financial Officer February 23, 2024
Eric V. Walter (Principal Financial Officer)
     
/s/ Brett Seger Chief Accounting Officer February 23, 2024
Brett Seger (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ David C. Aldous Chairman and Director February 23, 2024
David C. Aldous

/s/ Robert A. Cohen Director February 23, 2024
Robert A. Cohen

/s/ Ruth I. Dreessen  Director  February 23, 2024
Ruth I. Dreessen     
     
/s/ Richard P. Graff Director February 23, 2024
Richard P. Graff

/s/ Michael A. Kelly Director February 23, 2024
Michael A. Kelly

/s/ James O'Leary Director February 23, 2024
James O'Leary
     
/s/ Clifton Peter Rose  Director  February 23, 2024
Clifton Peter Rose     

/s/ Ouma Sananikone Director February 23, 2024
Ouma Sananikone
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November 18, 2022

Mr. Jamie Chilcoff
[Personal Address]

Dear Jamie:

It is my pleasure to offer you a position of employment with Arcadia Products, LLC-Commercial Division (the “Company”), upon the terms and conditions contained in this
letter and contingent upon successful fulfillment of the Pre-Employment Conditions set forth below.

Position and Base Salary. Should you accept this offer, you will serve as President of the Company reporting directly to me. The position will be based at the Company’s
headquarters in Vernon, California, although it will involve travel to the Company’s various places of business and customer locations. As an exempt employee, you will earn
an annual base salary of $550,000 (less applicable taxes, deductions and withholdings), paid in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll procedures. You will be
eligible for yearly performance and compensation reviews and the Company may modify your compensation in its sole discretion.

Discretionary Performance Bonus. You will be eligible to participate in the Company’s bonus program based on individual performance and achievement of the Company’s
goals at a target of 75% of your annual base salary less applicable deductions and withholdings. The timing of any bonus, the amount of such bonus, the criteria to be
considered in determining such bonus, and whether such bonus is paid at all, shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion.

Element Performance Measure % of Target Bonus Level Min / Max Opportunity
Quantitative Annual revenues and

EBITDA*
70% 0%-180%

Qualitative Individual Performance 30% 0%-180%
TOTAL 0%- 180%

*Annual revenues and EBITDA will be based on the performance of Arcadia Products, LLC-Commercial Division

Anticipated Start Date. January 2, 2023 or as otherwise agreed.

Signing Bonus. As discussed, we are pleased to offer you a signing bonus in the gross amount of $400,000. This bonus will be paid in one lump sum payment on the next
regularly scheduled pay date after you start employment with the Company. This signing bonus is taxable, and all regular payroll taxes and deductions will be withheld. In the
event that you voluntarily leave the Company within twelve (12) months of your date of hire, you will be responsible for reimbursing the Company for the entire signing bonus.
By your signature on this offer letter, you authorize the Company to withhold the signing bonus from any amounts due to you from the Company as permitted under applicable
law should you voluntarily end your employment with the Company on or before twelve (12) months from your date of hire.

Relocation Bonus. We are pleased to offer you a relocation bonus of $20,000. This bonus will be paid on the next regularly scheduled pay date after you start your employment
with the Company. The relocation bonus is taxable and all regular payroll taxes will be withheld. In the event that you voluntarily leave the Company on or before twelve (12)
months after your date of hire, you will be responsible for reimbursing the Company for the entire gross amount of the relocation bonus. You hereby agree that any relocation
bonus repayment due to the Company may be deducted to the extent permitted by law from any amounts due to you from the Company.

Restricted Stock. You will receive a DMC Global Inc. restricted stock award grant upon your start date equal to the aggregate value of your unvested stock that is forfeited
upon your resignation from your current employer, as evidenced by appropriate documentation. The foregoing grant shall vest in full and become nonforfeitable on the second
anniversary of the grant date.

Further, beginning in FY 2023 you will be eligible for annual long term incentive grants at a target of 1x your annual base salary, which for 2023 shall consist of the following:
(x) one-half of such target grant shall be based on time-based
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restricted stock awards in DMC Global Inc.’s annual incentive plan and such awards vest over a three (3) year period based on your continued employment; and (y) one-half of
such target grant consists of performance-based PSUs based on relative TSR performance of DMC Global Inc. (75%) and Adjusted EBITDA of DMC Global Inc. (25%). PSUs
vests at the end of the (3) year period based on metrics set at the time of grant and your continued employment. The foregoing formulation for PSU’s is subject to change based
on the metrics set by the Compensation Committee of DMC Global Inc.

Change in Control: If your employment with the Company is terminated as a result of a change in control (see Attachment 1 for definition of a “Change in Control Event”)
from the Company, you will receive a one-time severance payment equal to twelve (12) months of your then-current base salary. If your employment is terminated without
cause for other than a Change in Control Event, you will receive a one-time severance payment equal to six (6) months of your then-current base salary.

Car Allowance. You will receive a monthly car allowance in the gross amount of $1,500 per month subject to applicable deductions and withholdings.

Benefits. You will be eligible for healthcare benefits on the first of the month following thirty (30) consecutive days of employment with the Company. You will be eligible for
vacation accrual, which begins with the first day of employment. Should you accept this offer, you will be eligible for four (4) weeks or twenty (20) days of time off.

Upon hire, you will be automatically enrolled in the Company’s 401(k) Plan in accordance with its terms. The Company matches your contributions made through payroll
starting at 100% of each dollar you contribute up to 3% of your eligible pay and then 50% of each dollar you contribute up to 2% of your eligible pay for a total match of up to
4% of your eligible pay. As a convenience, you will be automatically enrolled in the 401(k) Plan with a before-tax contribution of 5% of your eligible annual base pay with
contributions usually starting sixty (60) days after your employment begins. If you do not wish to be automatically enrolled in the Company’s 401(k) Plan or if you wish to
contribute a different percentage of eligible pay, you may opt-out or change your contribution election at any time.

Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement. As an employee of the Company, you may create or have access to information, trade secrets and inventions relating to
the business or interest of the Company or other parties with whom the Company has had relationships which is valuable to the Company or such other parties and which may
lose value if disclosed. In order to protect such information, the Company will require that you execute its standard proprietary information, inventions, and non-solicitation
agreement, a copy of which is provided herewith, as a condition of your employment.

Pre-Employment Conditions.
This offer of employment is contingent upon you satisfying the following conditions:

• Executing the Company’s standard proprietary information, inventions, and non-solicitation agreement, a copy of which is provided herewith, as a condition
of your employment.

• On your first day of employment, and possibly from time to time thereafter, you must show proof of identity and a legal right to work in the United States, as
required by federal immigration law. If you are unable to provide documentation of your authorization to work in the United States, the Company may
terminate your employment.

• You must complete an application and receive a satisfactory background check.

• The Company believes that every employee should use good judgment and exercise uncompromising integrity when conducting Company business. By
accepting this offer, you acknowledge and understand you must abide by the Company’s policies and procedures, including but not limited to those set forth
in the handbook, the Code of Ethics, and certain other policies.

• If any of the above conditions are not satisfied, the Company may withdraw this offer of employment.

At-Will Employment. As an at-will employer, the Company cannot guarantee your employment for any specific duration. You are free to quit and the Company is entitled to
terminate your employment at any time, with or without cause or prior warning.

Governing Law and Choice of Forum. Your employment will be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State of California without regard to its conflict of law
principles. The parties hereby agree that all demands, claims, actions, causes of action, suits, proceedings and litigation between or among the parties or arising out of the
employment relationship shall be filed, tried and litigated exclusively in a state or federal court located in California. In connection with
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the foregoing, the parties hereto irrevocably consent to the jurisdiction and venue of such courts and expressly waive any claims or defenses for lack of jurisdiction, non-
convenience, or proper venue by such courts.

Counterparts. This letter may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, and all of which together
shall constitute one and the same.

Entire Agreement. By signing this letter, you agree that the terms in this letter (and the terms set forth in the standard proprietary information, inventions and non-solicitation
agreement) constitute the entire agreement between the parties and supersede all other agreements or understandings.

Jamie, we are excited to offer you this opportunity to join the Company and we look forward to your contributions to the organization. To confirm that you agree to the terms
stated in this letter, please sign and date an enclosed copy of the letter and return a scanned copy of the letter to me at [email address].

Sincerely,

/s/ Kevin T. Longe
Name: Kevin T. Longe
Title: CEO and President of DMC Global Inc.,
the parent company of Arcadia Products, LLC

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:
I accept this offer letter on the terms enclosed.

By: /s/ Jamie Chilcoff     Date: 11/20/2022
Name: Jamie Chilcoff
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Attachment 1

“Change in Control Event” means the occurrence of any of the following:

A. The acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”) ) (a “Person”) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 25% of either (1) the then outstanding shares of
common stock of the Company (the “Outstanding Company Common Stock”) or (2) the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting Securities”); provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (A), the following
acquisitions shall not constitute a Change in Control: (1) any acquisition directly from the Company, (2) any acquisition by the Company, including any acquisition which, by
reducing the number of shares outstanding, is the sole cause for increasing the percentage of shares beneficially owned by any such Person to more than the applicable
percentage set forth above, or (3) any acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any corporation controlled by the
Company; provided however the foregoing shall not include any issuance made in connection with the potential acquisition of the minority interest in Arcadia Products, LLC

B. Individuals who, as of the date hereof, constitute the board of directors of the Company (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason within any period of 24 months to
constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whose election, or nomination for election
by the Company’s stockholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board, shall be considered as though such
individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or
threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other
than the board of directors of the Company.

C. Consummation by the Company of a reorganization, merger or consolidation or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or the
acquisition of assets of another corporation (a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, (1) more than 50% of, respectively, the
then outstanding shares of common stock and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the
case may be, of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination (including without limitation, a corporation which as a result of such transaction owns the Company
or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) is represented by Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding
Company Voting Securities, respectively, that were outstanding immediately prior to such Business Combination (or, if applicable, is represented by shares into which such
Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities were converted pursuant to such Business Combination) and such ownership of common
stock and voting power among the holders thereof is in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination of the
Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be, (2) no Person (excluding any employee benefit plan (or related trust)
of the Company or such corporation resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of, respectively, the then outstanding
shares of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the
extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business Combination and (3) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the corporation resulting from such
Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business
Combination.

D. Approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.
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AMENDMENT #2 DMC GLOBAL INC. AMENDED AND RESTATED NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

This Amendment #2 (the “ Amendment”) to the DMC Global Inc. Amended and Restated Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan (the
“Plan”) is effective as of August 14, 2023 (the “Effective Date”). All capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the definitions
provided in the Plan.

RECITALS
WHEREAS, Section 14 of the Plan authorizes the Committee to amend the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Committee has determined that an amendment to the Plan is desirable to require that “Restricted Stock Awards” deferred into
the Plan after the Effective Date must be deemed invested solely in Company common stock and cannot be deemed invested in any other Investment
Option under the Plan.

AMENDMENT
NOW THEREFORE, the Committee hereby amends the Plan as follows:

Effective as of the Effective Date, Section 7.2(a) of the Plan is hereby deleted in its entirety and is replaced with the following:

“ (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the amount credited to an Account with respect to the deferral of Restricted Stock Awards shall be
deemed to be invested in the common stock of the Company until such time as the Participant, to the extent permitted by this paragraph and in
accordance with procedures established by the Committee, elects to change such deemed investment. The earnings and losses with respect to such
deemed investments in common stock of the Company shall be the earnings or losses attributable to the Company’s common stock. In no event will a
Participant be permitted to change the deemed investment of (i) Restricted Stock Awards deferred prior to January 1, 2024, until such Restricted Stock
Awards are vested, or (ii) Restricted Stock Awards deferred on or after January 1, 2024.”

The Plan shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect except as otherwise set forth in this Amendment .

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK; SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS.]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned executes this Amendment #2 to the Plan, to be effective as set forth herein.

 DMC Global Inc.
 /s/ Michelle Shepston
 Title: EVP and Chief Legal Officer
 Date: August 17, 2023



DMC GLOBAL INC. NONQUALIFIED
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

2023 AMENDMENT NUMBER 3

WHEREAS, DMC Global Inc. (hereinafter “Employer”) adopted and implemented the DMC Global Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Plan (hereinafter “Plan”) for a select group of management or highly compensated employees effective January 1, 2015, amended & restated as of
August 30, 2017; and;

WHEREAS, the Employer now wishes to amend the Plan to update some of the sections within the Plan document;

WHEREAS, Article 14, Amendment and Termination, of the Plan document provides the Employer with the authority to amend and modify
the Plan document subject to certain non-applicable restrictions;

NOW THEREFORE, the Employer does hereby amend the Plan document as follows:

The following Plan document amendments are to be effective upon the execution date of this 2023 Amendment, as provided for hereinbelow:

Section 9, Payment of Participant Accounts, Section 9.1, In General, is revised to add the below sentence to the end of the section to update the
distribution of Distribution Date accounts upon separation of service and shall be as follows:

“If a Participant has any Distribution Date sub-accounts at the time of his or her Separation from Service, said sub-accounts shall be
distributed in a lump sum as soon as administratively feasible but no later than the first payroll date of the seventh (7 ) month following such Separation
from Service.”

Section 9, Payment of Participant Accounts, Section 9.9, Minimum Distribution, is added to the plan and shall be as follows:

“Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, if the vested balance of a Participant’s Account or sub-account at the time of a distribution
event is $50,000 or less, then the Participant shall be paid his or her Account or sub-account as a single lump sum.”

All other provisions of the Plan document shall remain in full force and effect as presently written.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has executed this 2023 Amendment on this the 30th day of October, 2023, to be immediately effective upon
such execution.

 DMC Global Inc.
 By: /s/ Michelle Shepston
 Title: EVP and Chief Legal Officer
 of DMC Global Inc.
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Execution Version

SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made between (i) James Schladen (“Consultant”) and (ii) Arcadia Products, LLC (the “Company”). Consultant and the
Company are referred to collectively as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party.” This Agreement shall become effective on the date that both Parties have signed this
Agreement (the “Effective Date”).

WHEREAS, the Company desires to retain the services of Consultant as an independent contractor, and Consultant desires to perform certain consulting and related
services for the Company as an independent contractor;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Company and Consultant agree as follows:

1. Description of Services. Consultant agrees to provide services as may be requested by the Company from time to time (the “Services”). The Parties agree that
the Services will not require in excess of an average of 48 hours per month.

2. Independent Contractor Status. Consultant and the Company understand and intend that Consultant shall perform the Services under this Agreement as an
independent contractor and not as an employee of the Company. The manner of and means by which Consultant executes and performs Consultant’s obligations hereunder are
to be determined by Consultant in Consultant’s reasonable discretion. Consultant is not authorized to assume or create any obligation or responsibility, express or implied, on
behalf of, or in the name of, the Company or to bind the Company in any manner, unless, in each instance, Consultant shall receive the prior written approval from the Company
to so assume, obligate, or bind the Company. Consultant is not required to perform services exclusively for the Company.

3. Representations and Warranties. Consultant represents, warrants, and acknowledges as follows:

(a) The Company only retains the right to direct the results achieved by Consultant. The Company does not retain the right to control the manner and
means by which these results are to be accomplished, nor will the Company establish a quality standard for Consultant; provided, however, that Consultant shall perform the
Services using Consultant’s best efforts in a manner consistent with professional industry standards.

(b) Consultant shall determine how to perform Services under this Agreement.

(c) The Company will neither provide nor require more than minimal training for Consultant.

(d) Consultant’s Services shall not be integrated into the Company’s general business operations.

(e) Consultant will remain directly responsible for the Services performed and will ensure that the work meets the specifications set forth by the
Company.

(f) Consultant shall not be required to submit regular written reports, but the Company shall periodically review Consultant’s progress in achieving the
goals set forth by the Company.

(g) Consultant understands that Consultant must obtain and keep current, at Consultant’s own expense, all permits, certificates, and licenses necessary
for Consultant to perform the Services, if any.

(h) Consultant has full power, authority, and capacity to enter into this Agreement and to perform Consultant’s obligations hereunder. This Agreement
has been voluntarily executed by Consultant and constitutes a valid and binding agreement of Consultant.



(i) The Company will not dictate the time of performance; however, Consultant and the Company may agree upon a completion schedule and a range of
mutually agreeable work hours.

(j) Consultant has read this Agreement and has had the opportunity to have this Agreement reviewed by Consultant’s legal counsel.

4. Term and Termination. This Agreement shall have a term of one year starting on March 15, 2023 (the “Term”), subject to earlier termination as set forth
herein. The Term may be extended by mutual agreement of the Parties. Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon fifteen (15) days prior written notice. Upon such
termination, or upon the expiration of the Term, the Company shall have no further liability for future Services hereunder, and Consultant is not authorized to perform any other
Services under this Agreement.

5. Compensation.

(a) Fees. In consideration of Consultant providing the Services and performing the obligations hereunder, the Company shall pay Consultant at a rate of
$75,000 per calendar quarter, pro-rated for partial quarters, with the first payment to be paid on or around June 30, 2023. In the event the Company terminates this Agreement
before the end of the Term, the Company will pay Consultant a pro-rated fee up to the date of termination. No Services shall be performed and no payment will be made after
the date of termination.

(b) Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the Consultant for reasonable business and travel expenses incurred by the Consultant during the provision
of Services hereunder, provided that Consultant has received the Company’s prior written consent before incurring such expenses. The Consultant shall be required to present
receipts to the Company substantiating such expenses.

(c) Taxes. No income tax or payroll tax of any kind shall be withheld or paid by the Company on behalf of Consultant for any payment under this
Agreement, except as may be required by law for payments to independent Consultants. Consultant shall be responsible for all taxes and similar payments arising out of
any activities contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation, federal, state, and local income tax, social security tax (FICA), self-employment taxes,
unemployment insurance taxes, and all other taxes, fees, and withholdings.

(d) Benefits. Consultant is not an employee of the Company and, therefore, shall not be entitled to any benefits, coverages, or privileges, including,
without limitation, social security, unemployment compensation insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, medical benefits, or pension payments.

6. Indemnification. Except insofar as they relate to the Company’s obligations under this Agreement, Consultant, for Consultant and Consultant’s successors,
heirs, beneficiaries, affiliates, subrogees, principals, agents, partners, employees, associates, attorneys, representatives, and assigns, hereby waives, releases, indemnifies and
agrees to save, defend, and hold harmless the Company and its respective affiliates, predecessors, successors, subrogees, assigns, parents, subsidiaries, heirs, insurers, and each
of their respective officers, directors, trustees, shareholders, agents, attorneys, and employees, former employees, and any other related individual or entity, from any and all
past, present, or future claims, actions, causes of action, demands, controversies relating to, resulting from, or arising out of (a) any taxes, insurance costs, damages, or other
costs arising from or relating to claims that Consultant (or any of Consultant’s representatives) is an employee of the Company; or (b) the failure by Consultant to obtain
insurance coverage as set forth herein. Subject to this Section 6, Consultant shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company to the maximum extent permitted under
applicable law from and against any and all liabilities, costs, claims, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees), including all costs and expenses in the investigation and defense of
any action, suit, or other proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, arising from or related to Consultant’s good faith performance of the Services
under this Agreement, both during and, while potential liability exists, after the termination of this Agreement, provided, however, that there shall be no indemnification for
liabilities, costs and expenses arising out of Consultant’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. These obligations will survive the termination of Consultant’s service
relationship with the Company.
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7. Insurance Coverages. Consultant solely shall be responsible for all of Consultant’s own insurance, and the insurance of anyone working on behalf of
Consultant, and shall at all times maintain such types and amounts of insurance coverage (including automobile/liability insurance) as may be required by applicable law.

(a) Workers’ Compensation and Unemployment Compensation Insurance. No workers’ compensation insurance or unemployment compensation
insurance will be obtained by the Company on behalf of Consultant. Consultant solely shall be responsible for obtaining unemployment compensation insurance and
workers’ compensation insurance for Consultant, and Consultant solely shall be responsible for complying with all applicable workers’ compensation and
unemployment compensation laws.

(b) Proof of Insurance and Notice. Consultant shall furnish proof of any form of insurance to the Company upon request. Consultant will provide the
Company with 30 days of advance written notice of the cancellation of, or a material change to, any insurance required by this Section.

8. Notices. All notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed effective upon personal delivery, email, or upon
deposit in the United States Post Office, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the other Party at the following addresses:

The Company: Consultant:
Arcadia Products, LLC
Attn: Jamie Chilcoff
2301 E. Vernon Ave.
Vernon, CA 90058
[Email address]

James Schladen
[Personal address]
[Personal email address]

With a copy to:
Michelle Shepston
11800 Ridge Parkway, Suite 300
Broomfield, CO 80021
[Email address]

9. Confidentiality. Consultant agrees to comply with all confidentiality restrictions set forth in that certain December 23, 2021 Executive Employment
Agreement to which James Schladen, Consultant’s principal, the Company, and DMC Global, Inc. are parties (the “Employment Agreement”) and the Confidential Severance
and Release Agreement signed by Mr. Schladen on March 15, 2023 (the “Separation Agreement”). During the term of this Agreement and thereafter, as applicable, all surviving
obligations of Mr. Schladen set forth in the Employment Agreement and the Separation Agreement shall apply to Consultant to the same extent as Mr. Schladen. Nothing in this
Agreement shall be deemed to modify, waive, or supersede any of Mr. Schladen’s surviving obligations under the Employment Agreement and the Separation Agreement.

10. Return of Company Property and Confidential Information. Consultant agrees that, upon the termination of this Agreement, and without any request by the
Company, Consultant will comply with any requirements under the Employment Agreement or the Separation Agreement or otherwise to return to Company any and all
Company property, including any documents and files (including all recorded media, such as papers, computer disks, drives and other data storage devices, electronic files,
electronic data, copies, photographs, and maps) that contain the Company’s Confidential Information, as defined under the Employment Agreement, and, after returning such
information, to delete any electronic data relating to the Company’s Confidential Information.

11. Work Product. To the extent Consultant creates intellectual property, deliverables or other work product from or in connection with the Services (“Work
Product”), such Work Product shall be the sole and exclusive property of the Company, free from any claim or retention of rights thereto on the part of Consultant or its agents.
Irrespective of whether Work Product qualifies as a “work made for hire” within the meaning of the U.S. Copyright Act, Consultant, on behalf of itself and its agents, hereby
assigns to Company all rights, title, and interest in and to all Work Product and all intellectual property rights contained or embodied therein. Consultant further agrees to give
the Company and its designees, and any other person designated by the Company, all assistance
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reasonably necessary to perfect its rights under this paragraph, and Consultant agrees not to use, sell, license, transfer, assign, or plagiarize any Work Product. Consultant agrees
to reasonably cooperate with Company to execute any further documents to memorialize the foregoing. Consultant agrees it will not include in any Work Product any of
Consultant’s or third parties’ intellectual property, and if Consultant does so and the Parties have not entered into a separate written license agreement governing the same, title
to such intellectual property is assigned to the Company with the Work Product. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this agreement shall be deemed to require
assignment of any Work Product that Consultant developed outside of the scope of the Services without using the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities, trade secrets, or
confidential information, except for any Work Product that either (i) relates to the Company’s actual or anticipated business, research or development, or (ii) results from or are
connected with work performed by Consultant for the Company.

12. Section 409A. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, all provisions of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted to comply with Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, (“Code”) Section 409A or to be exempt from Code Section 409A to the extent an exemption is applicable. Each payment of compensation
under this Agreement shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments of compensation and, accordingly, each such installment payment shall at all times be
considered a separate and distinct payment as permitted under Code Section 409A. Where this Agreement specifies a period for payment, the time of payment shall be
determined within such period in the sole discretion of the Company and consistent with the applicable provisions hereof.

13. Assignment; Subcontracting. Consultant may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder, or delegate or subcontract any of its obligations
hereunder, without the prior written consent of the Company. The Company may transfer or assign this Agreement and its rights hereunder without the consent of Consultant.

14. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Separation Agreement, and the surviving obligations of the Employment Agreement contain the entire agreement
between the Parties with respect to the matters contemplated herein. Except the Separation Agreement and the Employment Agreement, which survive in accordance with their
terms, and except as otherwise set forth herein, this Agreement supersedes and replaces any previous agreements, statements, and representations by or between the Parties
concerning the subject matter of this Agreement. No promises or representations have been made by the Company or Consultant other than those contained in this Agreement
concerning the subject matter contained herein.

15. Waiver and Modification. No waiver or modification of this Agreement or any covenant, condition, or limitation herein contained, shall be valid unless in
writing and duly executed by Consultant and the Company. No delay or omission by the Company in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of that
or any other right. A waiver or consent given by the Company on any one occasion shall be effective only in that instance and shall not be construed as a bar or waiver of any
right on any other occasion.

16. Venue and Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to its
conflicts of law provisions. Venue and jurisdiction will be in the California state or federal courts.

17. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, such holding shall not affect any other provision hereof. In the event
any provision is held illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, such provision shall be limited so as to give effect to the intent of the Parties to the fullest extent permitted by applicable
law.

18. Survivorship. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their executors, administrators, heirs, personal
representatives, successors, and assigns.

19. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute
one and the same instrument. Facsimile and electronic signatures shall be treated as originals.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Services Agreement on the dates below.

CONSULTANT

/s/ James Schladen 3/15/2023
By: James Schladen Date

THE COMPANY

/s/ James Chilcoff 3/16/2023
Arcadia Products, LLC Date
By: James Chilcoff
Title: President
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Exhibit 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-238211, Form S-3 ASR 333-255719, Form S-3 No. 333-270618)
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-211328, Form S-8 No. 333-188796) pertaining to the Company’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan,
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182979 and Form S-8 No. 333-218177) pertaining to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-214460) pertaining to the Company’s 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan;

Of our reports dated February 23, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of DMC Global Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting of DMC Global Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of DMC Global Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023.
 

 

 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
February 23, 2024



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, Michael Kuta, certify that:
 

1.               I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of DMC Global Inc.;
 
2.               Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.               Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

a)              Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

 
b)             Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
c)              Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d)             Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

 
5.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)              All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)             Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 

Dated:  February 23, 2024  
/s/ Michael Kuta
Michael Kuta
President and Chief Executive Officer
of DMC Global Inc.



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, Eric V. Walter, certify that:
 

1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of DMC Global Inc.;
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

a.               Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

 
b.              Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
c.               Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d.              Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

 
5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a.               All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b.              Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 

Dated:  February 23, 2024

 

/s/ Eric V. Walter
Eric V. Walter

Chief Financial Officer of DMC Global Inc.



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of DMC Global Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael Kuta, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to  Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(i)                  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(ii)               The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

February 23, 2024
 
 

/s/ Michael Kuta
Michael Kuta
President and Chief Executive Officer
of DMC Global Inc.

 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to DMC Global Inc. and will be retained by DMC Global Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of DMC Global Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Eric V. Walter, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(i)                  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(ii)               The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

February 23, 2024
 
 

/s/ Eric V. Walter
Eric V. Walter

Chief Financial Officer of DMC Global Inc.

 
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to DMC Global Inc. and will be retained by DMC Global Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



DMC GLOBAL INC. CLAWBACK POLICY

Introduction

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of DMC Global Inc. (the “Company”) believes that it is in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders to create and maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company's pay-for-
performance compensation philosophy. In accordance with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”),
Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder (“Rule 10D-1”), and applicable listing rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market (the “Nasdaq Listing Rules”),
the Board has amended the Company’s Clawback Policy (the “Policy”), in order to provide for the recovery of certain executive compensation
in the event of an Accounting Restatement (as defined below).

Administration

This Policy shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board. Any determinations made by the Compensation
Committee shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

Covered Executives

This policy applies to the Company’s current and former executive officers (“Covered Executives”), as determined by the
Committee in accordance with the definition of executive officer set forth in Rule 10D-1 and the Nasdaq Listing Rules. All Covered Executives
serving as a current executive officer while this Policy is in effect shall consent to be subject to this Policy, as amended, by signing the
Clawback Policy Acknowledgement attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Definitions

A. Accounting Restatement means an accounting restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the Company’s material
noncompliance with any financial reporting requirements under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to
correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result
in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

A. Erroneously Awarded Compensation is the amount of the Incentive-Based Compensation received by the Covered Executive that
exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would have been received by the Covered Executive had it been determined
based on the restated amounts, computed without regard to taxes paid.

A. Financial Reporting Measures means any measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used
in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Financial
Reporting Measures include, but are not limited to, the following:



a. Company stock price;
b. Total shareholder return;
c. Revenues;
d. Net income;
e. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization;
f. SG&A/SG&A percentage;
g. Funds from operations;
h. Liquidity measures such as working capital or operating cash flow;
i. Return measures such as return on invested capital or return on assets; and/or
j. Earnings measures such as earnings per share.

A. Incentive-Based Compensation means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part on the attainment of a
Financial Reporting Measure. Incentive- Based Compensation is “received” for purposes of this Policy in the Company’s fiscal period
during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or
grant of such Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period. Incentive-Based Compensation includes, but is not
limited to, the following:

a. Annual bonuses and other short- and long-term cash incentives;
b. Stock options;
c. Stock appreciation rights;
d. Restricted stock;
e. Restricted stock units;
f. Performance stock units;
g. Performance shares; and/or
h. Any other equity incentive award granted by the Company.

Determination and Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation

In the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Compensation Committee shall determine the
amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation received by the Covered Executives during the period to which the Accounting
Restatement applies (up to a maximum of the three most recently completed fiscal years prior to the date on which the Company is required to
prepare an Accounting Restatement). The Company shall, except as otherwise set forth in this Policy, reasonably promptly recover any
Erroneously Awarded Compensation received by any Covered Executive as determined by the Compensation Committee.

The “date on which the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement” is the earlier to occur of (a) the date on
which the Board, a committee of the Board, or management, if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded,
that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (b) the date a court, regulator or other legally



authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement, in each case, regardless of if or when the restated financials
are filed.

If the Compensation Committee cannot determine the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation received by the Covered
Executive directly from information in the Accounting Restatement, then it will make its determination based on a reasonable estimate of the
effect of the Accounting Restatement. For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an Accounting Restatement:
(a) the amount shall be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the accounting restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return
upon which the Incentive Compensation was received and

(b) the Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to
Nasdaq.

The Company shall recover any Erroneously Awarded Compensation in accordance with this Policy unless such recovery would be
impracticable, as determined by the Compensation Committee in accordance with Rule 10D-1 and the Nasdaq Listing Rules.

Method of Recovery

The Compensation Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion, the timing and method for promptly recovering the
Erroneously Awarded Compensation, which may include, without limitation:

a. Requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid;
b. Seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards;
c. Offsetting the recouped amount from any compensation otherwise owed by the Company to the Covered Executive;
d. Cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; and/or
e. Taking any other remedial and recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Compensation Committee.

Interpretation

The Compensation Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary,
appropriate or advisable for the administration of this Policy and for the Company’s compliance with Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Rule
10D-1, the Nasdaq Listing Rules and any other applicable law, regulation, rule or interpretation of the Securities and Exchange Commission or
Nasdaq promulgated or issued in connection therewith.

No Indemnification

The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is
recovered pursuant to this Policy or any claims relating to the Company’s enforcement of its rights under this Policy. Further, the Company
shall



not enter into any agreement that exempts any Incentive-Based Compensation that is granted, paid or awarded to a Covered Executive from
the application of this Policy or that waves the Company’s right to recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and this Policy shall
supersede any such agreement (whether entered into before, on or after the Effective Date of this Policy).

Effective Date

This Policy shall be effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”) and shall only apply to Incentive-Based Compensation
that is received by Covered Executives on or after the Effective Date.

Amendment; Termination

The Board, upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, may amend this Policy from time to time or terminate this
Policy as it deems necessary; provided however, that no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective if such amendment or
termination would cause the Company to violate Rule 10D-1, the Nasdaq Listing Rules or any other applicable law, regulation or rule of the
Securities and Exchange Commission or Nasdaq.

Other Recoupment Rights

The Board intends that this Policy shall be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Compensation Committee may require that
any employment agreement, equity award agreement or similar agreement entered into on or after the Effective Date shall, as a condition to the
grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered Executive to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right of recovery under this
Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recovery that may be available to the Company under applicable law,
regulation or rule or pursuant to the terms of any policy of the Company or any provision in any employment agreement, equity award
agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the Company.

Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators
or other legal representatives.

Adopted: August 25, 2015; Amended August 28, 2019; Amended August 22, 2023



EXHIBIT A

CLAWBACK POLICY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This Clawback Policy Acknowledgement (this “Acknowledgement”) is executed as of this day of
, 20 , by the undersigned (the “Covered Executive”), an executive officer of DMC Global Inc. (the “Company”). Any capitalized terms not

defined in this Acknowledgement shall have the definitions provided for such terms in the DMC Global Inc. Clawback Policy, as may be
amended from time to time (the “Clawback Policy”).

The Covered Executive hereby acknowledges receipt of the Clawback Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference. The Covered Executive has read and understands the Clawback Policy and has had the opportunity to ask questions of the Company
regarding the Clawback Policy. The Covered Executive agrees to abide by the terms of the Clawback Policy, both during after employment
with the Company, including, without limitation, by promptly repaying or returning any Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company
as determined in accordance with the Clawback Policy. Any amendments to the Clawback Policy after the date hereof will be applicable to the
Covered Executive. If the terms of this Acknowledgement and the Clawback Policy conflict, the terms of the Clawback Policy shall prevail.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Covered Executive has executed this Acknowledgement effective as of the day and year first above
written.

Signature:

Printed Name:


